### Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

6-24-2015 12:00 AM

## Three Essays on Sustainable Operations Management

Sara Hajmohammad, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Dr. Stephan Vachon, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Business © Sara Hajmohammad 2015

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Part of the Business Administration, Management, and Operations Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Hajmohammad, Sara, "Three Essays on Sustainable Operations Management" (2015). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 2908. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/2908

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

### THREE ESSAYS

### ON

### SUSTAINABLE OPERATIONS MANAGEMENT

(Thesis format: Integrated-Article)

by

### Sara Hajmohammad

Graduate Program in Business Administration

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

The School of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Ivey Business School The University of Western Ontario London, Ontario, Canada

© Sara Hajmohammad 2015

### ABSTRACT

This dissertation consists of three essays on sustainable operations management. The unifying theme in this work is the focus on sustainability-related risks originating from an organization's internal operations or its supply chain, operational-level initiatives for managing such risks, and the determinants and subsequent outcomes of those initiatives.

The first essay focuses on safety and environmental risks and looks into the role of a safety-oriented culture in effectively managing them. Building on the safety culture literature and organizational support theory, a conceptual model is developed suggesting that a safety-oriented culture enhances an organization's financial performance and sets the stage for successful implementation of environmental and safety practices, which in turn, result in improved environmental and safety performance. The hypothesized relationships are empirically examined and validated using the data collected through a survey of 251 Canadian plants.

The second essay is a conceptual paper focusing on supplier sustainability risks which materialize when buying organizations face their stakeholders' negative reactions to their suppliers' misconducts related to natural environment or society. The purpose of this paper is to explain the underlying factors of buying organizations' operational-level responses to such risks. Drawing on agency/management control and resource dependence theories, a contingent conceptual framework is developed that explains how three major factors — i.e., supply managers' perceived risk, dependence structure of buyer-supplier relationship, and the slack resources available to supply managers — interact to affect supply managers' choice among four risk management strategies: monitoring-based or collaboration-based sustainable supplier development (risk mitigation), supplier phase-out (risk avoidance), and taking no actions (risk acceptance). This framework also suggests that these contingent risk management strategies improve buying organizations' financial performance directly or indirectly through enhancing their organizational reputation.

Finally, the third essay presents a vignette-based experiment conducted with a

sample of 200 U.S.-based supply managers to empirically test and validate a set of propositions put forth in the second essay. Specifically, this study investigates and confirms the effect of three factors, i.e., supply manager's perceived risk, supplier dependence on the buying organization, and slack resources available to supply managers, and their interactions on supply managers' choice among the four risk management strategies.

**Keywords:** Sustainable operations management; Sustainability-related risks; Safety management; Environmental management; Safety culture; Organizational support theory; Buyer dependence; Supplier dependence; Agency theory; Management control theory; Resource dependence theory; Perceived risk; Slack resources; Financial performance; Environmental performance; Safety performance; Survey; Vignette-based experiment.

### **CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT**

I hereby declare that this dissertation incorporates some material that is a result of joint research. Essay 1 was coauthored with Professor Stephan Vachon and published in the Journal of Business Ethics: "HAJMOHAMMAD, S. & VACHON, S. 2014. Safety culture: A catalyst for sustainable development. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 123, 263-281". This paper was developed from my term paper submitted for the Research Method course. As the first author, I took the lead on this paper, including: formulating research questions, conducting the literature review, selecting the theoretical lens, and composing the current text after performing hypothesis development, data analysis, and interpretation of the results. Professor Vachon provided me with the survey data used in this paper and gave me constructive feedback throughout the paper development and publication process. I certify that I have obtained permission from the copyright owners to include this published paper in my dissertation. Please refer to Appendix C for the copyright releases.

In addition, Professor Vachon contributed as an adviser throughout the research process for essays 2 and 3, and also by editing and refining the complete drafts.

With the above exceptions, I certify that this dissertation and the research to which it refers, is fully a product of my own work.

## DEDICATION

To my loving parents for giving me the strength and encouragement to follow my dreams!

To my best friend and life companion, Safa, for persistently supporting me, every step of the way, to make those dreams come true!

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I have been incredibly fortunate to have the opportunity to participate in Ivey's PhD program. This long and challenging journey would not have been possible without the help and support of many people, some of whom I would like to acknowledge by name.

First and foremost, I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Stephan Vachon, for coaching, challenging, and encouraging me throughout my doctorate studies. He has inspired me to become an independent researcher and his advice has been essential to the development and completion of this dissertation. Stephan: thank you for believing in my abilities, for always being available and willing to meet with me even on very short notice, for giving me many opportunities to learn and grow, and for unwaveringly supporting me over the past six years. You are not only a remarkable mentor, but also a great friend.

Over the course of this thesis project, I grew increasingly indebted to my supervisory committee members, Dr. Rob Klassen and Dr. Dina Ribbink, without whom my learning curve would have been much steeper. Rob: your mentorship and generous professional and financial supports made it possible for me to develop and conduct a theoretically-sound and empirically-valid research work. Dina: you have been a fantastic contributor and an invaluable source of support and encouragement. Thank you both!

I am also grateful to Dina, Dr. Hubert Pun, Dr. Markus Biehl, and Dr. Sara Seck for agreeing to be members of my examination board, taking the time to scrutinize my work and provide constructive commentary to improve it. There are also other faculty members, both within and beyond the walls of Ivey, who made this dissertation possible by welcoming me to their MBA classes for data collection: Dr. David Sparling, David Wood, Dr. Mahesh Sharma, and Dr. Rajshree Prakash. Thank you all! I would also like to acknowledge all the managers and MBA students who took the time out of their busy schedules to contribute to this thesis: I want you to know that I sincerely appreciate your participation.

I would also like to thank all other faculty members who helped me develop my

academic capabilities over the past six years, particularly Dr. Matt Thompson, Dr. Chris Higgins, Dr. Mark Zbaracki, Dr. Yoon Hee Kim, Dr. Larry Menor, Dr. Debbie Compeau, Dr. June Cotte, Dr. Silvia Ponce, Dr. Dianne Bateman, Dr. Sandra Cha, and Dr. Rajesh Kumar Tyagi. My special thanks go out to the Ivey administration staff, including the PhD office, the Library, and the IT members for their constant assistance and support.

A lot of people say that the PhD journey is a lonely process. My experience proved otherwise, thanks to all my great fellow PhD colleagues and friends who made this journey joyful and extraordinary! I am particularly grateful to Majid and Fatemeh Eghbali-Zarch, Bahareh Tehrani, Rida Elias, Bassam Farah, Jeannette Eberhard, Nasser Shahrasbi, Mina Rohani, Ramzi Fathallah, Asad Shafiq, Vanessa Hasse, Maya Kumar, Fouad Hassanmirzaei, Lucas Wang, Alina Nastasoiu, Krista Pettit, David Barrett, Patrick Shulist, Maricela Arellano, Nikhil Varma, and Ali El-Arab. Thanks for opening your hearts and homes to me and for sharing your thoughts and experiences so I can have that "home away from home" feeling! I also want to thank my good old friends Leila, Narges, Farin, Firouzeh, Saideh, and Morvarid for all the love that they have showered upon me and for sticking with me through thick and thin. It still amazes me how strongly I feel your presence in my life and I wish for our deep friendships to endure.

I will always be grateful to two people who mean the world to me: my parents. Mom and Dad: thanks for showing faith in me and giving me the liberty to choose what I desired, for being endlessly patient, supportive, and caring all along. What I have accomplished by now is indeed the result of your conscientiousness and countless sacrifices, and a realization of your dreams. I cannot imagine a life without your love and blessings. Thank you! Special thanks to my sister, Sima, who has always been a source of moral support to me and has extended her helping hands without fail during the past few years. Sima: thanks for being kind, sympathetic, patient, and cheerful with me despite your own challenges being a foreign graduate student in Canada. I also owe my gratitude to other members of my family: my brother, Ali, my two other sisters, Hengameh and Fariba, and my niece and nephew, Viana and Navid, who have been very generous with their love and encouragement despite the long distance between us. I consider myself the luckiest person in the world to have such a loving and supportive family. This dissertation would not have been possible without my husband, Safa, and his multi-dimensional support. Understanding me best as a PhD himself, he has been my best friend and great companion; he has loved, encouraged, entertained, and helped me to get through this tough period in the most positive way. Safa: thank you for simultaneously brandishing a sword to fight the demons of my doubts, fears, and insecurities, and a magical wand to bring joy and happiness to my life in so many different ways. There is no way I would have been able to do this without you! I truly feel blessed in having the opportunity to share my life with you and I am excitedly looking forward to all the adventures that we have yet to enjoy together.

> Sara Hajmohammad June 2015

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABS	STRACT	Ι
CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT		III
DEI	DICATION	IV
AC	KNOWLEDGMENTS	V
LIS	T OF TABLES	XI
LIS	T OF FIGURES	XII
LIS	T OF APPENDICES	KIII
CH	APTER I. INTRODUCTION	1
1.	First Essay- "Safety Culture: A Catalyst for Sustainable Development"	3
2.	Second Essay- "Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk: Strategies, Predictors and	d
Out	comes"	4
3	Third Essay- "Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk. The Interacting Effect of	
Sup	nlier Dependence Perceived Risk and Slack Resources"	5
2 <b>"</b> P.		6
4.	Contributions	6
5.	References	7
СН	APTER II. SAFETY CULTURE: A CATALYST FOR SUSTAINABLE	
DE	VELOPMENT	11
1.	Introduction	11
2.	Literature Review	13
2.	1. Safety culture	13
2.	2. Safety practices	14
2.	3. Environmental practices	15
2.	4. Organization's performance	15
3.	Conceptual Model and Hypotheses Development	15
3.	1. Safety culture and financial performance	16
3.	2. Safety culture, environmental practices, and environmental performance	17
3.	3. Safety culture, safety practices, and safety performance	19
3.	4. Safety, environmental, and financial performance	22
4.	Methodology	24
4.	1. Data collection	24
4.	2. Survey questionnaire and measures	24
4.	3. Post-hoc tests of data appropriateness	26
5.	Data Analysis	28
5.	1. Uni-dimensionality of constructs	29

<ul><li>5.2. Estimation of measurement model</li><li>5.3. Estimation of structural model</li></ul>	30 33
6. Discussion	35
7. Conclusion	38
8 References	39
CHADTED III MANACINC CUDDI IED CUCTAINADII ITV DICIZ.	57
STRATEGIES, PREDICTORS, AND OUTCOMES	49
1. Introduction	49
<ol> <li>Supply Chain Risks and Sustainability</li> <li>2.1. Managing supplier sustainability risk</li> </ol>	52 53
<ul> <li>3. Conceptual Framework for Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk</li> <li>3.1. Theoretical lenses</li> <li>3.2. Risk management predictors</li> <li>3.3. Managing supplier sustainability risk: buyer dominance or interdependence</li> </ul>	56 57 60 situations
<ul> <li>3.4. Managing supplier sustainability risk: independence or supplier dominance</li> <li>3.5. Effect of slack resources</li> <li>3.6. Risk management outcomes</li> </ul>	61 situations 65 68 72
4. Discussion and Conclusion	74
5. References	77
CHAPTER IV. MANAGING SUPPLIER SUSTAINABILITY RISK: TH	IE
INTERACTING EFFECT OF SUPPLIER DEPENDENCE, PERCEIVED	RISK,
AND SLACK RESOURCES	88
1. Introduction	88
<ol> <li>Supplier Sustainability Risk Management</li> <li><i>2.1. Risk management strategies</i></li> </ol>	90 92
<ul> <li>3. Hypotheses Development</li> <li>3.1. Theoretical foundations</li> <li>3.2. Supplier dependence and risk management strategy</li> <li>3.3. Perceived risk and risk management strategy (high supplier dependence)</li> <li>3.4. Perceived risk and risk management strategy (low supplier dependence)</li> <li>3.5. Moderating effect of slack resources</li> </ul>	93 94 97 99 101 102
<ul> <li>4. Methodology</li> <li>4.1. Vignette development and experimental design</li> <li>4.2. Pre-test</li> </ul>	105 106 110
4.3. Sample and data collection	112

5.	Data Analysis	114
5	5.1. MANCOVA/ANCOVA	115
5	5.2. Logistic regression	119
6.	Discussion	123
7.	Managerial Implications and Limitations	126
8.	References	127
CHAPTER V. CONCLUSION		139
1.	Key Implications	139
2.	Limitations and Future Research	141
3.	References	144
APPENDICES		146

## LIST OF TABLES

Table II-1. Fit Indices for pair-wise and total measurement models (CFA)	29
Table II-2: Reliability and convergent validity	30
Table II-3: Discriminant validity	31
Table II-4: Correlation matrix	31
Table II-5: Items' loadings and cross loadings	32
Table II-6: PLS structural model results	34
Table IV-1. Vignettes and their combination of treatment factors' manipulations	108
Table IV-2. Dependent variable items' loadings and cross loadings and scale reliabil	
	111
Table IV-3. Experimental cells and assignment of participants	112
Table IV-4. Demographic data of experiment participants	113
Table IV-5. Independent variables' manipulation checks for both scenarios	115
Table IV-6. MANCOVA/ANCOVA results	117
Table IV-7. Binary logistic regression models for four outcome variables <sup>a</sup>	121
Table IV-8. Summary of M/ANCOVA and logistic regression results	123

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure I-1. Dissertation conceptual framework	2
Figure II-1. Conceptual model	16
Figure II-2. Operational model with path coefficients	33
Figure III-1. Conceptual framework	57
Figure III-2. Supply manager's choice among risk management strategies	67
Figure III-3. Supply manager's choice among risk management strategies (case of unavailable slack resources)	72
Figure IV-1. Conceptual model	94
Figure IV-2. Supply manager's choice among risk management strategies	102
Figure IV-3. Supply manager's choice among risk management strategies (low level slack resources)	of 105

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix II-A. Survey Items	47
Appendix IV-A. Description of the scenarios & the manipulation of treatment factors	136
Appendix B-IV. Dependent variable and manipulation check scales (Scenario 1)	137
Appendix A. Letter of Information and Questionnaire (Essay 3)	147
Appendix B. Ethics Approvals (Essay 3)	157
Appendix C. Copyright Releases (Essay 1)	159
Appendix D. Culliculum Vitae	167

# **Chapter I**

### Chapter I. Introduction

During the past three decades, sustainable development - "a development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (Brundtland, 1987) - has become an important strategic objective for organizations and a prominent topic in the management literature. Based on this concept, companies should operate in a way that secures their long-term economic performance by avoiding short-term behaviors which are socially detrimental or environmentally wasteful (Porter and Kramer, 2006). The organizations caught up in social or environmental scandals increasingly face stakeholders' adverse reactions and reputational damage followed by substantial market share/revenue losses and recalls/litigation costs (Fombrun et al., 2000). Hence, their growing interest in sustainability can be attributed to the increasing internal and external pressures to conform to stakeholders' expectations to avoid the risk of losing sales or damaging their reputation and jeopardizing their survival (Sarkis et al., 2010, Ehrenfeld, 2005, Seuring and Müller, 2008). In addition, organizations have realized that they can enjoy cost savings and gain long-term competitive advantage by being concerned about the future of people and planet and through the creation of unique sustainability-oriented processes (Hart, 1995).

Among organizations' business processes, operations process is usually the area which employs the most personnel and has the highest footprint and impact on the natural environment. Therefore, proper management of social and environmental aspects of organizations' operations can be a critical success factor in their journey toward sustainable development (Kleindorfer et al., 2005). Sustainable operations management (OM) extends the efficiency-oriented boundaries of traditional OM to broader considerations of sustainable development. It is defined as the set of capabilities that allows an organization to design and manage its operational processes and products to perform well on all three dimensions of sustainable development, i.e., economic, environmental, and social performance (Gimenez et al., 2012). It encompasses the management of human resources and workplace health and safety as well as the management of organizations' impacts on local communities and natural environment (Kleindorfer et al., 2005).

With the growing number of organizations taking the outsourcing and globalization path, one of the challenging aspects of sustainable operations is that the boundary of organizations' responsibilities often extends beyond their direct control and includes their extended supply chain, i.e., the focal buying organizations and their upstream and downstream suppliers (Corbett and Kleindorfer, 2001, Linton et al., 2007). In other words, organizations are "no more sustainable than [their] supply chain[s]" (Krause et al., 2009) and should not only address sustainability within their internal operations but also diffuse it across their supply chains.

### Figure I-1. Dissertation conceptual framework



This dissertation consists of three essays on sustainable operations management. The unifying theme in this work is the focus on the sustainability-related risks (whether they originate from organizations' internal operations or their suppliers' activities), the initiatives which organizations undertake at the operational level to deal with such risks, and the enablers/predictors and subsequent outcomes of such initiatives. Sustainability-related risks are defined as the conditions or potentially-occurring events with negative social or environmental impacts that may provoke harmful stakeholder reactions (Hofmann et al., 2014).

This chapter proceeds with an outline of each essay and is closed by a discussion of their overarching contributions to the OM literature. Figure I-1 illustrates the conceptual structure of the dissertation and how the essays fit together.

### 1. First Essay- "Safety Culture: A Catalyst for Sustainable Development"

The first essay, presented in Chapter II, is an empirical paper focusing on environmental and safety risks originating from organizations' internal operations and the "enabler" role of a positive safety culture in managing such risks and improving the organizations' performance. The purpose of this paper is to address two major research questions: "Are the organizations promoting occupational safety for their employees more likely to join the green movement?" and, "Does an organization's safety culture have a spillover effect on its environmental endeavors and financial performance?".

In doing so, this paper draws on the safety culture literature and organizational support theory (Eisenberger et al., 1997) to develop a conceptual model which suggests that a positive safety culture, encompassing two critical components of management commitment and employees' participation/empowerment, enhances organizations' financial performance and sets the stage for successful implementation of environmental practices, which in turn, result in improved environmental performance. It is also hypothesized that safety culture is positively associated with the safety performance both directly and indirectly through implementation of safety practices.

This conceptual model is tested by the empirical primary data collected through a mail survey of 1,001 Canadian manufacturing plants. The plant is selected as the level of analysis because it is generally where many safety and environmental issues are

evaluated and operational decisions are implemented. The data extracted from 251 complete responses is then analyzed using the Partial Least Squares (PLS) method (Ringle et al., 2005). The results reveal that a safety-oriented culture not only improves the safety performance through adoption of safety practices but also sets the stage for the organization to join the green movement and adopt green technologies and successfully implement green practices. It is also found to have a significant direct effect on the financial performance, providing empirical support for the concept of reciprocity norm and organizational support theory in the workplace safety context.

## 2. Second Essay- "Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk: Strategies, Predictors, and Outcomes"

The second essay, presented in Chapter III, is a conceptual paper which focuses on sustainability-related risks originating from buying organizations' supply base, namely supplier sustainability risks. Such risks materialize through adverse stakeholder reactions (Hofmann et al., 2014) and occur when buyers are held responsible and accountable by customers, NGOs, or other salient stakeholders for their suppliers' misconducts related to the natural environment or society (Foerstl et al., 2010). Based on anecdotal evidence, some buying organizations may try to mitigate these risks through sustainable supplier development (SSD) initiatives, such as monitoring their suppliers or collaborating with them, to improve their environmental or social performance. Some buying organizations, however, may take extreme measures and avoid the risks all together by phasing out the risky suppliers while others may decide to accept the risks by taking no actions and addressing them after their occurrence.

Given this background, this paper aims to take one of the first steps toward building a theory of supplier sustainability risk management by addressing a broad research question: "Why and how and under what conditions buying organizations respond to supplier sustainability risks?". More specifically, because of the crucial role of supply managers as the decision makers in the supply chain context (Ellis et al., 2010, Tazelaar and Snijders, 2013), this study focuses on the strategies they undertake at the operational level (Pagell and Gobeli, 2009). Since supplier sustainability risk is an interorganizational phenomenon, the exchange relationship between a buying organization and a specific supplier is considered as the context and the buyer–supplier transaction as the unit of analysis. The focal decision is the supply managers' decision to select among the four mentioned risk management strategies.

To craft a theory of responses to this type of risk, the proposed conceptual framework draws on the resource dependence (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003) and the agency/management control (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979) theories and suggests that the supply managers' choice among the four risk management strategies is contingent upon their perceived supplier sustainability risk and the buyer-supplier dependence structure. This framework also suggests that these risk management strategies improve buying organizations' financial performance directly or indirectly through enhancing their organizational reputation. Finally, it is proposed that pursuing desirable strategies that fit the external environment contingencies (i.e., risk and dependence) to deliver positive performance and reputational outcomes significantly depends on the slack resources available to supplier managers to implement those strategies.

## 3. Third Essay- "Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk: The Interacting Effect of Supplier Dependence, Perceived Risk, and Slack Resources"

The third essay, presented in Chapter IV, focuses on a sub-model of the conceptual framework developed in the second essay to be empirically validated. Specifically, this study investigates the effect of three factors, i.e., supply manager's perceived risk, supplier dependence on the buying organization, and slack resources available to supply managers, and how they interact to form supply managers' choice among the four risk management strategies.

A vignette-based experiment methodology is used to assess the effects of high and low levels of perceived supplier sustainability risk as well as high and low levels of supplier dependence within two organizational contexts where the amount of slack resources is either high or low. Drawing from real supplier sustainability risk events, two basic scenarios are developed about two fictitious mid-sized multinational companies with safety-related or environment-related risks within their supply base. Full-time supply managers currently working for US-based medium- or large-size organizations in manufacturing or retail trade sectors are targeted as our key respondents. The data collected from 200 supply managers is further analyzed through two different set of data analyses: MANCOVA and logistic regression.

The results reveal that SSD initiatives (collaboration-based and monitoringbased) are more likely to be used by supply managers to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk in buyer dominant situations (i.e., high supplier dependence). However, supply managers are more likely to avoid the risk and phase out the supplier or accept the risk and take no actions if the supplier is not highly dependent on the buying organization. In addition, in high supplier dependence situations, the likelihood of using collaboration-based risk mitigation strategy (as opposed to the monitoring-based one) increases when supply managers perceive a high level of risk threatening their organization. The results also confirm that the level of slack resources moderates the defined predictor-outcome relationships in risk management decision making: as the amount of available slack resources decreases, the participants become more inclined to (1) choose monitoring-based rather than collaboration-based risk mitigation strategy to deal with high risk suppliers in buyer dominant situations, or (2) take no actions and accept the risk rather than avoid it by terminating the relationship even when they perceived a high level of risk in independent buyer-supplier relationships.

### 4. Contributions

In addition to the individual contributions of each essay which will be further discussed in Chapters II, III, and IV, the overarching contributions of this dissertation to the OM literature are four-fold. Firstly, the three essays collectively consider all three elements of sustainability, i.e., people, planet, and profit (Elkington, 1998) and individually examine at least two elements simultaneously to address a significant gap in the OM literature. While theoretical discussions of sustainability tend to cover all three elements, the majority of empirical studies have focused on environmental issues and overlooked the social component of sustainability (Kleindorfer et al., 2005, Linton et al., 2007). In addition, only a few empirical studies have simultaneously looked at social, environmental, and economic aspects of sustainability (Thornton et al., 2013, Pagell and Gobeli, 2009, Pagell and Wu, 2009, Pagell et al., 2010, Pullman et al., 2009, Gimenez et al., 2012, De Brito et al., 2008), whereas almost all other studies investigate these aspects

in a standalone fashion (Seuring and Müller, 2008).

Secondly, this dissertation takes a broad approach towards sustainable operations in line with Kleindorfer et al. (2005) who adapted the work by Hayes and Wheelwright (1984) on operations strategy to the context of sustainable operations and identified internal versus external strategies. Specifically, It takes the leap from investigating the intra-organizational sustainability-related initiatives in the first essay to the examination of the strategies aimed at managing sustainability issues within the supply chain in the second and third essays. Further, the three essays will collectively extend the current understanding of sustainable operations management by exploring it through two relatively new perspectives, i.e., "safety management" and "risk management".

Thirdly, this dissertation responds to the ever-growing need for drawing on established organizational theories to describe, explain, and predict operations and supply chain phenomena (Ketchen and Hult, 2007b, Sarkis et al., 2011) as it draws on three organizational theories (organizational support, agency/management control, and resource dependence theories) to better explain the underlying factors within the sustainable operations arena.

Finally, top management intentions can be quite different from the decisions made at the operational level when it comes to being more sustainable (Wheeler et al., 2002). Hence, this dissertation responds to Pagell and Gobeli's (2009) call for more research on sustainability at the operational level. In doing so, the first essay examines individual plants and not companies as the unit of analysis to be closer to day-to-day decisions at the operational level. The second and third essays also target supply managers, and not top management, as the decision makers in the supply chain context and the operational-level strategies, and not corporate-level ones, for managing the supplier sustainability risks.

### 5. References

- BRUNDTLAND 1987. Our Common Future. United Nations World Commission on Environment and Development. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- CORBETT, C. J. & KLEINDORFER, P. R. 2001. Environmental management and operations management: Introduction to part 1 (manufacturing and ecologistics). *Production and Operations Management*, 10, 107-111.

- DE BRITO, M. P., CARBONE, V. & BLANQUART, C. M. 2008. Towards a sustainable fashion retail supply chain in Europe: Organisation and performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 114, 534-553.
- EHRENFELD, J. R. 2005. The roots of sustainability. MIT Sloan Management Review, 46, 23-25.
- EISENBERGER, R., CUMMINGS, J., ARMELI, S. & LYNCH, P. 1997. Perceived organizational support, discretionary treatment, and job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82, 812.
- EISENHARDT, K. M. 1989. Agency theory: An assessment and review. Academy of Management Review, 14, 57-74.
- ELKINGTON, J. 1998. Cannibals With Forks: The Triple Bottom Line of 21st Century Business, London, John Wiley and Sons.
- ELLIS, S. C., HENRY, R. M. & SHOCKLEY, J. 2010. Buyer perceptions of supply disruption risk: A behavioral view and empirical assessment. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 34-46.
- FOERSTL, K., REUTER, C., HARTMANN, E. & BLOME, C. 2010. Managing supplier sustainability risks in a dynamically changing environment—Sustainable supplier management in the chemical industry. *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 16, 118-130.
- FOMBRUN, C. J., GARDBERG, N. A. & BARNETT, M. L. 2000. Opportunity platforms and safety nets: Corporate citizenship and reputational risk. *Business and Society Review*, 105, 85-106.
- GIMENEZ, C., SIERRA, V. & RODON, J. 2012. Sustainable operations: Their impact on the triple bottom line. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 149-159.
- HART, S. L. 1995. A natural-resource-based view of the firm. Academy of Management Review, 20, 986-1014.
- HAYES, R. H. & WHEELWRIGHT, S. C. 1984. *Restoring Our Competitive Edge: Competing Through Manufacturing*, New York, John Wiley & Sons.
- HOFMANN, H., BUSSE, C., BODE, C. & HENKE, M. 2014. Sustainability-related supply chain risks: Conceptualization and management. *Business Strategy & the Environment*, 23, 160-172.
- KETCHEN, D. J. & HULT, G. T. M. 2007. Toward greater integration of insights from organization theory and supply chain management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 455-458.
- KLEINDORFER, P. R., SINGHAL, K. & VAN WASSENHOVE, L. N. 2005. Sustainable operations management. *Production & Operations Management*, 14, 482-492.
- KRAUSE, D. R., VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2009. Special topic forum on sustainable supply chain management: Introduction and reflections on the role of purchasing management. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 45, 18-25.
- LINTON, J. D., KLASSEN, R. D. & JAYARAMAN, V. 2007. Sustainable supply chains: An introduction. Journal of Operations Management, 25, 1075-1082.
- OUCHI, W. G. 1979. A conceptual framework for the design of organizational control mechanisms. *Management Science*, 25, 833-848.
- PAGELL, M. & GOBELI, D. 2009. How plant managers' experiences and attitudes toward sustainability relate to operational performance. *Production & Operations Management*, 18, 278-299.
- PAGELL, M. & WU, Z. 2009. Building a more complete theory of sustainable supply chain management using case studies of 10 exemplars. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 45, 37-56.
- PAGELL, M., WU, Z. & WASSERMAN, M. E. 2010. Thinking differently about purchasing portfolios: An assessment of sustainable sourcing. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 46, 57-73.
- PFEFFER, J. & SALANCIK, G. R. 2003. *The External Control of Organizations: A Resource Dependence Perspective*, Stanford, CA, Stanford University Press.

- PORTER, M. E. & KRAMER, M. R. 2006. The link between competitive advantage and corporate social responsibility. *Harvard Business Review*, 84, 78-92.
- PULLMAN, M. E., MALONI, M. J. & CARTER, C. R. 2009. Food for thought: Social versus environmental sustainability practices and performance outcomes. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 44, 38-54.
- RINGLE, C. M., WENDE, S. & WILL, A. 2005. SmartPLS Release: 2.0 (beta). Hamburg, Germany: SmartPLS.
- SARKIS, J., GONZALEZ-TORRE, P. & ADENSO-DIAZ, B. 2010. Stakeholder pressure and the adoption of environmental practices: The mediating effect of training. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 163-176.
- SARKIS, J., ZHU, Q. & LAI, K. 2011. An organizational theoretic review of green supply chain management literature. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 130, 1-15.
- SEURING, S. & MÜLLER, M. 2008. From a literature review to a conceptual framework for sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16, 1699-1710.
- TAZELAAR, F. & SNIJDERS, C. 2013. Operational risk assessments by supply chain professionals: Process and performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 31, 37-51.
- THORNTON, L. M., AUTRY, C. W., GLIGOR, D. M. & BRIK, A. B. 2013. Does socially responsible supplier selection pay off for customer firms? A cross-cultural comparison. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49, 66-89.
- WHEELER, D., FABIG, H. & BOELE, R. 2002. Paradoxes and dilemmas for stakeholder responsive firms in the extractive sector: Lessons from the case of Shell and the Ogoni. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 39, 297-318.

# **Chapter II**

## Chapter II. Safety Culture: A Catalyst for Sustainable Development<sup>1</sup>

### 1. Introduction

During the past three decades, sustainability has become an important strategic objective for businesses. Based on this concept, companies should operate in ways that secure their long-term economic performance by avoiding short-term behaviors which are socially detrimental or environmentally wasteful (Porter and Kramer, 2006). The organizations' growing interest in sustainability can be attributed to the increasing internal and external pressures (Sarkis et al., 2010) and to the risk of losing sales and even jeopardizing their survival (Ehrenfeld, 2005). In addition, organizations have realized that they can enjoy cost savings and gain long-term competitive advantage by being concerned about the future of people and planet and through the creation of unique sustainability-oriented processes (Hart, 1995).

This paper focuses on the internal dimension of "sustainable operations management" as defined by Kleindorfer and colleagues (2005), and how it affects the financial, environmental, and social performance of the organization. This dimension consists of (i) the management of human resources, health and safety at work, and adaptation to change, and (ii) the management of environmental impacts and natural resources. Specifically, the emphasis is on environmental management and workplace safety. Although both of them became important social responsibility issues during the 1970s, the green movement seems to have gained much more scholarly attention and despite their similarities, to date, there has been a lack of research to establish a link between the two (Cantor, 2008). The number of occupational safety research publications in top operations management journals has also remained extremely low (Das et al., 2008, De Koster et al., 2011). There are limited evidences in the operations management literature to show that managerial attention to employees' safety actually leads to improved performance (Das et al., 2008), yet the need for improving workplace safety is pressing. Each year, millions of people suffer disabling injuries and thousands are killed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A version of this chapter has already been published (HAJMOHAMMAD, S. & VACHON, S. 2014. Safety culture: A catalyst for sustainable development. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 123, 263-281.)

at workplaces throughout the world. In the United States, nearly 4,690 work-related fatalities and 3.1 million nonfatal occupational injuries and illnesses have been reported in 2010 (Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2010). The Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) estimates that organizations pay almost \$1 billion per week to injured employees and their medical care providers (Cantor, 2008).

In order to fill the gap in the current literature regarding the conjunction of occupational safety and ecological sustainability, this study attempts to address two major research questions: "Are the organizations promoting occupational safety for their employees more likely to join the green movement?" and, "Does an organization's safety culture have a spillover effect on its environmental endeavors and financial performance?" In doing so, we draw on the safety culture literature and organizational support theory (Eisenberger et al., 1997) to explain how the employees motivated by organizations' safety culture and their management commitment in improving workplace safety help the organization enhance its financial performance and effectively adopt environmental practices and improve its environmental performance. Similar to McFadden et al.'s (2009) proposed culture-initiative-outcome model for patient safety in the healthcare industry, we also suggest that a positive workplace safety culture encompassing two critical components, that is, management commitment and employees' participation/empowerment, positively affects its safety performance both directly and indirectly through implementation of safety practices. We examine these issues by applying a survey methodology and collecting primary data from a sample of 251 Canadian manufacturing plants.

This paper contributes to the operations management literature in many ways. First, by linking workplace safety and financial performance, this study provides a foundation for future research on making a business case for safety management. Second, a theoretical model is developed linking safety culture to safety and environmental management practices and performance. More specifically, the model suggests that a positive safety culture can improve organizations' safety and environmental performance both directly and indirectly through the adoption of related processes and practices. Third, it highlights the important role of individuals, both managers and employees, in achieving all three sustainability objectives, that is, improving social, environmental, and financial performance. Finally, unlike other sustainable operations management studies which focus on the environmental sustainability as the entry point for operationalizing sustainability, this paper introduces the commitment to safety and establishing a positive safety culture as the starting point towards achieving sustainable development.

In the next section, we integrate two streams of literature on environmental and safety management and define the six constructs of interest. We then propose nine hypotheses building on the organizational support theory, safety culture literature, and prior empirical studies in sustainability domain. After presenting the research methodology and data analysis results, we discuss our findings and their theoretical and managerial implications.

#### 2. Literature Review

### 2.1. Safety culture

The concept of safety culture (SC) was first coined in the International Nuclear Safety Advisory Group's (INSAG) summary report on the Chernobyl accident, published by the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) in 1986. Although it has been widely used since then, there is no clear cut definition of the term safety culture and numerous definitions have been developed in the academic literature for it (Choudhry et al., 2007). It is used to describe an organizational culture in which safety is understood to be, and is accepted as, the top priority (Cooper, 2002). Cooper (2000) refers to it as the observable degree of effort by which all organizational members direct their attention and actions toward improving safety on a daily basis, while Richter & Koch (2004) describe it as the shared and learned meanings, experiences, and interpretations of work and safety which guide people's actions towards risk, accidents, and prevention. In a nutshell, a strong safety culture is formed when the values espoused by management are consistent with the behavior of the employees (Vredenburgh, 2002) and when safety is regarded by everyone as being an issue that concerns everyone (Choudhry et al., 2007).

Researchers have carried out empirical studies to determine the indicators which reflect safety culture (Mearns et al., 2003, Ostrom et al., 1993). Despite several inconsistencies in the idiosyncratic labeling of safety culture indicators, two factors — employees' participation and management commitment to safety — appear to be

replicated across several studies (Cox and Cheyne, 2000, Vecchio-Sadus and Griffiths, 2004, Fernández-Muñiz et al., 2007, McFadden et al., 2009). Hence, in this study, a positive safety culture is defined as one in which managers are committed to and reinforce safety as an organizational priority and employees adhere to the safety rules and guidelines and participate in their establishment and improvement.

### 2.2. Safety practices

Safety practices (S PR) are the policies, procedures and activities implemented or followed by the management of an organization targeting safety of their employees (Kirwan, 1998). They are the essential elements permitting an effective management of safety in organizations and are designed to comply with the existing applicable legislations. Numerous studies have attempted to identify specific safety management practices that improve safety performance in terms of accident and incident rates (Shannon et al., 1997, DePasquale and Geller, 1999, McFadden et al., 2009). They have revealed that organizations with lower accident rates are characterized by a few of the following factors: management's active involvement in safety initiatives; frequent safety training for employees; hazard identification and assessment; horizontal and vertical communication about safety issues; frequent safety inspections; safety-oriented reward systems; thorough investigation and statistical analysis of accidents and incidents; and empowerment of the workforce.

These practices can be categorized into two mutually exclusive groups of control and prevention. The former includes safety-related initiatives which are aimed at reducing the adverse impacts of accidents/incidents after their occurrence. Emergency response plans and actions are among these practices. The second group, however, includes the activities that are intended to prevent incidents/accidents occurrence, such as hazard identification and assessment, safety training, reporting incidents/accidents and statistical analysis of the collected data, and system redesign for improving the workplace safety. The latter type of practices is of interest in this study. Therefore, we define safety practices as the set of procedures/activities which aim at preventing incidents/accidents occurrence.

### 2.3. Environmental practices

Upon the enactment of various environmental regulations in the 1970s, organizations have allocated significant capital and operating budgets to control the adverse environmental impact of their products and processes. Environmental practices (E PR) encompass the techniques to reduce, minimize, or eliminate the negative impacts of organizations' operations, products or services on the natural environment (Shrivastava, 1995a, Rao and Holt, 2005). These practices are classified into three categories of pollution prevention, pollution control, and management systems (Klassen and Whybark, 1999a). While all three categories aim at improving environmental performance, practices which address pollution at the source are generally recognized to generate other benefits (Hart, 1995). This type of practice is of interest in this paper. Therefore, we define environmental practices as the techniques and procedures that lead to pollution reduction at the source (Thoumy and Vachon, 2012). They include efforts to analyze product life-cycle, prevent pollution, reduce wastes, or recycle materials.

### 2.4. Organization's performance

In line with sustainable development perspective, we define the organizations' performance along three dimensions: environmental performance (E PE), safety performance (S PE), and financial performance (F PE). The concept of safety performance refers to the extent to which organizations are able to prevent accidents and incidents or decrease their adverse impacts (De Koster et al., 2011). Environmental performance is defined as the extent to which an organization improves its performance in respect to its environmental responsibilities (Kleindorfer et al., 2005). Financial performance refers to the degree to which an organization achieves profit-oriented outcomes and reduces its overall costs.

### 3. Conceptual Model and Hypotheses Development

In this section, drawing from safety and sustainability literatures and organizational support theory, we present our hypotheses on the interrelationships between six constructs of interest.

### **3.1.** Safety culture and financial performance

Organizational support theory (Eisenberger et al., 1997), derived from social exchange theory (Blau, 1964), assumes that employees form general beliefs about how much their organization values their contributions and cares about their well-being. Central to this theory is the norm of reciprocity: when one person treats another well, the norm of reciprocity obliges the return of favorable treatment (Gouldner, 1960). Hence, the employees' perceived organizational support increases their willingness to further contribute to the organization's success and helping the organization reach its objectives (Eisenberger et al., 2001).

#### Figure II-1. Conceptual model



Applying this theory to the safety context, it can be posited that a positive safety culture stemming from management commitment has the potential to create a positive exchange relationship between the organization and its employees. When employees believe that top management cares about their personal safety and well-being, they will choose to reciprocate by developing affective commitment to the organization (Rhoades et al., 2001), putting forth discretionary effort on behalf of the firm (Piercy et al., 2006), and involving in more pro-social behaviors like aiding fellow employees, offering constructive suggestions, and gaining knowledge and skills that are beneficial to the organization (Meyer and Herscovitch, 2001). They will be more willing to pursue organizational goals and to remain with the organization (Meyer et al., 1990) which leads

to decreased absenteeism and turnover rates (Harrison et al., 2006) and increased productivity and customer satisfaction (Patterson et al., 2004, Mathieu et al., 2006). They will also feel more satisfied with their jobs (Rhoades and Eisenberger, 2002). All of these employees' reactions to their perceived organizational support lead to improved job performance, which in turn positively influences the organizational profitability and performance (Ostroff, 1992, Podsakoff and MacKenzie, 1997, Sun et al., 2007, Subramony, 2009).

*H1: The level of an organization's safety culture is positively associated with its financial performance.* 

### **3.2.** Safety culture, environmental practices, and environmental performance

The similarities between workplace safety and environmental management are significant enough that they have been thought of as major components of the overall concept of sustainability in the operations management literature (Kleindorfer et al., 2005). Activist groups interested in both environmental and occupational health issues have recognized the similarities between the two and have formed labor-environmental alliances across the United States known as "blue-green coalitions" (Mayer, 2009). However, to date, there has been a lack of research to establish a direct link between environmental management and workplace safety. In this paper, we argue that organizations with a positive safety culture are more likely to adopt an environmental sustainability perspective, implement ecologically friendly practices, and improve their environmental performance due to a number of factors. First, a prime component of safety culture relates to management commitment to safety and how it is demonstrated to the employees. The motives and drivers behind management commitment to safety are quite similar to the ones for seeking improvements in environmental performance (Taubitz, 2010). As a result, managers who are motivated to enhance their organizations' workplace safety will also be willing to invest in environmental practices (Caprar and Neville, 2012). According to Corbett and Kleindorfer (2001), these drivers include enhancing corporate image and reputation (Vastag, 2004), increasing revenue and market share (Delmas, 2001), seeking regulatory compliance (Snir, 2001), avoiding liability and negligence (Wolf, 2001, Kleindorfer and Saad, 2005), and improving company's relations with local communities and other stakeholders (Rothenberg et al., 2001).

Moreover, by encouraging and committing to a positive safety culture, top management can serve as champion of change and alter the culture of the organization to be more flexible and responsive to changes (Daily and Huang, 2001), hence increasing the chances of environmental practices' success, that is, improved environmental performance.

Second, it is frequently argued in the environmental management literature that motivated and empowered individuals can bring the critical ideas and deliver the efforts necessary to improve their organizations' environmental performance (Starik and Rands, 1995, Zwetsloot and Marrewijk, 2004). One of the critical components of a positive safety culture is employees' active involvement and participation in safety-related activities, which results in their empowerment. Therefore, it is possible to conclude that an organization with a positive safety culture will be able to implement environmental practices more effectively and improve its environmental performance due to employees' motivation and active participation.

Third, workplace accidents are sometimes associated with environmental problems. For example, air pollution due to the release of chemicals into the air is not only undesirable from an environmental point of view, but it also has an adverse impact on the working conditions of employees and their safety and well-being (Chandrashekar et al., 1999). Hence, being committed to eliminating workplace hazards and risks sometimes requires the organizations to implement environmental practices to prevent waste and pollution, which in turn results in improvements in their environmental performance.

Finally, both environmental and safety management domains require large-scale behavior change for a meaningful impact to be realized. For example, the same mindset that underlies practices to prevent workplace injuries can be applied in efforts to reduce energy consumption (Cunningham et al., 2010). The organizations with positive safety culture are the ones who have successfully managed to change their managers' and employees' attitudes and behaviors to be safety-oriented. Hence, they do not need to reinvent the wheel to develop successful interventions for aligning the employees' behaviors with environmental sustainability objectives. They can harness the momentum of the safety culture and adapt successful behavioral interventions from the safety domain to achieve improvements in environmental sustainability.

H2: The level of an organization's safety culture is positively associated with the degree of investments in environmental practices within that organization.

H3: The level of an organization's safety culture is positively associated with its environmental performance.

Further, it is expected that adopting the techniques and procedures which take into account the environmental considerations, namely environmental practices, reduce the organization's negative impacts on the natural environmental (Melnyk et al., 2003). For example, organizations participating in emission and energy consumption reduction programs will reduce their carbon footprint by introducing energy conserving operation processes, conservation-oriented maintenance, and installing energy efficient lighting fixtures. Moreover, with proactive environmental practices, organizations can eliminate environmentally hazardous production processes, redesign their existing product systems to reduce life cycle impacts, and develop new products with lower life cycle costs (Hart, 1995). Likewise, they can analyze and understand the impacts of their products and processes on the environment and improve their environmental performance by conducting life-cycle analysis (Matos and Hall, 2007). Several studies to date have provided empirical evidences to support the positive relationship between environmental practices and environmental performance in organizations (Klassen and Whybark, 1999b, Pullman et al., 2009, Russo and Fouts, 1997).

H4: The degree of investments in environmental practices within an organization is positively associated with its environmental performance.

### **3.3.** Safety culture, safety practices, and safety performance

Developing and maintaining a positive safety culture is an effective tool for improving safety-related outcomes at work, such as decreasing accidents and injuries and increasing safety compliance and safety knowledge of employees (Vecchio-Sadus and Griffiths, 2004, Hofmann and Stetzer, 1996, Neal et al., 2000). Organizations' safety culture considerably affects the employees' involvement in unsafe behaviors which, based on the Domino Model of Accident Causation (Heinrich, 1931), is one of the major root causes of workplace accidents in different industries (Mearns et al., 2003, Oliver et al., 2002, Brown et al., 2000). Sulzer-Azaroff (1978) suggests that employees are "naturally" reinforced to engage in unsafe practices by taking shortcuts to achieve immediate positive results (e.g., completing the tasks in shorter time). Positive safety culture counteracts this "natural" reinforcement by increasing employees' motivation to comply with safety rules and also by increasing their awareness of rules and the importance of following them (safety knowledge). In their survey study of 551 workers from two steel plants located in the southeastern US, Brown et al. (2000) demonstrate that a weak safety culture increases the presence of unsafe work behaviors through employees' perceived work pressure and perceived barriers to safety. Similar findings have been reported by other studies such as Thompson et al. (1998) and Seo (2005).

A few empirical studies in operations management literature have demonstrated that several aspects of a positive safety culture such as the creation of a blame-free environment, a commitment to be safety-centered, an openness about errors, and a safetyover-productivity attitude lead to exceptionally good safety outcomes (McFadden et al., 2009, McFadden and Hosmane, 2001, De Koster et al., 2011). The frequency and severity of occupational accidents and incidents are reduced through improved safety culture in terms of management commitment and employee participation and empowerment. Top management commitment has a dual effect on safety performance (Krause and Weekley, 2005). On the one hand, committed leaders allocate adequate resources to implement safety initiatives and safety enhancing systems. On the other hand, they influence employees' behaviors simply by demonstrating support for improving workplace safety. When employees observe their management commitment, they will be more willing to co-operate to improve safety performance (Hofmann et al., 2003). They will try to comply with regulations, to take the proper safety measures, and to actively participate in activities designed to promote improvements in their workplace safety. Therefore, management commitment enhances employees' commitment and decreases occupational injuries (Zacharatos et al., 2005). In addition, employees' participation and commitment to safety is likely to increase not only their personal safety consciousness (De Koster et al., 2011), but also the safety of the work environment, through actions on safety suggestions and the encouragement of safe behavior among coworkers (Michael et al., 2005).
## H5: The level of an organization's safety culture is positively associated with its safety performance.

A culture which encourages shared vision of a strategy usually results in an internal drive and passion to develop new innovation and embrace change (Hamel and Prahalad, 2005). According to Shrivastava (1995b), an organization's sustainability initiatives and its strategy must be closely interwoven, rather than being separate programs that are managed independently of one another. Top management's verbal commitment must be supported by their actions to effectively influence the workplace safety performance. To be perceived as credible, their words should be supported by establishing safety-related practices in the organization and allocating money for safety supplies and initiatives.

## *H6: The level of an organization's safety culture is positively associated with the level of implemented safety practices within that organization.*

The preventive safety programs and practices are regarded in several studies as the antecedent of the employees' perceptions about the importance of safety in their organization and hence contribute to performing tasks in a safe manner (DeJoy et al., 2004). Companies that have better safety initiatives in place and invest more money in safety management are expected to have better safety outcomes (Hoonakker et al., 2005). The extent to which these practices are implemented in an organization affects the probability, frequency, and severity of the accidents and incidents. For example, communication of safety information through either formal training or informal on-thejob discussions enhances employees' safety awareness and consciousness, decreases their involvement in unsafe behaviors and hence, improves organizations' safety performance (De Koster et al., 2011).

It also helps them to identify the hazards in the workplace, and the procedures available to prevent, correct or minimize their risks (Fernández-Muñiz et al., 2007). Employees' involvement in the hazard identification and risk analysis process is another behavioral-oriented technique that provides them with authority, responsibility, and accountability for required decisions which in turn reduce their involvement in unsafe acts and consequently, the accidents rate (Rundmo, 2000, Cox and Cheyne, 2000, Vredenburgh, 2002).

*H7: The level of implemented safety practices within an organization is positively associated with its safety performance.* 

#### **3.4.** Safety, environmental, and financial performance

It is widely believed that there is a trade-off between efforts in safety and profitability/production, that is, safety preventive measures require expenses that are not in line with production objectives, and consequently have negative impacts on organizations' profitability and competitiveness (Carrillo, 2005). Conversely, researchers have suggested that accidents have adverse effects in terms of decreases in productivity and quality and deterioration of the firm's public image or employee morale, all of which lead to decreased financial performance (Rechenthin, 2004, Brown, 1996). Evidences of both arguments have largely been anecdotal in nature. Therefore, to make a business case for safety, the level of invested resources in safety management should be compared to its impact on the organization's profitability.

Proactive safety engenders an increase in the organization's costs through areas such as salaries paid for safety professionals, employees' training, and protective equipment purchase. On the other hand, investing in safety can make changes in the organization's processes and production technologies, which in turn can offer benefits in terms of savings in materials or energy, and hence cutting the real costs of such investment (Ashford, 1997). Lack of safety, however, can result in direct and indirect costs when accidents and incidents occur.

The direct costs include such things as medical expenses, disability payments, attorney fees and property damage repair costs. The larger indirect costs with a long-term negative impact on the organization's financial performance include increased insurance costs, increased operational costs due to disruptions to work progress, loss or injury of trained and experienced workers, and loss of production quality due to a non-experienced employee performing work normally handled by an experienced employee who has been injured and is away from work (Manuele, 2011, Brown et al., 2000).

In addition, accidents also undermine the organization's internal relationships, workers' morale and motivation or harm its public image and cause a severe deterioration in its public relations (Smallman and John, 2001). They can also cause organizations to

miss delivery dates causing financial losses due to the delay itself and due to deterioration in the customers' perception of the firm (Fernández-Muñiz et al., 2009). Finally, strong safety reputation helps companies attract and retain higher-quality employees and reduce the costs of recruiting and training of new employees (Howard-Grenville et al., 2003).

## H8: An organization's safety performance is positively associated with its financial performance.

Similarly, many organizations perceive trade-offs between environmental performance and economic performance. Researchers and practitioners have tried for a long time to find out whether it "pays" to be green. A large number of studies have demonstrated that environmental management efforts and improved environmental performance can increase firms' revenues and lower their overall costs (Melnyk et al., 2003, Angell and Klassen, 1999a, King and Lenox, 2002, Ambec and Lanoie, 2008). Improved environmental performance reduces the amount of waste, the consumption of various production inputs including energy and materials, and the number of components in products (Rothenberg et al., 2001).

Elimination of spills and other environmental damages prevents expenses associated with lawsuits and legal settlements (Karpoff et al., 2005). Pollution prevention can also allow a firm to avoid the cost of installing and operating pollution control devices and to reuse materials through recycling (Quazi et al., 2001, Hart, 1997). Waste reduction, another aspect of improved environmental performance, leads to better utilization of natural resources, improved efficiency and higher productivity, and reduces operation costs. Finally, an organization's strong environmental reputation, similar to safety reputation, results in lower costs for recruiting and training of new employees (Howard-Grenville et al., 2003).

In addition to its effects on costs, environmental performance can impact revenues either through gains in existing markets or access to new markets. Firms can benefit from their improved environmental performance as a powerful marketing tool which brings about increased revenue, market share, and new market opportunities (Klassen and McLaughlin, 1996, Rao and Holt, 2005). Examples of new environmentally-conscious markets range from clothing produced with organic materials to hybrid vehicles. Hence, we expect that improved environmental performance in terms of lower levels of air emissions, waste water generation, solid waste disposal, and energy consumption contributes to better financial performance.

H9: An organization's environmental performance is positively associated with its financial performance.

#### 4. Methodology

#### 4.1. Data collection

Data from a sample of 1,001 Canadian manufacturing plants located in Ontario and Quebec provinces was collected through a mail survey distributed in April-May 2011, following a procedure inspired by Dillman (2000). We chose the plant as the level of analysis because it is generally where many safety and environmental issues are evaluated and operational decisions are implemented. The sample was randomly selected utilizing the Canadian Scott's Directory and included the plants with more than 100 employees (as it was reported by this database) from the industries included in the North American Industrial Classification Systems (NAICS) codes 315 to 337, excluding process-based industries such as paper, petroleum, and chemical products. These codes include leather goods, textile products, clothing, wood products, furniture, plastic and rubber products, machinery, transport equipment, electrical equipment, and fabricated metal industries. A follow-up phone call was made a couple of weeks after the mailing to confirm the reception of the questionnaire and to encourage participation. A total of 251 usable responses, mostly from plant managers, were collected from that effort, that is, a response rate of 25%.

#### 4.2. Survey questionnaire and measures

The survey instrument used for this research includes a total of 32 items measured on a seven-point likert-type scale for the six main constructs (listed in Appendix II-A). As noted earlier, safety culture construct represents management commitment to reinforcing safety as organizational priority and employees' adherence to the established safety rules and guidelines and their participation in workplace safety activities. In this study, safety culture was measured by seven items adapted from a

previously published safety climate survey (Sexton et al., 2003). Similar to McFadden et al.'s approach (2009), we only included seven of the original 19 items which measured safety culture at the organizational level and were most closely aligned with our definition of safety culture in Section 2.1. A seven-item scale captured the degree and level of implementation of seven activities that aim to improve workplace safety, such as taking input from all stakeholders on hazard identification/assessment and incident/accident reduction methods, reporting incidents/accidents without blame, openended discussion groups, safety training for employees, statistical analysis of incidents/accidents data, and system redesign for safety. These items were taken from McFadden et al.'s scale (2009) for patient safety initiatives and modified based on OHSAS 18001 (British Standards Institution, 2007) principles of a workplace safety management system. Safety performance was also measured by a five-item scale taken from McFadden et al.'s scale (2009) for safety outcomes. These items were modified to assess the changes in the workplace safety performance of the plant over a two-year period on five different dimensions, that is, severity, frequency, and impact of incidents/accidents, as well as increased awareness and understanding of incidents/accidents and their root causes.

The extent of environmental practices was assessed using a five-item scale which captured the extent to which resources have been invested in five programs related to environmental management over the previous two years: ISO 14001 certification, pollution prevention, recycling of materials, life cycle analysis, and waste reduction. Environmental performance was measured by a five-item scale, in terms of improvements in the amount of air emissions, waste water generation, solid waste disposal, consumption of hazardous/harmful/toxic materials, and energy consumption over a two-year period. Lastly, financial performance was measured by a three-item scale, in terms of the level of a plant's average return on investment, average profit, and profit growth compared to the industry average over a two-year period.

In addition to the variables presented above, we also examined three control variables to avoid any unjustifiable influence of alternative factors, other than those included in our model, on the plant's performance. First, we controlled for plant size because the safety, financial and environmental performance gains or failures we observe

may be explained by this factor as opposed to the mechanisms we model. On one hand, larger firms may have greater adverse environmental impacts or larger number of accidents/incidents and consequently be under more external pressure to improve their performance. On the other hand, they might have larger resource pools to invest in environmental technologies or safety practices and consequently higher levels of environmental/safety improvement (Vachon and Klassen, 2006a). In our study, plant size is measured as the number of employees (logarithmized). The second possible confounding effect relates to the complexity of a plant's internal processes. Plants with a higher level of complexity could be prone to lower levels of performance. The number of plant's product lines is taken as a proxy for the level of plant complexity. Finally, we controlled for the percentage of unionized shop floor workers, as it can affect a plant's safety performance.

#### **4.3.** Post-hoc tests of data appropriateness

We assessed nonresponse bias using t-tests to compare the early and late waves of responses (Lambert and Harrington, 1990, Armstrong and Overton, 1977). Two groups of 63 surveys were chosen from the first and last waves of surveys received (i.e., the upper and lower quartiles of the returned surveys), and t-tests were performed on the responses of the two groups on four demographic-related as well as ten randomlyselected items in the dataset. The t-tests yielded no statistically significant differences, suggesting that nonresponse may not be a problem to the extent that late respondents represent the opinions of non-respondents.

To minimize key-informant bias, we contacted each plant by phone prior to sending the survey to identify the manager most knowledgeable about the financial, environmental, and safety issues (Kumar et al., 1993). Although responses from multiple informants may have been preferred, we believe that our informants were positioned to make the assessment asked of them. In addition, we checked for common method bias to assure that the observed relationships between variables are not confounded by the respondents' social desirability, leniency, acquiescence, and other social, psychological, and measurement factors. To reduce the likelihood of common method bias, the dependent variables were placed after the independent variables in the survey to diminish, if not avoid, the effects of consistency artifacts (Podsakoff et al., 2003). In addition to this precaution taken during the survey design, Harman's single factor post hoc test (Harman, 1976) was performed. The exploratory factor analysis revealed seven factors with eigenvalues greater than 1.0 that accounted for 63.67% of the total variance. The first factor only accounted for 29.4% of the variance. These results suggested that common method bias was not a serious problem in our study (Podsakoff et al., 2003).

Finally, in order to establish the validity of the answers provided by the single respondents and to enhance the rigor of research, the survey data on environmental performance were compared to the objective data which is publicly available from National Pollutant Release Inventory (NPRI) provided by the federal government of Canada (Environment Canada, 2010). This database contains information on more than 300 pollutants released and transferred from individual plants across Canada (air, water, land and injected underground and transferred offsite to disposal, treatment, sewage, energy recovery and recycling). Of the 251 plants in our sample, we were able to identify 56 of them in the NPRI database. In line with our definition of environmental performance in the survey data to be the improvement of plant's environmental impacts over a two-year period (i.e., 2008-2010), we took three different measures of change in pollutant release over the same period from NPRI data of the 56 plants in our sample (Henri and Journeault, 2010). These measures include changes in onsite air emissions, changes in total onsite emissions, and changes in total onsite and offsite emissions. Nonparametric Spearman Rank Correlation test shows positive and significant correlations between the mean score of environmental performance as provided by the respondents and each of the abovementioned measures (correlations of 0.436, 0.406, 0.385; p < 0.01). Hence, the self-rated improvement in environmental performance is positively correlated with the improvement in the level of pollutants released from 2008 to 2010. These results are in line with Dixon-Fowler et al.'s (2013) meta-analysis findings which indicate that the use of self-report measures of environmental performance does not result in different outcomes than the use of archival data.

Given that the majority of the firms in our sample were privately owned and also because the unit of analysis was the plant, unfortunately, a meaningful validation of financial performance data with a third party secondary data source was not possible. Moreover, manufacturing plants' accident/incident records were not publicly available and hence, we could not validate the safety performance data.

#### 5. Data Analysis

Partial Least Squares (PLS) method and, more specifically, SmartPLS 2.0 (beta) software (Ringle et al., 2005) was selected as the modeling technique for testing the proposed conceptual model in this study for a number of reasons (Peng and Lai, 2012). The environmental management and safety management concepts have seldom been examined in one single study, and there are no well-established theories that can directly serve as the theoretical foundation of their hypothesized relationships, making PLS an appropriate analysis tool for the exploratory nature of this study. Second, PLS performs better relative to covariance-based structural equation modeling (CBSEM) techniques in testing complex models with small sample sizes. To test the hypothesized relationships using CBSEM techniques, the minimum required sample size would be 350 cases, while the minimum sample size of 60 cases is enough for PLS analysis (Tanaka, 1987, Chin and Newsted, 1999). Finally, unlike CBSEM, PLS does not assume multivariate normality in the data, making it useful where observations do not fit with this restriction. Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests show that the variables in this study are not normally distributed (Statistics: 0.113-0.354 and 0.711-0.941; p < 0.01). Multivariate kurtosis of 136.803 with critical ratio value of 23.231 further confirms the data's departure from multivariate normality requirement for using CBSEM techniques (Byrne, 2010).

As stated earlier, the items related to safety culture, practices, and performance constructs were adopted from McFadden et al.'s (2009) study with a healthcare context and applied to a manufacturing context in this study. Therefore, constructs' unidimensionality was tested prior to PLS data analysis to purify the measurement scales. The sample of 251 cases was randomly split in half for uni-dimensionality pre-test (Sample 1) and data analysis (Sample 2) to avoid the problem of capitalization on chance due to specification searches and model modifications aiming at improving the measurement models (MacCallum et al., 1992).

#### 5.1. Uni-dimensionality of constructs

Uni-dimensionality refers to existence of a single concept underlying a group of measures (Gerbing and Anderson, 1988). Following Kim, Kumar, & Kumar (2012), unidimensionality of the six constructs was assessed through confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) employing IBM SPSS Amos 19 (Arbuckle, 2010) software.

The measurement model for each construct was estimated first. Then, the constructs were combined into pairs and each pair was estimated separately. The measurement model including all constructs was estimated last. At each step, we assessed whether or not the model fit the data by examining the t-values, standardized residuals, modification indices, and a number of goodness-of-fit indices. These indices are reported for pair-wise and total measurement models in Table II-1.

Model	$\chi^2$ (df)	$\chi^2/df$	GFI	CFI	NFI	RMR	RMSEA
(1) SC and S PR	56.618 (42)	1.348	0.925	0.983	0.938	0.066	0.054
(2) SC and S PE	43.869 (33)	1.329	0.935	0.984	0.939	0.044	0.052
(3) SC and E PR	20.844 (29)	1.097	0.959	0.995	0.950	0.083	0028
(4) SC and E PE	31.474 (26)	1.211	0.945	0.984	0.918	0.072	0.042
(5) SC and F PE	18.421 (19)	0.970	0.965	1.000	0.967	0.055	0.000
(6) S PR and S PE	56.943 (41)	1.389	0.918	0.983	0.942	0.062	0.057
(7) S PR and E PR	32.988 (24)	1.374	0.946	0.986	0.951	0.077	0.056
(8) S PR and E PE	59.466 (33)	1.802	0.916	0.956	0.908	0.105	0.081
(9) S PR and F PE	31.588 (25)	1.264	0.947	0.992	0.961	0.081	0.047
(10) S PE and E PR	13.584 (18)	0.755	0.973	1.000	0.972	0.060	0.000
(11) S PE and E PE	45.638 (25)	1.826	0.924	0.955	0.907	0.055	0.083
(12) S PE and F PE	16.733 (18)	0.930	0.967	1.000	0.974	0.035	0.000
(13) E PR and E PE	13.632 (12)	1.136	0.970	0.991	0.933	0.067	0.034
(14) E PR and F PE	15.995 (8)	1.999	0.959	0.979	0.960	0.105	0.091
(15) E PE and F PE	18.380 (13)	1.414	0.957	0.984	0.950	0.051	0.058
Measurement Model	310.697 (280)	1.110	0.844	0.983	0.852	0.092	0.030
Recommended value		< 3.0	>0.9	>0.9	>0.9	< 0.07	< 0.08

Table II-1. Fit Indices for pair-wise and total measurement models (CFA)

During this stage, six items were dropped due to their low loadings or high crossloadings to establish uni-dimensionality of all six constructs (S PR-3, SC-5,6, E PR-1,2 and E PE-3). A comparison of the goodness-of-fit statistics to the recommended values of these fit indices reveals an adequate fit of the modified measurement models to data.

#### 5.2. Estimation of measurement model

After establishing the uni-dimensionality of the constructs and identifying their measurement models' structure, the next step is to test the measurement models in PLS and assess reliability, convergent, and discriminant validity of the constructs (Fornell and Larcker, 1981). The reliability study indicates the degree of internal consistency between the multiple variables that make up the scale, in other words, the extent to which the indicators or items of the scale are measuring the same concepts. In PLS, alternative ways of judging multiple-item consistency, rather than Cronbach's alpha, are used. The methods look at (1) the reliability of the individual items that make up the measure, and (2) the composite reliability of the items as a group (comparable to Cronbach's  $\alpha$ ). Individual item reliability is assessed using the item's loading on the construct. A common rule of thumb is to accept items with more explanatory power than error variance (Carmines and Zeller, 1979), that is, with loadings greater than 0.7 (Fornell and Larcker, 1981).

Items	Loadings	Composite Reliability	AVE	Items	Loadings	Composite Reliability	AVE
S PR		0.89	0.57	SC		0.89	0.61
S PR-1	0.81			SC-1	0.86		
S PR-2	0.78			SC-2	0.86		
S PR-4	0.71			SC-3	0.83		
S PR-5	0.78			SC-4	0.75		
S PR-6	0.66			SC-7	0.57		
S PR-7	0.79						
S PE		0.91	0.68	E PE		0.80	0.50
S PE-1	0.79			E PE-1	0.71		
S PE-2	0.76			E PE-2	0.72		
S PE-3	0.90			E PE-4	0.73		
S PE-4	0.84			E PE-5	0.67		
S PE-5	0.83						
E PR		0.85	0.65	F PE		0.93	0.81
E PR-3	0.68			F PE-1	0.88		
E PR-4	0.87			F PE-2	0.92		
E PR-5	0.86			F PE-3	0.90		

 Table II-2: Reliability and convergent validity

Of the 26 items in the various scales, four of them were below this threshold with minimum loading of 0.57, which were kept in the measurement model to retain the content validity of their underlying constructs. All factor loadings were also statistically significant (p < 0.01). Further, composite reliability assesses the inter-item consistency,

which should also have a minimum value of 0.7. All of the scales demonstrated acceptable performance on this basis (see Table II-2).

Constructs	SC	S PR	S PE	E PR	E PE
Safety Practices	8.164 <sup>a</sup>				
Safety Performance	22.328	10.861			
<b>Environmental Practices</b>	11.500	6.028	13.693		
Environmental	45.445	39.724	44.738	23.354	
Financial Performance	40.877	29.58	37.193	24.203	30.322

Table II-3:	Discriminant	validity
-------------	--------------	----------

<sup>a</sup> Chi-square differences between each constrained model and unconstrained model. Difference in degree of freedom=1. All of the differences on pair-wise comparisons of the scales were significant at p-value of 0.05.

The standard for acceptable convergent validity is that the construct's average variance extracted should exceed 0.5, indicating that the items share at least half of their variance with the construct (on average). Again, as depicted in Table II-2, all scales performed acceptably on this basis. Discriminant validity addresses the potential problem of having measures for one construct overlap the conceptual territory of another construct. To test the discriminant validity, we ran a series of nested measurement model comparisons in which we constrained the covariance between each pair of constructs to one (Bagozzi and Yi, 1988) employing IBM SPSS Amos 19 software. The chi-square difference tests for all pairs of constructs were statistically significant at p-value of 0.05 (Table II-3).

	SC	SPR	SPE	EPR	EPE	FPE	PS	PC	PU
Safety Culture	0.782								
Safety Practices	0.644	0.760							
Safety Performance	0.375	0.421	0.826						
<b>Environmental Practices</b>	0.327	0.355	0.291	0.806					
<b>Environmental Performance</b>	0.270	0.267	0.333	0.405	0.709				
Financial Performance	0.223	0.0926	0.131	0.062	0.053	0.900			
Plant Size (PS)	0.143	0.208	0.146	0.010	0.253	-0.018			
Plant Complexity (PC)	0.064	0.126	0.104	0.083	0.106	0.041	0.035		
Plant Unionization (PU)	-0.179	-0.010	0.059	-0.114	0.082	-0.118	0.257	-0.016	

#### **Table II-4: Correlation matrix**

Note: The diagonal elements are the square roots of the average variance extracted (AVEs); the offdiagonal elements are the inter-construct correlations. In addition, the square roots of the average variance extracted for all constructs were greater than all of the inter-construct correlations (Table II-4), which is the evidence of sufficient discriminant validity (Chin, 1998). Lastly, the examination of items' cross-loadings table revealed that each item loading in the table was higher on its assigned construct than on the other constructs, supporting adequate convergent and discriminant validity (Table II-5). In conclusion, analysis of measurement models shows that the underlying items have sound measurement properties.

	SC	S PR	S PE	E PR	E PE	F PE
SC-1	0.856086	0.574074	0.335555	0.203486	0.193460	0.227667
SC-2	0.861346	0.636442	0.400247	0.299042	0.260134	0.189557
SC-3	0.833518	0.517873	0.272859	0.365991	0.182012	0.214257
SC-4	0.751196	0.403083	0.253265	0.192810	0.264597	0.095844
SC-7	0.571110	0.302853	0.138098	0.194353	0.152026	0.115093
S PR-1	0.505175	0.810734	0.412488	0.302197	0.277991	0.105624
S PR-2	0.469439	0.780191	0.366759	0.291825	0.320267	0.022419
S PR-4	0.426686	0.712782	0.329754	0.296235	0.248036	0.053277
S PR-5	0.578305	0.780517	0.278958	0.285101	0.120648	0.113758
S PR-6	0.348686	0.657853	0.183378	0.253216	0.140738	0.071565
S PR-7	0.554295	0.788583	0.304574	0.196274	0.105100	0.050754
S PE-1	0.249454	0.280278	0.790960	0.145808	0.267561	0.074865
S PE-2	0.231601	0.270760	0.761963	0.226765	0.165912	0.005269
S PE-3	0.349595	0.387367	0.904002	0.290938	0.295493	0.099822
S PE-4	0.397617	0.422307	0.836836	0.317523	0.350376	0.193498
S PE-5	0.276561	0.336743	0.832791	0.187636	0.255772	0.119907
E PR-3	0.011611	0.044205	0.061323	0.679766	0.255566	-0.030949
E PR-4	0.362132	0.363395	0.282157	0.869028	0.380516	0.091470
E PR-5	0.285333	0.332682	0.278294	0.855550	0.321731	0.043062
E PE-1	0.232116	0.236627	0.221394	0.222662	0.707168	-0.013022
E PE-2	0.240499	0.129715	0.213679	0.319833	0.725124	-0.035886
E PE-4	0.177320	0.168694	0.285507	0.311707	0.730406	0.064413
E PE-5	0.118834	0.217479	0.225827	0.295025	0.672866	0.127352
F PE-1	0.198687	0.115876	0.141765	0.051190	0.017266	0.879212
F PE-2	0.177816	0.032216	0.097317	0.022261	0.014962	0.923632
F PE-3	0.220380	0.095946	0.113804	0.087719	0.100661	0.897033

Table II-5: Items	loadings and	cross loadings
-------------------	--------------	----------------

#### 5.3. **Estimation of structural model**

The PLS structural model was assessed using bootstrapping procedure (Efron and Tibshirani, 1993) with 250, 500, and 1000 times of resampling. The magnitude and statistical significance of the structural paths were consistent across the three rounds of bootstrapping. Figure II-2 and Table II-6 show the path coefficients and the explained construct variances.



Figure II-2. Operational model with path coefficients

\* < 0.05 Level of Significance

\*\* < 0.01 Level of Significance

The  $R^2$  values of 0.25, 0.21, and 0.06 indicate that the model explains a fair amount of variance for environmental, safety, and financial performance, respectively. As demonstrated in Figure II-2, the links between safety culture and financial performance, environmental practices, and safety practices are significant (t-values equal to 2.03, 4.12, and 12.68, respectively) offering evidence for hypotheses H1, H2, and H6. Environmental practices are also significantly related to environmental performance (t =

4.57), providing statistical support for H4.

The significant safety culture-safety performance and safety practices-safety performance paths provide support for hypotheses H5 and H7 (t = 1.77 and t = 2.32). Sobel test (Preacher and Hayes, 2004) further demonstrates that the former relationship is partially mediated by safety practices (Sobel = 2.28; p < 0.05). Similarly, the significant safety culture-environmental performance path provides support for hypothesis H3 (t = 2.04) and Sobel test confirms that this relationship is partially mediated by environmental practices (Sobel = 3.06; p < 0.01). As to hypotheses H8 and H9, Figure II-2 and Table II-6 show that the safety and environmental performance do not significantly relate to financial performance. With regards to the three control variables included in the model, only plant size can significantly affect environmental performance.

		Standardized Coefficie	ent t-Value <sup>a</sup>
Safety Culture $\rightarrow$ Financial Perform	mance	0.188	2.028*
Safety Performance $\rightarrow$ Financial P	erformance	0.071	0.071
Environmental Performance $\rightarrow$ Fir	ancial Performance	-0.009	0.086
Plant Size $\rightarrow$ Financial Performance	ce	-0.034	0.385
Plant Complexity $\rightarrow$ Financial Per	formance	0.022	0.183
Plant Unionization $\rightarrow$ Financial Pe	rformance	-0.078	0.815
Safety Culture → Safety Performa	nce	0.205	1.770†
Safety Practices $\rightarrow$ Safety Perform	ance	0.275	2.317*
Plant Size $\rightarrow$ Safety Performance		0.036	0.439
Plant Complexity $\rightarrow$ Safety Perfor	mance	0.056	0.858
Plant Unionization $\rightarrow$ Safety Perfo	rmance	0.087	0.974
Safety Culture $\rightarrow$ Environmental Performance		0.134	2.039*
Environmental Practices $\rightarrow$ Environmental Performance		0.365	4.571**
Plant Size $\rightarrow$ Environmental Perfo	rmance	0.203	2.218*
Plant Complexity $\rightarrow$ Environmenta	al Performance	0.062	0.978
Plant Unionization $\rightarrow$ Environmen	tal Performance	-0.096	1.048
Safety Culture $\rightarrow$ Safety Practices		0.644	12.684**
Safety Culture $\rightarrow$ Environmental F	ractices	0.327	4.119**
Variance explained in the endog	enous variables		
Financial Performance	$R^2 = 0.061$	Safety Practices	$R^2 = 0.415$
Safety Performance	$R^2 = 0.209$	<b>Environmental Practices</b>	$R^2 = 0.107$
Environmental Performance	$R^2 = 0.250$		

#### **Table II-6: PLS structural model results**

<sup>a</sup> \*\* = p < 0.01, \* = p < 0.05, <sup>†</sup> = p < .10.

Overall, the conceptual model that we originally proposed gained adequate support from the data. The safety culture proved to be related to the environmental, safety, and financial performance through direct and indirect paths defined in the model.

#### 6. Discussion

The significant results for the direct and indirect relationships between safety culture and all three dimensions of organizational performance (i.e., financial, environmental, and safety performance) lend support for the concept of reciprocity norm and organizational support theory in workplace safety context. Organizational support theory (Eisenberger et al., 1997) is built upon the underlying concept that employees' perceived organizational support stimulates their felt obligation to return the profitable treatment they receive from their organization by caring about the organization's success and helping the organization reach its objectives.

Our results suggest that organizations with a positive safety culture, where (i) top management is concerned about employees' safety and well-being and (ii) employees are empowered and actively involve and participate in safety-related activities, are more likely to gain better financial, environmental, and safety outcomes as a result of their increased employees' commitment in pursuing organization goals and objectives.

These results are also in accord with total quality management literature (Kaynak, 2003, Samson and Terziovski, 1999, Nair, 2006, Curkovic et al., 2000), as well as human resource management literature (Huselid et al., 1997, Jayaram et al., 1999, Subramony, 2009), pointing out the beneficial effects of management commitment and employee empowerment on organizational performance.

Our results also contribute to the workplace safety, sustainability, and operations management research in several ways. This is the first study to provide empirical evidence for the relationship between safety, environmental, and financial dimensions of sustainable development in one model. Prior research and managerial practices regarding sustainability in operations management emphasize the environmental issues as the entry point for operationalizing sustainability. Our results, however, suggest that commitment to safety and establishing a positive safety culture as the starting point towards achieving a sustainable business can yield great benefits not only in terms of improved safety performance, but also with regards to improvements in firms' environmental and financial outcomes. Our results also reaffirm the proposed safety chain concept put forth by McFadden et al. (2009) for patient safety in healthcare industry as we provide empirical evidence for their safety culture-initiative-outcome model in a manufacturing context. More specifically, this study demonstrates that a culture of safety within the workplace is tied to the successful implementation of safety practices and, ultimately, to improved safety performance in terms of reduction in the frequency, severity, and impact of incidents/accidents, as well as heightened awareness and understanding of incidents/accidents and their root causes. We have also extended their model and explored the connections among safety chain variables with financial performance and ecological sustainability. More specifically, given the similarities between a safety-oriented and an environmental-friendly culture, our theoretical model and empirical results suggest that McFadden et al.'s model can be extended to environmental management domain. In other words, a strong safety culture directly relates to successful implementation of green practices and improved green performance of the firm.

Our study is also consistent with a recent stream of studies in Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) domain which focuses on the details of CSR activities and on how firms can maximize the beneficial effects of CSR on their financial outcomes (Basu and Palazzo, 2008, Margolis and Walsh, 2003, Tang et al., 2012, Houghton et al., 2009, Kim et al., 2010). Specifically, our findings provide partial support for Tang et al.'s (2012) study, suggesting that two "CSR engagement strategies" can increase the overall CSR benefits to the firm: (i) pursuing an "internal CSR" activity (in our case, safety culture) as the entry point of CSR engagement rather than an "external CSR" activity, and (ii) engaging in other "related" CSR dimensions with similar resources, skills, and knowledge requirements (in our case, environmental management) at the next steps.

Unfortunately, the research reported here is of a purely cross-sectional snapshot and we are unable to test and account for the lags between the development of the safety culture and the existence of practices and performance changes, which is a limitation of all such studies. Therefore, we suggest that two further streams of field research are needed. The first is to conduct in-depth case studies to detail the impact of safety culture and improvement initiatives on the performance dimensions internally used by the firms, to determine the rich fabric of how the culture and these initiatives lead to performance changes. Secondly, to increase the rigor of the study, a set of longitudinal studies are required to measure the extent of safety-oriented culture and the implementation level of safety and environmental practices and their impact on organizational performance across a three to five year period, examining the relationships and their development through time. These studies can collect secondary panel data for companies whose CSR and performance information are available on databases such as Compustat and Environmental, Social, and Governance factors (ESG) in addition to gathering primary survey data from the same companies.

Lastly, the surprising findings of no significant relationship between safety/environmental performance and financial performance merit some discussion. One reason for the lack of such effects could well lie in a possible lagged relationship between these performance constructs, as suggested by Hart and Ahuja (1996). Their results provide some evidence that it may pay firms to be green, but only after a time lag. Specifically, they found that it takes up to two years for improved environmental performance in terms of emission reduction to improve accounting profitability measures, such as return on sales (ROS), return on assets (ROA), and return on equity (ROE). Therefore, our somewhat puzzling findings might not be surprising after all. Moreover, this lagged effect could be due to reputation considerations. For example, a firm that is sued in time period t may experience an immediate stock price reaction (Klassen and McLaughlin, 1996, Konar and Cohen, 2001), but the accounting returns may only be affected several years later if the litigation results in substantial legal or compliance costs. Similarly, although a firm may emit toxic chemicals in one year, this information is only released to the public with at least a one-year lag, which in turn takes one more year for it to affect the firm's revenue and profit. Unfortunately, we did not perform a longitudinal study and cannot empirically investigate this suggestion. This will remain a topic for subsequent research.

We must also acknowledge some other limitations of our study. First, reliance on single-respondent perceptual data is a potential shortcoming of survey methodology, creating grounds for bias. While any potential bias of this kind cannot be explicitly ruled out, earlier research suggests no major concerns (Vachon and Klassen, 2006b, Sarkis et al., 2010, Hajmohammad et al., 2013, Ellis et al., 2010, Jiang, 2009b, Gadenne et al.,

2009). Moreover, studies suggest that self-reported data are highly consistent with more objective measures, especially when the respondents are at the appropriate level within the organization (Ketokivi and Schroeder, 2004, Miller and Roth, 1994). Besides, validation of our survey data on environmental performance with NPRI objective measure confirms that there is no major bias in the single respondent self-reported data in this study. Second, the plants included in this study were selected from a limited range of industries with moderate levels of safety and environmental risks. Indeed, our findings might not be completely applicable to industries with lower levels of workplace hazards/adverse environmental impacts. Exploring the effect of industry type - with regards to safety and environmental concerns - on our proposed model is a fruitful avenue for future research (Baird et al., 2012).

In addition, the findings of this paper suggest other areas for future research. For example, it would be interesting to explore the connections between our proposed model and firms' competitive advantage. Given that safety culture is shown here to be an important driver of sustainability, additional longitudinal research should examine whether it leads to, or is associated with, emergence of an environmental-friendly culture within the organizations.

#### 7. Conclusion

This paper addresses Brown (1996) and Cantor's (2008) almost-unanswered calls for workplace safety research in operations and logistics management, and puts the anecdotal trade-off between safety and productivity/profitability into question. The arguments advanced in this paper illuminated how two aspects of safety culture, that is, management commitment and employee participation, could directly enhance the three dimensions of the organization's performance, i.e., safety, environmental, and financial performance. Specifically, we demonstrated that safety culture influences safety performance indirectly through the mediating effect of safety practices. We also showed that organizations with a safety-oriented culture were more likely to join the green movement, adopt green technologies and successfully implement green practices, and subsequently, improve their environmental performance.

This study is distinct from previous works in the CSR and sustainability fields in

that it looks into the inter-relationships between safety and environmental management constructs and suggests using safety as an entry point for operationalizing sustainability for an organization. Further, it emphasizes on both the human benefits (safety performance) and the business case (environmental and financial performance) of achieving this broader conceptualization of sustainability. It also uses survey data from validated and reliable scales specifically designed to measure the defined constructs rather than the standard MSCI ESG (also known as KLD) data which is often the source of proxy variables for CSR-related constructs in CSR literature.

On the practical level, the proposed model provides the organizations' managers a path for designing or rethinking their approaches towards sustainability and a guideline for making the best out of their established environmental and safety management systems. To keep up with the worldwide quest for sustainability in various industries, many organizations have sought to become environment-oriented and establish environmental management systems such as ISO 14001, after becoming customeroriented and implementation of quality management systems such as ISO 9001 during late 20th and early 21st centuries. This study provides empirical support that both financial and environmental outcomes are tied to the safety culture, suggesting that organizations desiring to make environmental and financial improvements need to focus their attention on this infrastructural issue as the first step and emphasize the important role of the individuals' commitment, empowerment, and participation. Our results suggest that managers interested in improving environmental and safety performance of their plants in parallel to their financial gains should follow a systematic approach in creating a culture of safety prior to pursuing ecological sustainability. Once employees' safety becomes a priority within the organization and employees participate in building a safe workplace environment, organizations can transfer the gained momentum to successfully adopt environmental technologies, implement safety practices and, ultimately, improve their safety/environmental performance.

#### 8. References

AMBEC, S. & LANOIE, P. 2008. Does it pay to be green? A systematic overview. Academy of Management Perspectives, 22, 45-62.

- ANGELL, L. C. & KLASSEN, R. D. 1999. Integrating environmental issues into the mainstream: an agenda for research in operations management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 17, 575-598.
- ARBUCKLE, J. L. 2010. IBM SPSS Amos. In: CORPORATION, A. D. (ed.). Chicago, IL: IBM SPSS Inc.
- ARMSTRONG, J. S. & OVERTON, T. S. 1977. Estimating nonresponse bias in mail surveys. Journal of Marketing Research, 14, 396-402.
- ASHFORD, N. 1997. Policies for the promotion of inherent safety. New Solutions, 7, 46-52.
- BAGOZZI, R. P. & YI, Y. 1988. On the evaluation of structural equation models. *Journal of the Academy* of Marketing Science, 16, 74-94.
- BAIRD, P. L., GEYLANI, P. C. & ROBERTS, J. A. 2012. Corporate social and financial performance reexamined: Industry effects in a linear mixed model analysis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 367–388.
- BASU, K. & PALAZZO, G. 2008. Corporate social responsibility: A process model of sensemaking. Academy of Management Review, 33.
- BLAU, P. 1964. Exchange and Social Power in Social Life, NewYork, John Wiley and Sons.
- BRITISH STANDARDS INSTITUTION 2007. BS OHSAS 18001:2007: Occupational health and safety management systems- Requirements. London, UK: BSI.
- BROWN, K. A. 1996. Workplace safety: A call for research. *Journal of Operations Management*, 14, 157-171.
- BROWN, K. A., WILLIS, P. G. & PRUSSIA, G. E. 2000. Predicting safe employee behavior in the steel industry: Development and test of a sociotechnical model. *Journal of Operations Management*, 18, 445-465.
- BUREAU OF LABOR STATISTICS 2010. The Injuries, Illnesses, and Fatalities (IIF) Program. April 25, 2012 ed.: United States Department of Labor.
- BYRNE, B. M. 2010. Structural Equation Modeling With AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming, New York, NY, Taylor and Francis Group.
- CANTOR, D. E. 2008. Workplace safety in the supply chain: a review of the literature and call for research. *International Journal of Logistics Management*, 19, 65-83.
- CAPRAR, D. V. & NEVILLE, B. A. 2012. "Norming" and "Conforming": Integrating cultural and institutional explanations for sustainability adoption in business. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 110, 231-245.
- CARMINES, E. G. & ZELLER, R. A. 1979. *Reliability and Validity Assessment, Newbury Park, CA, Sage Publications, Inc.*
- CARRILLO, R. A. 2005. Safety leadership: Managing the paradox. Professional Safety, 50, 31-34.
- CHANDRASHEKAR, A., DOUGLESS, T. & AVERY, G. C. 1999. The environment is free: the quality analogy. *Journal of Quality Management*, 4, 123-143.
- CHIN, W. W. 1998. The partial least squares approach to structural equation modeling. *In:* MARCOULIDES, G. A. (ed.) *Modern Methods for Business Research*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- CHIN, W. & NEWSTED, P. R. 1999. Structural equation modeling analysis with small samples using partial least squares. *In:* HOYLE, R. (ed.) *Statistical Strategies for Small Sample Research*. Sage Publications.
- CHOUDHRY, R. M., FANG, D. & MOHAMED, S. 2007. The nature of safety culture: A survey of the state-of-the-art. *Safety Science*, 45, 993-1012.
- COOPER, M. D. 2000. Towards a model of safety culture. Safety Science, 36, 111-136.

- COOPER, M. D. 2002. Safety culture. Professional Safety, 47, 30-36.
- CORBETT, C. J. & KLEINDORFER, P. R. 2001. Environmental management and operations management: Introduction to part 1 (manufacturing and ecologistics). *Production and Operations Management*, 10, 107-111.
- COX, S. & CHEYNE, A. 2000. Assessing safety culture in offshore environments. *Safety Science*, 34, 111-129.
- CUNNINGHAM, T. R., GALLOWAY-WILLIAMS, N. & GELLER, E. S. 2010. Protecting the planet and its people: How do interventions to promote environmental sustainability and occupational safety and health overlap? *Journal of Safety Research*, 41, 407-416.
- CURKOVIC, S., VICKERY, S. & DRÖGE, C. 2000. Quality-related action programs: Their impact on quality performance and firm performance. *Decision Sciences*, 31, 885-902.
- DAILY, B. F. & HUANG, S. 2001. Achieving sustainability through attention to human resource factors in environmental management. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 21, 1539-1552.
- DAS, A., PAGELL, M., BEHM, M. & VELTRI, A. 2008. Toward a theory of the linkages between safety and quality. *Journal of Operations Management*, 26, 521-535.
- DE KOSTER, R. B. M., STAM, D. & BALK, B. M. 2011. Accidents happen: The influence of safetyspecific transformational leadership, safety consciousness, and hazard reducing systems on warehouse accidents. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29, 753-765.
- DEJOY, D. M., SCHAFFER, B. S., WILSON, M. G., VANDENBERG, R. J. & BUTTS, M. M. 2004. Creating safer workplaces: assessing the determinants and role of safety climate. *Journal of Safety Research*, 35, 81-90.
- DELMAS, M. 2001. Stakeholders and competitive advantage: the case of ISO 14001. Production and Operations Management, 10, 343-358.
- DEPASQUALE, J. P. & GELLER, E. S. 1999. Critical success factors for behavior-based safety: A study of twenty industry-wide applications. *Journal of Safety Research*, 30, 237-249.
- DILLMAN, D. A. 2000. *Mail and Internet Survey: The Tailored Design Method*, New York John Wiley and Sons.
- DIXON-FOWLER, H. R., SLATER, D. J., JOHNSON, J. L., ELLSTRAND, A. E. & ROMI, A. M. 2013. Beyond "Does it Pay to be Green?" A meta-analysis of moderators of the CEP–CFP relationship. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 112, 353-366.
- EFRON, B. & TIBSHIRANI, R. 1993. An Introduction to the Bootstrap, New York, Chapman & Hall.
- EHRENFELD, J. R. 2005. The roots of sustainability. MIT Sloan Management Review, 46, 23-25.
- EISENBERGER, R., ARMELI, S., REXWINKEL, B., LYNCH, P. D. & RHOADES, L. 2001. Reciprocation of perceived organizational support. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 42.
- EISENBERGER, R., CUMMINGS, J., ARMELI, S. & LYNCH, P. 1997. Perceived organizational support, discretionary treatment, and job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82, 812.
- ELLIS, S. C., HENRY, R. M. & SHOCKLEY, J. 2010. Buyer perceptions of supply disruption risk: A behavioral view and empirical assessment. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 34-46.
- ENVIRONMENT CANADA 2010. National Pollutant Release Inventory. March 27, 2012 ed.
- FERNÁNDEZ-MUÑIZ, B., MONTES-PEÓN, J. M. & VÁZQUEZ-ORDÁS, C. J. 2007. Safety culture: Analysis of the causal relationships between its key dimensions. *Journal of Safety Research*, 38, 627-641.
- FERNÁNDEZ-MUÑIZ, B., MONTES-PEÓN, J. M. & VÁZQUEZ-ORDÁS, C. J. 2009. Relation between occupational safety management and firm performance. *Safety Science*, 47, 980-991.

- FORNELL, C. & LARCKER, D. F. 1981. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18, 39-50.
- GADENNE, D. L., KENNEDY, J. & MCKEIVER, C. 2009. An empirical study of environmental awareness and practices in SMEs. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 84, 45-63.
- GERBING, D. W. & ANDERSON, J. C. 1988. An updated paradigm for scale development incorporating unidimensionality and its assessment. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 25, 186-192.
- GOULDNER, A. W. 1960. The norm of reciprocity: A preliminary statement. *American Sociological Review*, 25, 161-178.
- HAJMOHAMMAD, S. & VACHON, S. 2014. Safety culture: A catalyst for sustainable development. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 123, 263-281.
- HAJMOHAMMAD, S., VACHON, S., KLASSEN, R. D. & GAVRONSKI, I. 2013. Lean management and supply management: Their role in green practices and performance. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 39, 312-320.
- HAMEL, G. & PRAHALAD, C. K. 2005. Strategic intent. Harvard Business Review, 83, 148.
- HARMAN, H. H. 1976. Modern Factor Analysis, Chicago, Illinois, University of Chicago Press.
- HARRISON, D. A., NEWMAN, D. A. & ROTH, P. L. 2006. How important are job attitudes? Metaanalytic comparisons of integrative behavioral outcomes and time sequences. *Academy of Management Journal*, 49, 305-325.
- HART, S. L. 1995. A natural-resource-based view of the firm. Academy of Management Review, 20, 986-1014.
- HART, S. L. 1997. Beyond greening: Strategies for a sustainable world. *Harvard Business Review*, 75, 66-76.
- HART, S. L. & AHUJA, G. 1996. Does it pay to be green? An empirical examination of the relationship between emission reduction and firm performance. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 5, 30-37.
- HEINRICH, H. 1931. Industrial Accident Prevention: A Scientific Approach, New York, McGraw-Hill.
- HENRI, J. F. & JOURNEAULT, M. 2010. Eco-control: The influence of management control systems on environmental and economic performance. *Accounting, Organizations and Society*, 35, 63-80.
- HOFMANN, D. A., MORGESON, F. P. & GERRAS, S. J. 2003. Climate as a moderator of the relationship between leader-member exchange and content specific citizenship: Safety climate as an exemplar. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, 170.
- HOFMANN, D. A. & STETZER, A. 1996. A cross-level investigation of factors influencing unsafe behaviors and accidents. *Personnel Psychology*, 49, 307-339.
- HOONAKKER, P., LOUSHINE, T., CARAYON, P., KALLMAN, J., KAPP, A. & SMITH, M. J. 2005. The effect of safety initiatives on safety performance: a longitudinal study. *Applied Ergonomics*, 36, 461-469.
- HOUGHTON, S. M., GABEL, J. T. & WILLIAMS, D. W. 2009. Connecting the two faces of CSR: does employee volunteerism improve compliance? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 87, 477-494.
- HOWARD-GRENVILLE, J. A., HOFFMAN, A. J. & WIRTENBERG, J. 2003. The importance of cultural framing to the success of social initiatives in business. *Academy of Management Executive*, 17, 70-86.
- HUSELID, M. A., JACKSON, S. E. & SCHULER, R. S. 1997. Technical and strategic human resource management effectiveness as determinants of firm performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, 40, 171-188.

- JAYARAM, J., DROGE, C. & VICKERY, S. K. 1999. The impact of human resource management practices on manufacturing performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 18, 1-20.
- JIANG, B. 2009. Implementing supplier codes of conduct in global supply chains: Process explanations from theoretic and empirical perspectives. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85, 77-92.
- KARPOFF, J. M., LOTT JR, J. R. & WEHRLY, E. W. 2005. The reputational penalties for environmental violations: Empirical evidence. *Journal of Law and Economics*, 48, 653-675.
- KAYNAK, H. 2003. The relationship between total quality management practices and their effects on firm performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 21, 405-435.
- KETOKIVI, M. & SCHROEDER, R. 2004. Manufacturing practices, strategic fit and performance: a routine-based view. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 24, 171-191.
- KIM, D. Y., KUMAR, V. & KUMAR, U. 2012. Relationship between quality management practices and innovation. *Journal of Operations Management*, 30, 295-315.
- KIM, H. R., LEE, M., LEE, H. T. & KIM, N. M. 2010. Corporate social responsibility and employee– company identification. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 95, 557-569.
- KING, A. & LENOX, M. 2002. Exploring the locus of profitable pollution reduction. *Management Science*, 48, 289-299.
- KIRWAN, B. 1998. Safety management assessment and task analysis-a missing link. *In:* M. HALE, A. B. (ed.) *Safety Management: The Challenge of Change*.
- KLASSEN, R. D. & MCLAUGHLIN, C. P. 1996. The impact of environmental management on firm performance. *Management Science*, 42, 1199-1214.
- KLASSEN, R. D. & WHYBARK, D. C. 1999a. Environmental management in operations: The selection of environmental technologies. *Decision Sciences*, 30, 601-631.
- KLASSEN, R. D. & WHYBARK, D. C. 1999b. The impact of environmental technologies on manufacturing performance. Academy of Management Journal, 42, 599-615.
- KLEINDORFER, P. R. & SAAD, G. H. 2005. Managing disruption risks in supply chains. *Production & Operations Management*, 14, 53-68.
- KLEINDORFER, P. R., SINGHAL, K. & VAN WASSENHOVE, L. N. 2005. Sustainable operations management. Production & Operations Management, 14, 482-492.
- KONAR, S. & COHEN, M. A. 2001. Does the market value environmental performance? *Review of Economics and Statistics*, 83, 281-289.
- KRAUSE, T. R. & WEEKLEY, T. 2005. Safety leadership. Professional Safety, 50, 34-40.
- KUMAR, N., STERN, L. W. & ANDERSON, J. A. 1993. Conducting inter-organizational research using key informants. Academy of Management Journal, 36, 1633-1651.
- LAMBERT, D. M. & HARRINGTON, T. C. 1990. Measuring nonresponse bias in customer service mail surveys. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 11, 5-25.
- MACCALLUM, R. C., ROZNOWSKI, M. & NECOWITZ, L. B. 1992. Model modifications in covariance structure analysis: The problem of capitalization on chance. *Psychological Bulletin*, 111, 490-504.
- MANUELE, F. 2011. Accident costs: Rethinking ratios of indirect to direct costs. *Professional Safety*, 56, 39-47.
- MARGOLIS, J. D. & WALSH, J. P. 2003. Misery loves companies: Rethinking social initiatives by business. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 48, 268-305.
- MATHIEU, J. E., GILSON, L. L. & RUDDY, T. M. 2006. Empowerment and team effectiveness: an empirical test of an integrated model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 91, 97-108.

- MATOS, S. & HALL, J. 2007. Integrating sustainable development in the supply chain: The case of life cycle assessment in oil and gas and agricultural biotechnology. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 1083-1102.
- MAYER, B. 2009. Cross-movement coalition formation: Bridging the labor-environment divide. Sociological Inquiry, 79, 219-239.
- MCFADDEN, K. L., HENAGAN, S. C. & GOWEN III, C. R. 2009. The patient safety chain: Transformational leadership's effect on patient safety culture, initiatives, and outcomes. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27, 390-404.
- MCFADDEN, K. L. & HOSMANE, B. S. 2001. Operations safety: an assessment of a commercial aviation safety program. *Journal of Operations Management*, 19, 579-591.
- MEARNS, K., WHITAKER, S. M. & FLIN, R. 2003. Safety climate, safety management practice and safety performance in offshore environments. *Safety Science*, 41, 641-680.
- MELNYK, S. A., SROUFE, R. P. & CALANTONE, R. 2003. Assessing the impact of environmental management systems on corporate and environmental performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 21, 329-351.
- MEYER, J. P., ALLEN, N. J. & GELLATLY, I. R. 1990. Affective and continuance commitment to the organization: Evaluation of measures and analysis of concurrent and time-lagged relations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75, 710.
- MEYER, J. P. & HERSCOVITCH, L. 2001. Commitment in the workplace: Toward a general model. *Human Resource Management Review*, 11, 299-326.
- MICHAEL, J. H., EVANS, D. D., JANSEN, K. J. & HAIGHT, J. M. 2005. Management commitment to safety as organizational support: Relationships with non-safety outcomes in wood manufacturing employees. *Journal of Safety Research*, 36, 171-179.
- MILLER, J. G. & ROTH, A. V. 1994. A taxonomy of manufacturing strategies. *Management Science*, 40, 285-304.
- NAIR, A. 2006. Meta-analysis of the relationship between quality management practices and firm performance—implications for quality management theory development. *Journal of Operations Management*, 24, 948-975.
- NEAL, A., GRIFFIN, M. A. & HART, P. M. 2000. The impact of organizational climate on safety climate and individual behavior. *Safety Science*, 34, 99-109.
- OLIVER, A., CHEYNE, A., TOMAS, J. M. & COX, S. 2002. The effects of organizational and individual factors on occupational accidents. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational psychology*, 75, 473-488.
- OSTROFF, C. 1992. The relationship between satisfaction, attitudes, and performance: An organizational level analysis. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 77, 963.
- OSTROM, L., WILHELMSEN, C. & KAPLAN, B. 1993. Assessing safety culture. Nuclear Safety, 34, 163-172.
- PATTERSON, M. G., WEST, M. A. & WALL, T. D. 2004. Integrated manufacturing, empowerment, and company performance. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 25, 641-665.
- PENG, D. X. & LAI, F. 2012. Using partial least squares in operations management research: A practical guideline and summary of past research. *Journal of Operations Management*, 30, 467-480.
- PIERCY, N. F., CRAVENS, D. W., LANE, N. & VORHIES, D. W. 2006. Driving organizational citizenship behaviors and salesperson in-role behavior performance: The role of management control and perceived organizational support. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 34, 244-262.

- PODSAKOFF, P. M. & MACKENZIE, S. B. 1997. Impact of organizational citizenship behavior on organizational performance: A review and suggestion for future research. *Human Performance*, 10, 133-151.
- PODSAKOFF, P. M., MACKENZIE, S. B., LEE, J. Y. & PODSAKOFF, N. P. 2003. Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, 879.
- PORTER, M. E. & KRAMER, M. R. 2006. The link between competitive advantage and corporate social responsibility. *Harvard Business Review*, 84, 78-92.
- PREACHER, K. J. & HAYES, A. F. 2004. SPSS and SAS procedures for estimating indirect effects in simple mediation models. *Behavior Research Methods*, 36, 717-731.
- PULLMAN, M. E., MALONI, M. J. & CARTER, C. R. 2009. Food for thought: Social versus environmental sustainability practices and performance outcomes. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 44, 38-54.
- QUAZI, H. A., KHOO, Y. K., TAN, C. M. & WONG, P. S. 2001. Motivation for ISO 14000 certification: development of a predictive model. *Omega*, 29, 525-542.
- RAO, P. & HOLT, D. 2005. Do green supply chains lead to competitiveness and economic performance? International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 25, 898-916.
- RECHENTHIN, D. 2004. Project safety as a sustainable competitive advantage. *Journal of Safety Research*, 35, 297-308.
- RHOADES, L. & EISENBERGER, R. 2002. Perceived organizational support: A review of the literature. Journal of Applied Psychology, 87, 698.
- RHOADES, L., EISENBERGER, R. & ARMELI, S. 2001. Affective commitment to the organization: The contribution of perceived organizational support. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 86, 825.
- RICHTER, A. & KOCH, C. 2004. Integration, differentiation and ambiguity in safety cultures. *Safety Science*, 42, 703-722.
- RINGLE, C. M., WENDE, S. & WILL, A. 2005. SmartPLS Release: 2.0 (beta). Hamburg, Germany: SmartPLS.
- ROTHENBERG, S., PIL, F. K. & MAXWELL, J. 2001. Lean, green, and the quest for superior environmental performance. *Production and Operations Management*, 10, 228-243.
- RUNDMO, T. 2000. Safety climate, attitudes and risk perception in Norsk Hydro. *Safety Science*, 34, 47-59.
- RUSSO, M. V. & FOUTS, P. A. 1997. A resource-based perspective on corporate environmental performance and profitability. *Academy of Management Journal*, 40, 534-559.
- SAMSON, D. & TERZIOVSKI, M. 1999. The relationship between total quality management practices and operational performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 17, 393-409.
- SARKIS, J., GONZALEZ-TORRE, P. & ADENSO-DIAZ, B. 2010. Stakeholder pressure and the adoption of environmental practices: The mediating effect of training. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 163-176.
- SEO, D. C. 2005. An explicative model of unsafe work behavior. Safety Science, 43, 187-211.
- SEXTON, J. B., HELMREICH, R., PRONOVOST, P. & THOMAS, E. 2003. Safety Climate Survey. Boston, MA: Institute for Healthcare Improvement.
- SHANNON, H. S., MAYR, J. & HAINES, T. 1997. Overview of the relationship between organizational and workplace factors and injury rates. *Safety Science*, 26, 201-217.
- SHRIVASTAVA, P. 1995a. Environmental technologies and competitive advantage. *Strategic Management Journal*, 16, 183-200.

- SHRIVASTAVA, P. 1995b. The role of corporations in achieving ecological sustainability. Academy of Management Review, 20, 936-960.
- SMALLMAN, C. & JOHN, G. 2001. British directors perspectives on the impact of health and safety on corporate performance. Safety Science, 38, 227-239.
- SNIR, E. M. 2001. Liability as a catalyst for product stewardship. Production and Operations Management, 10, 190-206.
- STARIK, M. & RANDS, G. P. 1995. Weaving an integrated web: multilevel and multisystem perspectives of ecologically sustainable organizations. *Academy of Management Journal*, 20, 908-935.
- SUBRAMONY, M. 2009. A meta-analytic investigation of the relationship between HRM bundles and firm performance. *Human Resource Management*, 48, 745-768.
- SULZER-AZAROFF, B. 1978. Behavioral ecology and accident prevention. *Journal of Organizational Behavior Management*, 2, 11-44.
- SUN, L. Y., ARYEE, S. & LAW, K. S. 2007. High-performance human resource practices, citizenship behavior, and organizational performance: A relational perspective. Academy of Management Journal, 50, 558-577.
- TANAKA, J. S. 1987. "How Big Is Big Enough?": Sample size and goodness of fit in structural equation models with latent variables. *Child Development*, 58, 134-146.
- TANG, Z., HULL, C. E. & ROTHENBERG, S. 2012. How corporate social responsibility engagement strategy moderates the CSR-financial performance relationship. *Journal of Management Studies*, 49, 1274-1303.
- TAUBITZ, M. A. 2010. Lean, Green and Safe: Integrating safety into lean, green and sustainable movement *Professional Safety*, 55, 39-46.
- THOMPSON, R. C., HILTON, T. F. & WITT, L. A. 1998. Where the safety rubber meets the shop floor: A confirmatory model of management influence on workplace safety. *Journal of Safety Research*, 29, 15-24.
- THOUMY, M. & VACHON, S. 2012. Environmental projects and financial performance: Exploring the impact of project characteristics. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 28-34.
- VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2006a. Extending green practices across the supply chain: The impact of upstream and downstream integration. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 26, 795-821.
- VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2006b. Green project partnership in the supply chain: The case of the package printing industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 14, 661-671.
- VASTAG, G. 2004. Revisiting ISO 14000 diffusion: A new "look" at the drivers of certification. *Production and Operations Management*, 13, 260-267.
- VECCHIO-SADUS, A. M. & GRIFFITHS, S. 2004. Marketing strategies for enhancing safety culture. *Safety Science*, 42, 601-619.
- VREDENBURGH, A. G. 2002. Organizational safety:: Which management practices are most effective in reducing employee injury rates? *Journal of Safety Research*, 33, 259-276.
- WOLF, F. G. 2001. Operationalizing and testing normal accident theory in petrochemical plants and refineries. *Production and Operations Management*, 10, 292-305.
- ZACHARATOS, A., BARLING, J. & IVERSON, R. D. 2005. High-performance work systems and occupational safety. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90, 77.
- ZWETSLOOT, G. & MARREWIJK, M. 2004. From quality to sustainability. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 55, 79-82.

### Appendix II-A: Survey Items

Constructs and their Scale Items*	Mean	S.D.
Safety Culture (SC)		
To what extent does your plant exhibit each of the following organizational characteristics? (1=n	ot at all, 7=g	great
extent)	-	
SC-1: Senior management listens to and cares about employees' safety concerns.	6.24	0.89
SC-2: The plant's management is driving the workforce to be a safety-centered organization.	6.16	0.88
SC-3: The plant's management acts upon the employees' suggestions regarding safety	5.93	0.99
matters.	5.19	1.33
SC-4: The plant's employees encourage each other to report any safety concerns they might	Dropped	
have.	Dropped	
SC-5: Employees' safety is constantly reinforced as a priority.	5.26	0.99
SC-6: The plant's management knowingly compromise safety concerns for productivity.		
SC-7: The plant's employees adhere to the established safety rules and guidelines.		
Safety Practices (S PR)		
To what extent has your plant implemented the following practices as a means to reducing safety	incidents/	
accidents? (1=not at all, 7=great extent)		
S PR-1: Taking input from all stakeholders on hazard identification and assessment.	5.59	1.12
S PR-2: Taking input from all stakeholders on incident/accident reduction methods.	5.52	1.16
S PR-3: Reporting incidents/accidents without blame.	Dropped	
S PR-4: Open-ended discussion groups (discuss openly about incidents/accidents).	5.39	1.33
S PR-5: Safety training for employees.	5.75	1.11
S PR-6: Statistical analysis of incidents/accidents data.	5.18	1.59
S PR-7: System redesign for safety (restructuring the functioning of equipment, technology,	5.71	1.12
procedures, etc.)		
Environmental Practices (E PR)		
Over the last two years, to what extent has your plant invested resources (money, time, and peop	le) in progra	ams
in the following areas? (1=not at all, 7=great extent)		
E PR-1: ISO 14001 certification.	Dropped	
E PR-2: Pollution prevention.	Dropped	
E PR-3: Recycling of materials.	4.88	1.55
E PR-4: Life cycle analysis.	2.68	1.64
E PR-5: Waste reduction.	4.57	1.59
Safety Performance (S PE)		
Over the last two years, to what extent have the following safety performance indicators changed	1? (1=much	
worse, 7=much better)		
S PE-1: Frequency of incidents/accidents.	5.21	1.08
S PE-2: Severity of incidents/accidents.	5.26	1.15
S PE-3: Understanding of incidents/accidents.	5.39	0.98
S PE-4: Awareness of possible incidents/accidents.	5.56	0.90
S PE-5: Impact of incidents/accidents.	5.27	1.05
Environmental Performance (E PE)		
Over the last two years, to what extent has your plant's environmental performance changed in the	he following	5
areas? (1=much worse, 7=much better)	-	-
E PE-1: Air emissions.	4.63	0.89
E PE-2: Waste water generation.	4.65	1.01
E PE-3: Solid waste disposal.	Dropped	
E PE-4: Consumption of hazardous/harmful/toxic material.	4.78	1.04
E PE-5: Energy consumption.	5.04	1.07
Financial Performance (F PE)		
Rate the following plant's performance over the last two years against the industry average. (1=v	well below.	
7=well above)	- · · 7	
F PE-1: Average returns on investments.	4.57	1.15
F PE-2: Average profits.	4.39	1.33
F PE-3: Profit growth.	4.40	1.25

# **Chapter III**

## Chapter III. Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk: Strategies, Predictors, and Outcomes<sup>1</sup>

#### 1. Introduction

Over the years, suppliers' questionable practices with regard to sustainabilityrelated<sup>2</sup> issues such as climate change, labor regulations, and workplace safety standards are increasingly projected to the buying organizations (Jiang, 2009a). The buyers<sup>3</sup> caught up in such social or ecological scandals face stakeholders' criticism and adverse publicity followed by substantial recalls and litigation costs, market share and revenue losses, and reputational damage (Parmigiani et al., 2011). At the same time, with the revolutionary growth of the social media industry making bad news travel globally at the speed of a tweet, the adverse consequences of such events has increased dramatically (Eccles et al., 2007). Several anecdotes from the literature suggest that trying to separate the actions of suppliers from their responsibility does not protect the buyers – as popular brand powerhouses like Nike, Nestlé, BP, and Apple have discovered the hard way over the past two decades. The study by Lefevre et al. (2010) shows that buyers, on average, face 12% reduction in their market capitalization after a sustainability-related problem is detected within their supply chains. Thus, suppliers' ecological or social misconducts pose an inherent risk to buyers, coined as "supplier sustainability risk" (Foerstl et al., 2010).

Surprisingly, however, supply chain risk management (SCRM) literature has largely neglected this type of risk (Seuring and Müller, 2008), except for a few recent studies (Foerstl et al., 2010, Hofmann et al., 2014, Klassen and Vereecke, 2012).

As with any other type of risk, buyers' ability to manage supplier sustainability risk is critical to their long-term competitiveness (Eccles et al., 2007). In doing so,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> An abridged and refined version of this chapter has been submitted for publication to Journal of Supply Chain Management.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Throughout this paper, we use the term 'sustainability' to refer to ecological and social aspects of an organization's operations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Throughout this paper, we use the term "buyer" to refer to the buying organization contracting work to a "supplier" organization. The term "supply manager" refers to a middle manager in the buying organization, who is responsible for managing the relationship with one or multiple groups of supplier organizations.

anecdotal evidence suggests that buyers may apply *sustainable supplier development* initiatives, such as *monitoring* the suppliers (like Ford and GM) (Zhu et al., 2007) or *collaborating* with them (like IKEA) (IKEA, 2012) to improve their social or ecological performance and mitigate the risk. In certain cases, buyers like Staples may take extreme measures and avoid the risk all together by *phasing out* the supplier (Grant and Ando, 2008). On the other hand, the re-emergence of events such as the massive collapse of Rana Plaza in Bangladesh in April 2013, killing more than 1,100 workers at the textile sweatshops which were suppliers to international brands including Primark, Bon Marche, and Joe Fresh suggests that, in some cases, buyers simply accept the risk and practice damage control by *taking no actions* and addressing the risk after its occurrence (Reuter et al., 2010). The question remains as to "*Why, how and under what conditions buyers respond to supplier sustainability risks within their supply chains?*".

To answer this question, this paper aims to take a step toward building a theory of supplier sustainability risk management. More specifically, given the crucial role of supply managers as the decision makers in the supply chain context (Ellis et al., 2010, Tazelaar and Snijders, 2013), we focus on the strategies they undertake at the operational level (Pagell and Gobeli, 2009). Since supplier sustainability risk is an interorganizational phenomenon, we adopt the exchange relationship between a buyer and a specific supplier as the context and the buyer–supplier transaction as the unit of analysis in our study. The focal decision is the supply managers' decision to select among four abovementioned risk management strategies.

We draw on resource dependence (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003) and agency/management control (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979) theories to explain different responses to supplier sustainability risk. Each of these theoretical lenses provides valid, yet incomplete, insights into the factors that affect the supply managers' choice. The agency and management control theories explain how the uncertainties and risks inherent in a buyer-supplier relationship affect the control mechanisms used by supply managers to mitigate the supplier sustainability risks at suppliers' facilities. The resource dependence perspective, however, emphasizes the supply managers' ability to implement the intended control mechanism, as their choice may be constrained given the dependence structure of their relationship with the other party. Integrating these different foci, our conceptual framework suggests that supply managers' response to supplier sustainability risks is contingent upon their perceived risk as well as the level of buyer and supplier dependence on each other. We further extend this framework to include the slack resources available to supply managers and how it can shift their choices toward options which require fewer resources for implementation.

The contributions of this paper to the supply chain management literature are three-fold. First, despite the growing number of studies in sustainable supply chain management and supply chain risk management areas, their literature streams have unfolded largely independent of one another with few exceptions (Cousins et al., 2004, Kocabasoglu et al., 2007) and the issues that exist at their intersection have remained largely unexplored (Krysiak, 2009). Specifically, the majority of studies on supply chain risks tend to address two general categories of supply risk, i.e., coordination risks (Souza et al., 2004) and disruption risks (Craighead et al., 2007). The present paper contributes to these literatures by explicitly focusing on supplier sustainability risk and the contingent operational-level strategies used to manage it.

The second contribution of this study is to the sustainable supply chain management (SSCM) literature. Whereas prior studies have established that supply chain characteristics affect buyers' approach toward SSCM, the mechanisms underlying such relationships, explaining why and how they exist, have not been investigated. For instance, Awaysheh & Klassen (2010) suggest that product visibility as well as distance from suppliers are positively related to the use of supplier socially-responsible initiatives. Another example is Klassen & Vereecke's (2012) case study which proposes that monitoring or collaborative initiatives with regard to social issues in supply chains are prompted by increased accountability to stakeholders and by comparing actual social performance with regulatory, customer, and community expectations. Our study, however, suggests that such initiatives are basically employed as risk mitigation strategies and explains the conditions under which each of them is more likely to be used.

Third, by integrating the agency/management control and resource dependence theories, this paper responds to the ever-growing need for drawing on established organizational theories to describe and predict supply chain phenomena (Ketchen and Hult, 2007a, Sarkis et al., 2011).

The following section begins by reviewing the literature on supplier sustainability risk management and positioning the paper within the wider SCRM literature. Section 3 provides the theoretical underpinnings of the proposed conceptual framework and its related propositions. We conclude by discussing the paper's implications and limitations in Section 4.

#### 2. Supply Chain Risks and Sustainability

Supply chain risk management literature is generally concerned with "pure risks" within supply chains which, in contrast to "speculative risks", involve the situations where no gain relative to the starting position is possible as the outcome of the risk event (Yates and Stone, 1992). In other words, supply chain risk refers to the possibility of unpredictable events resulting in negative consequences for the firm under investigation in a supply chain (Narasimhan and Talluri, 2009). In an attempt to differentiate supply chain risks from other adverse events in the business, early studies on SCRM developed various supply chain risk typologies or taxonomies based on risk sources (i.e., the events through which supply chain risks materialize) or consequences (Manuj and Mentzer, 2008, Oke and Gopalakrishnan, 2009).

A review of the literature indicates that studies focusing on the upstream supply chain risks (i.e., supply risks as opposed to demand risks) are traditionally concerned with the events negatively affecting the interconnected flows of material, information, and funds in supply chains (Sodhi et al., 2012). Such risks are classified into two categories: (i) coordination risks, materializing through incoordination between supply and demand, such as delays, forecast inaccuracies, or procurement failures (Souza et al., 2004), and (ii) disruption risks, materializing through unexpected internal or external process failures or disruptions, such as equipment malfunctions, strikes, or natural hazards (Kleindorfer and Saad, 2005). In contrast, "supplier sustainability risks"<sup>4</sup> (Foerstl et al., 2010) materialize through adverse stakeholder reactions (Hofmann et al., 2014) and occur when buyers are held accountable by customers, NGOs, or other salient

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Throughout this paper, we maintain the term "supplier sustainability risk" as it has already been used within the SCRM literature. Alternatively, these risks could also be coined as reputational risks (Jiang et al., 2009; Roehrich et al, 2014) because of their detrimental direct effects on the buyer's reputation.

stakeholders (Mitchell et al., 1997) for their suppliers' misconducts related to natural environment or social communities (Amaeshi et al., 2008, Parmigiani et al., 2011).

Our review of SCRM literature indicates that supplier sustainability risk is an emerging notion with different scopes and definitions. It was first identified by Cousins et al. (2004) as the driver of environmentally-oriented supplier management initiatives to avoid reputational loss. However, Foerstl et al. (2010) were the first to coin the term and define it as "the risk of corporate reputational damage to the buying firm, caused by supplier [sustainability-related] misconduct[s]" (p. 118). Klassen & Vereecke (2012), further, focused on the social sustainability risks within supply chains and highlighted their adverse effects on buyers' costs and revenues. Only recently, however, a concise conceptualization of supplier sustainability risk based on a theory-driven approach was provided by Hofmann et al. (2014), which lays the basis for our study (p. 168):

"[a sustainability-related] condition or a potentially occurring event", located within a buyer's supply base, that "may provoke harmful stakeholder reactions."

Based on this literature, we suggest that the source-consequence mechanism underlying a specific supplier sustainability risk is as follows: a sustainability-related problem occurs in buyer's supply base, this event is detected and noticed by concerned stakeholders, and stakeholders regard it as illegitimate and unacceptable and hold the buyer responsible for the event. As such, supplier sustainability risk is the cumulative likelihood of these events and their consequences (Roehrich et al., 2014). Hence, the level of supplier sustainability that buyers face depends not only the probability and immediate consequences of suppliers' misconducts, but also on other factors such their size and visibility in the marketplace (Bowen, 2002), location of their supply base (Reuter et al., 2010), salience of concerned stakeholders (Parmigiani et al., 2011), and their industry (Neef, 2004).

#### 2.1. Managing supplier sustainability risk

The purpose of supply chain risk management is to address the likelihood of supply chain risks and their consequences by analyzing the risk sources and implementing proactive or reactive risk management strategies to protect the organizations from such unexpected events and their adverse effects (Yates and Stone, 1992, Ritchie and Brindley, 2007). Although they may try to do this in a number of ways, their responses would fit into three generic categories of risk management strategies: avoidance, acceptance, and mitigation (Ritchie and Brindley, 2007, Blome and Schoenherr, 2011).

In an attempt to develop a new concept for supplier sustainability risk management, Hofmann et al. (2014) introduced four functions which fully integrated stakeholder management into the buyer's supply chain risk management system: (i) stakeholder involvement function to identify those stakeholders that are most important to buyer's specific business environment, (ii) translator function to process implicit stakeholder expectations and explicate them into more clear assessment criteria, (iii) supplier management function to convert these criteria into strict operating instructions and enforce them throughout the supply chain, and (iv) stakeholder management function to interact with the stakeholders and present them with the buyer's efforts toward meeting their expectations. The focus of this study is on operational-level actions which supply managers undertake to manage the supplier sustainability risk within their supply base. So, the scope of our risk management framework is limited to the actions pursued by the supplier management function in Hofmann et al.'s framework. Foerstl et al. (2010) suggest that such actions include *supplier phase-out* and *sustainable supplier development*.

#### 2.1.1. Supplier phase-out (risk avoidance)

By implementing supplier phase-out, supply managers terminate their relationship with their incumbent risky supplier and switch to another alternative supplier with a clean sustainability record. Hence, supplier phase-out fits into the category of risk avoidance strategies which entails the elimination of risk by withdrawing from the risky situations (Jüttner et al., 2003). In other words, it is geared toward driving the risk event probability to zero by removing the risk source. Some organizations immediately inhibit further business undertakings with suppliers by blacklisting them in their order placement system once a misconduct is detected at their facilities (Reuter et al., 2010). For example, in June 2013, Wilmar International Ltd., the world's largest palm oil trader, decided to

cut ties with all Indonesian suppliers who were found to clear land for cultivation with illegal fires (Yun et al., 2013).

#### 2.1.2. Sustainable supplier development (risk mitigation)

Sustainable supplier development (SSD) initiatives fit into the risk mitigation category (Ritchie and Brindley, 2007). Such initiatives are defined as the buyers' plans and strategies to integrate the ecological and social issues into supply management process to improve the ecological and social performance of the upstream suppliers (Bai and Sarkis, 2010, Krause et al., 2007). Therefore, they are the buyers' means for reducing the probability of supplier sustainability risk through enhancing supplier's ecological and social performance. The practices and activities that collectively define SSD can be classified in two categories: monitoring-based and collaboration-based initiatives (Vachon and Klassen, 2008, Zhao et al., 2007).

Monitoring-based SSD also known "buyer-to-supplier" initiatives, as mechanisms (Jiang, 2009a), focus on assessing the processes or actual performance of suppliers against specific characteristics or particular performance criteria to verify their compliance with the requirements. As part of this approach, buyers usually gather and process suppliers' information, set proper criteria, and assess the sustainability-related aspects of incoming goods and the suppliers that provide them through surveys and audits, and ask suppliers to report on different dimensions of their social and ecological performance (Seuring and Müller, 2008, Bowen et al., 2001). These are usually enforced through written social/ecological requirements within contracts (Neef, 2004, Ciliberti et al., 2008), requiring third-party certifications (Morali and Searcy, 2013), or imposing the buyers' codes of conducts on the suppliers (Andersen and Skjoett-Larsen, 2009). For instance, Bristol-Myers Squibb, IBM, and Xerox encouraged their Chinese suppliers to develop environmental management systems consistent with ISO 14001 and Ford, GM, and Toyota required their suppliers to obtain ISO 14000 certification (Zhu et al., 2007). In 2010, IBM extended its Social and Environmental Management System to its first-tier suppliers, requiring them to diffuse the same program to the sub-suppliers involved in the IBM supply chain (Friedman, 2013).

However, collaboration-based SSD initiatives, also known as "peer-to-peer"

mechanisms (Jiang, 2009a), aim at improving the suppliers' ecological and social performance through partnership, i.e., direct interaction with them and implementation of jointly-developed ecological and social solutions (Golicic and Smith, 2013). They encompass a broad range of activities like providing training programs to suppliers, compensating them for the costs associated with their compliance (e.g., joint investments in environmental friendly equipment), and sponsoring ecological or social summits to encourage the suppliers to share their information and experience (Vereecke and Muylle, 2006). For example, IKEA tries to change the mind-set of its suppliers particularly in developing countries by improving their knowledge and understanding of sustainability-related issues. It also provides financial supports to its suppliers in the form of a loan for their sustainability-related capital-intensive investments, such as a building wastewater treatment plants at their sites (Spence and Bourlakis, 2009).

#### 2.1.3. No proactive actions: damage control (risk acceptance)

In addition to the proactive strategies suggested by Foerstl et al. (2010), we also include risk acceptance as a reactive strategy that buyers might use to manage supplier sustainability risk. Taking on this strategy, supply managers simply retain the risk by taking no preventive actions, budgeting for damage control, and dealing with the potential risk event should it happen at some point (Sodhi and Tang, 2012). A notable example is BP's oil spill case in Gulf of Mexico in 2010, causing an explosion that killed 11 of the 126 crew members and an oil spill that took 87 days to get under control. Although BP's chief contractors, Transocean, which owned the mobile drilling rig, and Halliburton, which was responsible for the cementing operations, shared the blame for many of the fatal mistakes, BP was ultimately responsible for the accident and paid close to \$40 billion in fines, cleanup costs, and settlements, with an additional \$16 billion due to the Clean Water Act (Broder, 2011).

#### 3. Conceptual Framework for Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk

As mentioned in the previous section, there is no one way to manage the supplier sustainability risk and supply managers may select from amongst a range of risk management strategies. Based on resource dependence (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003) and agency/management control (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979) theories, we suggest that
two major predictors drive the supply managers' strategy choice: the level of supplier sustainability risk they perceive as well as the dependence dynamics of the specific buyer-supplier relationship.

Figure III-1. Conceptual framework



We further propose that the risk management strategies improve buyers' financial performance directly or indirectly through their enhanced organizational reputation. Finally, as illustrated in Figure III-1, we suggest that selecting desirable strategies that fit the external environment contingencies (i.e., risk and dependence) and the positive performance and reputational outcomes significantly depend on the slack resources available to implement those strategies.

#### **3.1.** Theoretical lenses

#### 3.1.1. Agency and management control theories

Agency and management control theories (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979) generally provide a useful framework for looking into the buyer and supplier interactions in supply chain context and understanding the buyers' responses to supply chain risks (Zsidisin and Ellram, 2003, Ketchen and Hult, 2007a). In this framework, the buyer serves as the principal delegating work to the agent, i.e., the supplier. Both agent and principal are motivated by self-interest (i.e., are opportunistic) and seek to receive as much possible utility with the least possible expenditure (Davis et al., 1997). These theories are concerned with two kinds of agent opportunistic behaviors that a principal

must control: pre-contractual opportunism, aka "adverse selection" (e.g., withholding and misrepresentation of information) and post-contractual opportunism, aka "moral hazard" (e.g., shirking and cheating behaviors) (Lassar and Kerr, 1996, Williamson, 1979).

Control is generally defined as any process used by an individual, a group, or an organization to affect or determine what another individual, group, or organization does under different situations (Tannenbaum, 1968). According to agency and management control theories, principals can take three distinct control mechanisms to keep their agents' behaviors in check: output, behavior, and input control mechanisms (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979). Output controls focus on agents' performance, i.e. evaluating it against predetermined targets and giving them the authority to choose the means to achieve those goals (Ouchi, 1979). Behavior controls, on the other hand, concentrate on the transformation process of agents' work, i.e., the processes, tasks, and activities that are expected to lead to their performance outcomes (Ouchi, 1977). Although output controls mainly motivate agents through the use of incentives and behavior controls ensure of their motivation through close supervision, both mechanisms are centred on evaluation and feedback processes (Gencturk and Aulakh, 1995). However, input controls emerge from a socialization process between principal and agent, which results in shared beliefs and values (Patzelt and Shepherd, 2008). They influence the agents' behaviours in a way that their commitment to the relationship is enhanced, and adjust the antecedent conditions of their performance (i.e., their knowledge, skills, abilities, values, and motives) to ensure that they have the required ability to perform well (Snell, 1992, Ouchi, 1979).

The focus of this study is on the post-contractual stage, where suppliers' misconducts in terms of labor standards, ecological issues, or other sustainability-related concerns giving rise to supplier sustainability risks are considered as opportunistic behaviors which need to be controlled by the buyers (Moore, 2001, Jiang, 2009a). The premises of agency and control theories apply to such situations because: (i) suppliers may not share the same interests as the buyers (goal incongruence) and might have different risk preferences, (ii) there is information asymmetry between two parties, and (iii) there are costs associated with buyers' verification of suppliers' behaviors (Eisenhardt, 1989). A control mechanism, here, refers to any process or initiative used by

buyers to influence the behavior and performance of suppliers to decrease the likelihood of suppliers' opportunistic behaviors, i.e., their sustainability-related misconducts (Handley and Benton, 2013).

The more efficient these behaviors are controlled, the less supplier sustainability risk the buyer will face. Hence, control mechanisms perform as risk mitigation strategies. Output controls mitigate supplier sustainability risks by assessing suppliers' social and ecological performance against a set of pre-specified objectives such as a code of conduct. Behavior controls, however, reduce the risk by close monitoring and evaluation of suppliers' actions over time and providing constructive feedbacks for correcting the deviations (Handley and Benton, 2013). Hence, in this study, the combination of output and behavior control mechanisms resembles the monitoring-based SSD initiatives (Vachon and Klassen, 2006a, Golicic and Smith, 2013). In contrast, when buyers use input controls, they decrease the probability of suppliers' misconducts by contributing to suppliers' awareness building, encouraging them to promote a socially and ecologically responsible culture, and helping them develop related capabilities rather than a specific short-term outcome (Ciliberti et al., 2008). Therefore, in this study, the input control mechanisms are exemplified by the collaboration-based SSD initiatives (Golicic and Smith, 2013, Vachon and Klassen, 2008).

#### 3.1.2. Resource dependence theory

The dependence concept in supply chains has been argued to be one of the key attributes influencing supply chain management issues such as buyer-supplier relationship (Cox, 2004), supplier development (Carr et al., 2008), and supply chain performance (Gulati and Sytch, 2007). According to resource dependence theory, organizations are not self-sufficient and depend on each other for resources, and such interdependency introduces uncertainty into their decision-making environment (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003). As a result, they adjust their structure and behaviors to acquire and maintain their required resources and try to reduce their environmental uncertainties and dependencies by means of control mechanisms (Hillman et al., 2009). Resource dependence theory predicts that the type of such control mechanism depends on the level and nature of dependence they develop, and the relative power of all players (Pfeffer and

Salancik, 2003). Consequently, in a supply chain context, we expect that the buyers' risk management strategies applied as control mechanisms to deal with the supplier sustainability risks would depend on the buyer-supplier dependence structure of the specific relationship (Cox, 2004).

#### **3.2.** Risk management predictors

In order to develop a series of propositions linked to the front-end of the proposed conceptual framework, an approach composed of a series of systematic steps is needed. First, the concepts of perceived risk and buyer-supplier dependence structure are defined and presented in this section. These two concepts are then pulled together in Sections 3.3 and 3.4 to develop a series of contingency-based propositions.

#### 3.2.1. Supply managers and their perception of risk

As discussed earlier, supplier sustainability risk is the cumulative likelihood and consequence of a series of events: occurrence of a sustainability-related misconduct in buyers' supply base, stakeholders' detection of the misconduct, and stakeholders' attribution of the misconduct responsibility to the buyers. There is no doubt that buyers' response to this cumulative risk may depend on many different factors, including the nature of suppliers' misconducts, their size, and ownership (Klassen and Vereecke, 2012), stakeholders' salience (Parmigiani et al., 2011), buyer's orientation toward sustainability (Pagell and Wu, 2009), the relevant laws and regulations in place (Jiang, 2009a), and the individual attributes of the decision makers, such as their experience as well as their sustainability-related values (Ellis et al., 2011).

However, behavioral research on decision-making in uncertain situations has shown that the effect of such factors on the decision outcome is mediated through the decision makers' perception of risk (Pablo et al., 1996, March and Shapira, 1987). More specifically, management responses to supplier sustainability risks are essentially not motivated by completely objective evaluations of risks but by their subjective risk perceptions (Ellis et al., 2010, Kocabasoglu et al., 2007), defined as their assessment of the risk inherent in a situation (Sitkin and Weingart, 1995). In the same vein, there are studies suggesting that one of the prevalent drivers of implementation of SSD initiatives by buyers is their managers' perception of the risks involved (Zhu and Sarkis, 2007, Walker and Jones, 2012). Particularly, supply managers have been found to play a critical role in developing management systems (Angell and Klassen, 1999b) and to be the most significant driving force of extending sustainability-related initiatives throughout the supply chains (Ehrgott et al., 2011, Carter and Jennings, 2004).

Therefore, in this study, we focus on the level of supplier sustainability risk (the cumulative risk) perceived by supply managers as one of the major predictors of their choice amongst the four risk management strategies. In addition, since this study focuses on how the perceived supplier sustainability risk - rather than its determinants - influences the decision outcome, we do not differentiate between the risks associated with social and ecological aspects of sustainability.

#### *3.2.2. Buyer-supplier dependence structure*

Based on Cox et al.'s (2003) seminal work on supply chain dependence structure, there are four dependence regimes that buyers and suppliers can find themselves in: (1) *buyer dominance*, which implies that supplier is highly dependent on buyer and this is not reciprocated by the latter, (2) *interdependence*, which occurs when both buyer and supplier are highly dependent on each other, (3) *supplier dominance*, which is precisely the reverse situation of buyer dominance, and (4) *independence*, which indicates a situation where both buyer and supplier have little or no dependence on the other party.

Our conceptual framework suggests that the strategies selected by supply managers to deal with supplier sustainability risk heavily depend on the dependence regime of the specific buyer-supplier relationship because it signifies the power of buyer in implementing the strategy.

## **3.3.** Managing supplier sustainability risk: buyer dominance or interdependence situations

High level of supplier dependence on the buyer has been shown to increase the buyer's relative power in the relationship, enabling it to significantly influence the actions and intentions of the supplier (Benton and Maloni, 2005, Bastl et al., 2013). The dependent suppliers are more likely to cooperate with the buyers (Carr et al., 2008) and

to make changes to their production processes and product specifications to meet their requirements (Hartley and Choi, 1996). More specifically, recent studies suggest that high supplier dependence is a traditional requirement for supplier's compliance to buyer's specific social and ecological standards and requirements (Locke et al., 2009, Pedersen, 2009). It follows that supply managers can mitigate the supplier sustainability risk either through monitoring-based or collaboration-based SSD initiatives when supplier is highly dependent on buyer, i.e., in "buyer dominance" or "interdependence" situations.

In these two situations, high level of supplier dependence translates into increased influence of the dominant buyers, allowing them to contractually set out socially or ecologically responsible conditions for suppliers (Cramer, 2008) and successfully implement their SSD strategies (Spence and Bourlakis, 2009, Pedersen, 2009, Hoejmose et al., 2013). As a result, suppliers will have to act in a responsible manner (Jenkins, 2006, Andersen and Skjoett-Larsen, 2009) or they will be excluded from the buyers' supply base (Perry and Towers, 2009, Gulati and Sytch, 2007). This conclusion is in line with Kraljic's (1983) strategic recommendation to buying organizations to exploit their full bargaining power so as to minimize the supply risks if they are the dominant player in the supply chain, or to get defensive and start looking for substitute material and suppliers if the supplier has the upper hand in the game. Hence, high supplier dependence is a precursor for implementing either of the SSD-based risk mitigation strategies.

P1: When supplier dependence on buyer is high (i.e., buyer dominance and interdependence situations), supply managers are more likely to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk through SSD initiatives rather than to avoid or to accept it (Cells A,B,E; Fig. III-2).

#### 3.3.1. Effect of perceived risk in buyer dominance situation

As outlined in P1, supply managers in a buyer dominance situation are more likely to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk either through monitoring-based or collaboration-based SSD initiatives rather than to avoid or to accept it. In this section, we draw on agency and management control theories to look into the effect of their perceived risk on their choice between these two risk mitigation strategies. Based on the agency theory, behavior and output control mechanisms are used when the agents' performance ambiguity and the environmental uncertainties are at a low level and when there is not a substantial incongruence between agent and principal goals (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1980, Rowe et al., 2012). These conditions reflect a situation where the decision makers perceive a low level of risk. For instance, the global fashion brand Zara faces a relatively low level of supplier sustainability risk because almost 70% of its suppliers are based in Europe (Ghemawat and Nueno, 2006). Therefore, it suffices to merely enforce its code of conduct throughout its supply chain (Inditex, 2013). In contrast, its US-based competitor, Gap Inc., with the majority of its suppliers operating in Asia, has to take further steps, like pursuing a stakeholder engagement strategy (Smith et al., 2011) or providing a \$20 million of capital to support fire safety improvements at supplier facilities (Gap Inc., 2013). Therefore, we can conclude that:

#### P1-a: In buyer dominance situations, supply managers are more likely to mitigate low level of perceived supplier sustainability risk through monitoring-based rather than collaboration-based SSD initiatives (Cell A; Fig. III-2).

As the level of perceived risk increases, monitoring-based controls will not be a viable option for supply managers (Ouchi, 1977) since this mechanism limits their span of control (e.g., limited number of audits conducted at suppliers sites) and increases the probability of suppliers' misconducts, and thereby amplifies supplier sustainability risk (Ouchi, 1979, Handley and Benton, 2013). In addition, even with these initiatives in place, supplier deception may emerge since supply managers, at best, can take a snapshot of what is happening at a suppliers' facilities but often do not explore why it is happening or how the situation can be improved. An exclusive reliance on this strategy may create a system in which suppliers' main objective is to pass the audits, rather than to address the substantive issues that are the focus of the audit (Jiang, 2009a, Roth et al., 2008). Hence, monitoring-based SSD initiatives are not suitable for risk mitigation if supply managers perceive a high level of supplier sustainability risk.

Input control mechanisms, however, are shown to be used in situations where high levels of complexity and uncertainty create a high risk situation for the principal (Ouchi, 1980). When the need for goal congruence between the principal and agent is high, in other words, when the probability of agent's opportunistic behavior is significant, employing input control mechanism is more appropriate (Rowe et al., 2012, Wilkins and Ouchi, 1983). In the same vein, when supply managers' perceived supply risk increases, they become more eager to develop closer relationships with their suppliers to deal with the uncertainty and risk because such relationships increase their social capital, promote effective communication, enhance the trust in their relationship, and improve suppliers' performance (Zsidisin and Ellram, 2003). Besides, suppliers are found to be more likely to perform in compliance with what buyers require in terms of sustainability issues when the buyers' governance efforts are toward persuasion and cooperation rather than threats and compulsion (Jiang, 2009a, Locke et al., 2009). Thereby, with collaboration-based initiatives in place, the high probability of suppliers' misconducts is more likely to decrease (Cousins and Menguc, 2006). In addition, buyers with a prior experience of reputational damage due to their suppliers' sustainabilityrelated misconducts shift toward more cooperative relationship with their suppliers to properly diffuse their concerns and values (Spence and Bourlakis, 2009). This can be the result of an increase in the risk they perceive. A notable example is Nike's new approach toward supplier management: establishing close relationships with fewer but more capable suppliers, through frequent communication, information sharing, and joint problem-handling. To improve suppliers' compliance with its code of conduct, Nike moved from a market relationship to a collaborative partnership where suppliers had a deeper and more secure association with Nike and internalized its sustainability-related values and practices (Lim and Phillips, 2008). More recently, it has decided to provide its suppliers with its own state-of-the-art screening tools, called bluesign technologies, that will allow them to select more sustainable dyes, detergents, and chemicals for use in the textile manufacturing process (Fellow, 2013). Therefore, we can conclude that:

P1-b: In buyer dominance situations, supply managers are more likely to mitigate high level of perceived supplier sustainability risk through collaboration-based rather than monitoring-based SSD initiatives (Cell B; Fig. III-2).

#### 3.3.2. Effect of perceived risk in interdependence situation

The interdependence between buyer and supplier is likely to result in their longterm relationship with permanent inter-organizational linkages in order to ensure stable flow of resources (Casciaro and Piskorski, 2005). It creates an environment which fosters partnership (Mentzer et al., 2000) and strategic alliance (McCarter and Northcraft, 2007). In general, the more mutually-dependent buyer and supplier are on each other, the more they will be willing to develop collaborative norms (Cai and Yang, 2008), i.e., to trust and commit resources (Lund-Thomsen and Lindgreen, 2013), meet frequently and share key information (Zacharia et al., 2011), and participate in joint planning and action (Gulati and Sytch, 2007). Besides, within an interdependent relationship, consequences of the risks associated with sustainability-related misconducts in supply chain can affect both buyer and supplier. Therefore, regardless of the level of supplier sustainability risk perceived, both parties will develop a mutual understanding of the importance of sustainability-related issues and will be more likely to mutually address the problems with a sense of common purpose (Hoejmose et al., 2013). Given this, we can conclude that buyer-supplier interdependence provides the ideal circumstances for the supply managers to pursue collaboration-based SSD initiatives to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk (Millington, 2008, Van Tulder et al., 2009).

P1-c: When both buyers and suppliers are highly dependent on each other (i.e., interdependence situation), supply managers are more likely to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk through collaboration-based rather than monitoring-based SSD initiatives, regardless of their perceived level of risk (Cell E; Fig, III-2).

## **3.4.** Managing supplier sustainability risk: independence or supplier dominance situations

In contrast to buyer dominance and interdependence situations, neither one of the two risk mitigation strategies can be effectively used when supplier dependence is low (Parmigiani et al., 2011), i.e., in supplier dominance or independence situations. In other words, buyers can only enforce sustainability-related requirements at their suppliers' facilities when they are in a good bargaining position and their threat to terminate the relationship will ensure that suppliers act according to their social and ecological expectations. When supplier dependence on the buyer is at a low level, however, the supply manager perceiving any level of supplier sustainability risk can neither shape or alter supplier's behaviors and practices nor can it use direct sanctions and threat of leaving to force the supplier to behave in a responsible manner (Pedersen and Andersen, 2006). This means that supply manager will normally have to either continue the

relationship with the supplier without initiating any actions with regard to social or ecological issues at the supplier facilities or phase out the supplier to avoid the supplier sustainability risk all together.

P2: When supplier dependence on buyer is low (i.e., supplier dominance or independence situations), supply managers are more likely to accept or avoid the supplier sustainability risk rather than to mitigate it (Cells C,D,F; Fig. III-2).

#### 3.4.1. Effect of perceived risk in independence situation

As outlined in P2, supply managers in independence situations cannot mitigate the supplier sustainability risk either through monitoring- or collaboration-based SSD initiatives when supplier is not highly dependent on the buyer (Carr et al., 2008). In such cases, they have to either phase out the supplier and avoid the risk or accept the risk and take no proactive actions. We suggest that for low levels of perceived risk, supply managers are more likely to take the "why bother" approach (Cousins et al., 2004), also named as "corporate self-responsibility" (Van Tulder et al., 2009), and suffice to comply with relevant sustainability-related laws and regulations and take no further actions. In other words, they would prefer to retain the relationship with the suppliers despite the risks associated with their misconducts and suffer the negative impacts if the risk materializes in future (risk acceptance).

P2-a: In independence situations, supply managers are more likely to accept low level of perceived supplier sustainability risk rather than avoid it (Cell C; Fig. III-2).

However, the most ultimate risk management strategy, risk avoidance, is employed when supply managers perceive a high level of risk while their firm (i.e., the buyer) can exert low or no influence over the supplier to mitigate it. In these situations, they decide to exclude the risk by breaking off the relationship with the supplier. For example, Staples Inc., the largest U.S. office supplies retailer, terminated an 11-year relationship with Asia Pulp and Paper (APP) in January 2008 because APP failed to improve its ecological performance and remained as one of the preferred targets for ecological activists' campaigns (Grant and Ando, 2008).

P2-b: In independence situations, supply managers are more likely to avoid high level of perceived supplier sustainability risk rather than accept it (Cell D; Fig.

#### *III-2)*.

#### 3.4.2. Effect of perceived risk in supplier dominance situation

Finally, in dominant supplier situations in which buyers are highly dependent on suppliers who, in turn, are aware that buyers have limited alternatives, suppliers are likely to become complacent and do not respond to buyers' demands and requirements (Handfield and Bechtel, 2002). In such situations, on the one hand, the increased level of buyer dependence diminishes buyers' ability to enforce either form of SSD initiatives (Awaysheh and Klassen, 2010), which in turn amplifies the ability of powerful suppliers to resist to adhere to their social and ecological responsibilities (Hoejmose et al., 2013).

Level of Perceived Risk	High	P1-b: Risk Mitigation Strategy (Collaboration-Based SSD) Cell B	P2-b: Risk Avoidance Strategy (Supplier Phase-Out) Cell D	P1-c: Risk Mitigation Strategy	P2-c: Risk Acceptance
	Low	P1-a: Risk Mitigation Strategy	P2-a: Risk Acceptance Strategy	(Collaboration-Based SSD)	(No Actions)
		(Monitoring-Based SSD) Cell A	(No Actions) Cell C	Cell E	Cell F
		Buyer Dominance	Independence	Interdependence	Supplier Dominance

Figure III-2. Supply manager's choice among risk management strategies

#### **Buyer-Supplier Dependence Structure**

On the other hand, buyers are locked into and held hostage to such a relationship where suppliers take the lead in establishing all relationship management policies (Narasimhan et al., 2009). In such a setting, buyers have limited room for manoeuvring and substituting suppliers with alternative sources to deal with the supplier sustainability risk (Wagner and Bode, 2008, New, 1996). Therefore, the buyers' scope for switching is reduced (Kim et al., 2008) and the only risk management strategy available to supply managers, regardless of the level of risk they perceive, will be to accept the risk and maintain the relationships with the suppliers as is.

P2-c: When buyer dependence on supplier is high and supplier dependence on buyer is low (i.e., supplier dominance situation), supply managers are more likely

to accept the supplier sustainability risk and take no action rather than to avoid it by phasing-out the supplier, regardless of their perceived level of risk (Cell F; Fig. III-2).

Figure III-2 provides a summary of the proposed relationships in Sections 3.3 and 3.4.

#### **3.5.** Effect of slack resources

As discussed in Section 3.3 and 3.4, perceived supplier sustainability risk is the primary factor to discriminate between two risk mitigation strategies in buyer dominance situation or between risk acceptance and risk avoidance strategies in independence situation. In addition, low level of supplier dependence restrains the supply managers' ability to mitigate the risk and shifts their choice toward risk acceptance or avoidance strategies. This situation combined with high level of buyer dependence leaves no choice for the supply manager but to accept the risk and take no actions. Finally, the mutual dependence of both partners on each other naturally forms their collaborative efforts and joint actions toward the risk situation.

In practice, however, buyers competing in the same industry with similar external dynamics such as stakeholders, supply bases, and buyer-supplier dependence structures appear to follow different risk management strategies. One explanation for this is that despite the similarities in their external environment, these organizations might differ in their resource endowments, especially the level of their organizational slack (Bowen et al., 2001, Voss et al., 2008). This is in line with Meszaros's (1999) study conclusions suggesting that managers utilize a form of threshold-based heuristic, namely "affordability heuristic" in their decision making, picking options that are not perceived to deteriorate their organizations' profitability. Therefore, the decision outcome of "which risk management strategy to adopt" may vary depending on the desired strategy to be affordable or not.

Based on Bourgeois' (1981) seminal definition, organizational slack is the cushion of actual or potential resources which is not consumed by the necessity of the continued daily operations of the organization and allows it to adapt successfully to the internal or external pressures and to initiate changes in strategy with respect to the

external environment. More specifically, it includes the resources available to the managers (in this case, supply managers) that enable them to adopt certain types of strategic actions (in this case, risk management strategies) to counter the external threats (in this case, the supplier sustainability risk) and to adjust to the required changes imposed by them (Sharma, 2000, Sharfman et al., 1988). Slack resources can take several forms including management time, excess skilled employees, discretionary budget, and unused capacity (Tan and Peng, 2003, Voss et al., 2008). These resources can ease the adoption of a proactive strategic behavior and influence managerial decision outcomes (Singh, 1986). For example, financial slack allows the managers to invest in initiatives such as risk management strategies with positive performance implications that do not have an immediate pay-off and require a longer investment horizon (George, 2005, Bowen, 2002). Such discretionary investments might have lower potential returns, but at the same time they are highly visible to the stakeholders and the media (Chiu and Sharfman, 2011).

To implement the proactive risk management strategies discussed in this paper (i.e., both SSD initiatives and supplier phase-out), supply managers may have to implement some changes in the scope and/or volume of their supplier management processes and activities. Thereby, carrying them out without a sizeable level of excess resources available to be devoted to such activities can be highly challenging for them. For example, conducting audits or training programs at overseas supplier facilities can be costly and time consuming. Supplier phase-out, too, comes with substantial switching costs. Beside costs and financial factors, personnel related factors such as competences and skills (Bowen et al., 2001) and commitment (Walker et al., 2008) play a major role in the failure or success of such initiative. Therefore, the type of strategy supply managers select may well be limited by the resources at their disposal. Organizational slack essentially helps them afford their intended response strategy to their perceived risks (Latham and Braun, 2009). If the risk management strategy entails a significant cost and engagement of resources (e.g., risk mitigation through collaboration-based SSD initiatives), supply managers with more slack are more capable of absorbing those costs and undertaking the required actions.

This argument is reinforced by a number of studies showing that slack resources

are the pre-requisite for the choices made by managers in favor of sustainability-related issues (Adams and Hardwick, 1998, Chiu and Sharfman, 2011, Sharma, 2000, Hofer et al., 2012), as well as initiating supplier development projects, exploring new supply markets, and training of the supply and purchasing personnel (Ogden et al., 2007). Particularly, Cousins et al. (2004) propose that the resources available to the purchasing functions for managing the ecological issues are the crucial enabler of their environment-related supplier management initiatives. Based on their framework, a high level of resources is associated with performing basic supplier development initiatives and forming collaborative relationships with the suppliers to improve their performance. However, lack of adequate resources forces the purchasing functions to either take a "why bother" approach and suffice to comply with relevant laws and regulations or, at the most, to do simple supplier monitoring activities. Hence, we conclude that:

P3: Slack resources moderate the relationships between the predictors of supplier sustainability risk management strategies and the selected strategy. Particularly, the proposed relationships in  $P1\sim2$  are contingent upon availability of slack resources to supply manager.

More specifically, if supply managers are constrained by the resources available to them for implementing their intended strategy, their choice of strategy will be shifted toward other strategies which require less budget and fewer resources (see Figure III-3). As a result,

P3-a: In buyer dominance situations where supply managers perceive a low level of supplier sustainability risk, they are more likely to accept the risk (rather than to mitigate it through monitoring-based SSD initiatives) when slack resources are not available to them compared to when they are available.

P3-b: In buyer dominance situations where supply managers perceive a high level of supplier sustainability risk, they are more likely to select any strategy other than collaboration-based SSD risk mitigation strategy when slack resources are not available to them compared to when they are available.

However, since buyer-supplier dependence structure remains constant regardless of the level of organizational slack available to supply managers, they cannot choose more affordable strategies which require higher levels of supplier dependence for implementation (i.e., risk mitigation strategies). Thus,

P3-c: In independence situations where supply managers perceive a high level of

supplier sustainability risk, they are more likely to accept the risk (rather than to phase out the supplier), when slack resources are not available to them compared to when they are available.

Nevertheless, unavailable slack resources in an interdependence situation may influence the supply managers' response to supplier sustainability risk in a different way because of the unique dynamics of the symmetric buyer-supplier dependence. In these relationships, both parties have already constrained their alternatives by making their exchange partner irreplaceable, or replaceable with very high switching costs (Oliver, 1990). In effect, they are both locked into the relationship, a situation which creates a joint tendency to show tolerance and flexibility in the relationship (Heide, 1994) and promotes strategies that ensure its continuance (Narasimhan et al., 2009, Williamson, 1983). Therefore, avoiding the supplier sustainability risk by switching to alternative suppliers will not be an option in such situations even if the supply managers do not have slack resources to mitigate the risk through collaborative initiatives.

On the other hand, joint dependence creates a culture of trust in the relationship where it is not rational for either party to behave opportunistically (Nyaga et al., 2010, Ketchen and Hult, 2007a). As such, implementing monitoring-based initiatives to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk becomes unnecessary (Zsidisin and Siferd, 2001), and even detrimental, to the trust culture and supplier's commitment to the relationship (Kwon and Suh, 2004). Therefore, when faced with shortage of slack resources to perform collaborative activities to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk, the supply managers will have no choice but to accept the risk and take no further actions.

P3-d: In interdependence situations, supply managers are more likely to accept the risk (rather than to mitigate it through collaboration-based SSD initiatives), when slack resources are not available to them compared to when they are available.

Figure III-3 presents a summary of the shifts in supply managers' choice among risk management strategies when slack resources for implementing the strategies suggested in Figure III-2 are not available.



Figure III-3. Supply manager's choice among risk management strategies (case of unavailable slack resources)

#### 3.6. Risk management outcomes

As demonstrated in Figure III-1, managing supplier sustainability risk has positive performance implications beyond risk reduction: the strategies selected based on the situation contingencies augment the buyers' financial performance directly or indirectly through enhancing their reputation.

The buyers' reputation relates to its generalized favourability among different groups of stakeholders (e.g., investors, employees, regulators, NGOs, and consumers) regarding various aspects of its activities, including its ecological and social responsibilities (Lange et al., 2011, Eccles et al., 2007). Thus, their reputation is enhanced when they are able to obtain stakeholders' support such as customer loyalty, endorsements from activist groups, legitimacy from the community, and favourable coverage from the media; and it is destroyed when stakeholders withdraw their support and they face adverse reactions including threats of legal action from regulators, threats of boycott from activists, threats of illegitimacy from the community, and threats of

exposure from the media (McWilliams et al., 2006, Gardberg and Fombrun, 2006).

As the stakeholders increasingly favor the organizations that are known for making extra efforts to be ecologically friendly and socially responsible, buyers' reputation is enhanced if they go beyond the required standards to improve their suppliers' social and ecological performance via monitoring-based or collaboration-based SSD initiatives (Ehrgott et al., 2013, Ehrgott et al., 2011). In addition, avoiding the supplier sustainability risk through termination of the relationship with the irresponsible suppliers sends a positive signal to the stakeholders, implying that the buyers are responsive to stakeholders' social and ecological concerns and are willing to go the extra mile to reduce waste and damage to the environment and be considerate toward their social responsibilities (Fombrun and Shanley, 1990). Although these strategies do not necessarily lead to consistently high sustainability standards throughout the buyers' supply base, they still can have a positive impact on their reputation because of the visible and significant resource commitments the buyers make for implementing them (Bai and Sarkis, 2010).

The enhanced positive reputation, in turn, acts as a safety net for the buyers, buffering them from future negative events and enabling them to easily bounce back (Rhee and Valdez, 2009). For example, it may lead the stakeholders to give the buyers the benefit of the doubt (Pfarrer et al., 2010) and reduce the damage from negative publicity during a crisis (Vanhamme and Grobben, 2009). It also provides an opportunity platform for their future growth as it shows their stakeholders that they are good citizens of the planet and society (Bhattacharya et al., 2009). Lastly, it has a positive direct effect on their economic and financial outcomes: it becomes a source of competitive advantage (Ehrgott et al., 2013) with positive effects on their cost of capital (Gardberg and Fombrun, 2006), return on assets (Deephouse, 2000), market value (Porter and Kramer, 2006), and profitability (Roberts and Dowling, 2002). It also helps them to charge premium prices for their products (Benjamin and Podolny, 1999), to attract employees of higher quality (Turban and Cable, 2003), and to succeed in their acquisitions (Saxton and Dollinger, 2004).

P4: Implementation of risk mitigation and avoidance strategies to deal with supplier sustainability risk is positively associated with buyers' financial

#### performance through enhancing their reputation.

Several studies in SSCM literature, such as Carter & Easton (2011), Gimenez et al. (2012), Golicic & Smith (2013), Green et al. (2012), Rao & Holt (2005), Vachon & Klassen (2008), Wang & Sarkis (2013), and Zhu & Sarkis (2004) have found that SSD initiatives have a positive impact on buyers' financial performance. Besides, the alignment of the risk management strategy with the level of perceived risk and the buyer-supplier dependence structure orchestrates the resources allocated to risk management strategies across diverse supplier groups. This, in turn, is expected to contribute to cost savings and, hence, improvements in financial performance. For example, the buyers can financially benefit if, when faced with low risk suppliers, they select the risk acceptance strategy and take no actions or, at the most, mitigate the risk through monitoring initiatives rather than investing in capital intensive collaboration-based programmes or phasing out the supplier. Therefore,

*P5:* Implementation of risk management strategies according to P1~2 is positively associated with buyers' financial performance.

#### 4. Discussion and Conclusion

Given the growing evidence of supplier misconducts in terms of sustainabilityrelated issues and their associated risks to the buyers, the dearth of studies in operations and supply chain management field looking into this phenomenon from a risk management perspective is surprising. Addressing this need, the current study focused on the choice supply managers face among different risk management strategies to deal with the supplier sustainability risks: whether to mitigate the risk by employing monitoringbased or collaboration-based SSD initiatives, to avoid the risk altogether by phasing out the supplier, or to accept the risk and decide to deal with the consequences should it materialize. Evidences from the business world discussed throughout the paper indicate that buyers take different paths to manage their supplier sustainability risk. But what are the factors that affect their choices? Is it a question of the level of risks threatening the buyers, or is it due to their available internal resources, or is it simply because of the way their organization is positioned within the supply chain? Are the managers' perceptions and characteristics influential in this setting? Since purchasing and supply management function has a boundary-spanning role in buying organizations and is influential in extending their sustainability ambitions to the suppliers (Krause et al., 2009), we specifically focused on supply managers as the decision makers in this study and introduced three different factors which together could explain why they might select diverging risk management strategies. These factors include supply managers' perceived risk, buyer-supplier dependence structure, and the slack resources available to supply managers for implementing their intended strategy.

Drawing on the resource dependence theory, we further argued that supply managers can employ risk mitigation strategies only if their company has a reasonable amount of influence over the suppliers, which is the case of high supplier dependence. If not, they would have to decide to take no actions if the supplier was the dominant party in the exchange relationship or if their level of perceived risk was low, and to phase out the supplier if they perceived a high level of risk. In addition, we used the agency and management control theories to explain the relationship between supply managers' level of perceived risk and their choice between collaboration-based and monitoring-based risk mitigation strategies when the supplier was highly dependent on the buyer. We suggested that in such cases, low levels of supply managers' perceived risk would result in enforcing monitoring-based risk mitigation strategy, whereas a more collaborative approach would be employed should the supply managers perceive high levels of risk. In addition, we discussed the effect of slack resources availability on the supply managers' choice amongst four risk management strategies.

On the practical level, this study provides useful tools for purchasing and supply management functions to manage supplier sustainability risks strategically. Only when companies can understand and manage such risks properly can they ensure that they have reduced the ecological and social impacts of their activities not only within the boundaries of their own organization, but across the whole supply chain. As the first stage, supply managers should be encouraged to rethink the way they manage their supply base from a sustainability point of view and to assess the potential sustainability risks associated with each of their suppliers. The next step would be for them to decide on the suitable strategy for managing the evaluated risks considering the powerdependence structure of the relationships with the suppliers. Finally, focal firms are required to support their purchasing and supply chain management functions by providing them with adequate resources to deploy their intended risk management strategies, particularly for cases which are perceived to be high risk.

In addition, we suggested that the supply managers' decisions were directly driven by their perceptions of the supplier sustainability risk. Buying organizations may foster improved decision-making by establishing sustainability-oriented purchasing policies and procedures that facilitate supply managers' translation of the information available to them into accurate risk assessments. Further, to create accurate views of the situation and to steer the risk management actions in the desired direction, buyers should also (i) employ appropriate training and information systems to promote the supply managers' knowledge regarding different aspects of supplier sustainability risk, such as the salient stakeholder pressures in their external environment, and (ii) establish performance evaluation and reward systems that provide incentives for supply managers to closely interact with suppliers to have a fairly accurate perception of their sustainability-related intentions and behaviors.

To advance this work, we recommend a number of avenues for future research. First, the proposed conceptual framework needs further validation through empirical research. An experimental study using scenarios seems appropriate as it would be difficult to find a fair number of companies functioning in each condition of the hypothesized matrices. Second, the propositions are limited to the operations strategy level and do not transcend to the corporate-level strategies toward reputational risk or brand management. For instance, some buyers have recently employed "stakeholder bridging" strategy and begun to actively approach and cooperate with critical NGO's and other salient stakeholders to reduce the stakeholder pressures, to enhance the legitimacy of their sustainability-related initiatives, to improve their sustainability risk management processes, and to be able to respond more effectively to their suppliers' misconducts (Foerstl et al., 2010, Matos and Hall, 2007). For example, DuPont partnered with Environmental Defense Fund in 2005 to ensure the responsible development of Nanoscale materials and to develop a tool to share information with stakeholders. The project also aimed at facilitating public understanding of the new technology and providing input for future government policy. These cooperative relationships provide independent third

party validation of buyers' claims of social and ecological performance and improve their image and credibility (GEMI-EDF, 2008).

Third, although supply managers' risk perception is considered as one of the major factors in their choice among management strategies, the determinants of this construct, such as supplier's size and ownership (Klassen and Vereecke, 2012), stakeholders' salience (Parmigiani et al., 2011), or supply managers' personal characteristics such as their risk propensity (Sitkin and Weingart, 1995) have not been included in the framework and can be explored in future studies. Finally, supply managers are human beings and their decisions are boundedly rational especially when making decisions in complex situations which involve risk and uncertainty within supply chains (Kahneman et al., 1982, Simon, 1979). The scope of this study, however, did not include the supply managers' biases and the simplifying heuristics they use to filter and assimilate the information when making decisions. Looking into these influential factors from a behavioral operations perspective is also a fruitful avenue for future research.

Finally, prior studies have considered trust as one of the crucial factors affecting different supply chain decisions and processes including information sharing (Özer et al., 2014), resource allocation (Pulles et al., 2014), collaboration (Nyaga et al., 2010), integration (Lockstroem et al., 2010), and commitment (Kwon and Suh, 2004), as well as supply chain performance (Johnston et al., 2004, Brinkhoff et al., 2015). Hence, looking into how the buyer's trust in supplier or vice versa can affect the decision making process proposed in our conceptual framework would be an interesting future research project.

#### 5. References

- ADAMS, M. & HARDWICK, P. 1998. An analysis of corporate donations: United Kingdom evidence. *Journal of Management Studies*, 35, 641-654.
- AMAESHI, K. M., OSUJI, O. K. & NNODIM, P. 2008. Corporate social responsibility in supply chains of global brands: A boundaryless responsibility? Clarifications, exceptions and implications. *Journal* of Business Ethics, 81, 223-234.
- ANDERSEN, M. & SKJOETT-LARSEN, T. 2009. Corporate social responsibility in global supply chains. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 14, 75-86.
- ANGELL, L. C. & KLASSEN, R. D. 1999. Integrating environmental issues into the mainstream: An agenda for research in operations management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 17, 575-598.
- AWAYSHEH, A. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2010. The impact of supply chain structure on the use of supplier socially responsible practices. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 30, 1246-1268.

- BAI, C. & SARKIS, J. 2010. Green supplier development: Analytical evaluation using rough set theory. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 18, 1200-1210.
- BASTL, M., JOHNSON, M. & CHOI, T. Y. 2013. Who's seeking whom? Coalition behavior of a weaker player in buyer–supplier relationships. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49, 8-28.
- BENJAMIN, B. A. & PODOLNY, J. M. 1999. Status, quality, and social order in the California wine industry. Administrative Science Quarterly, 44, 563-589.
- BENTON, W. & MALONI, M. 2005. The influence of power driven buyer/seller relationships on supply chain satisfaction. *Journal of Operations Management*, 23, 1-22.
- BHATTACHARYA, C., KORSCHUN, D. & SEN, S. 2009. Strengthening stakeholder-company relationships through mutually beneficial corporate social responsibility initiatives. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85, 257-272.
- BLOME, C. & SCHOENHERR, T. 2011. Supply chain risk management in financial crises—A multiple case-study approach. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 134, 43-57.
- BOURGEOIS, L. J. 1981. On the measurement of organizational slack. *Academy of Management Review*, 6, 29-39.
- BOWEN, F. E. 2002. Does size matter? Organizational slack and visibility as alternative explanations for environmental responsiveness. *Business & Society*, 41, 118-124.
- BOWEN, F. E., COUSINS, P. D., LAMMING, R. C. & FARUKT, A. C. 2001. The role of supply management capabilities in green supply. *Production & Operations Management*, 10, 174-189.
- BRINKHOFF, A., ÖZER, Ö. & SARGUT, G. 2015. All you need is trust? An examination of Interorganizational supply chain projects. *Production and Operations Management*, 24, 181-200.
- BRODER, J. M. 2011. BP Shortcuts Led to Gulf Oil Spill, Report Says. The New York Times.
- CAI, S. & YANG, Z. 2008. Development of cooperative norms in buyer-supplier relationship: The Chinese experience. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 44, 55-70.
- CARR, A. S., KAYNAK, H., HARTLEY, J. L. & ROSS, A. 2008. Supplier dependence: Impact on supplier's participation and performance. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 28, 899-916.
- CARTER, C. R. & EASTON, P. L. 2011. Sustainable supply chain management: Evolution and future directions. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 41, 46-62.
- CARTER, C. R. & JENNINGS, M. M. 2004. The role of purchasing in corporate social responsibility: A structural equation analysis. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 25, 145-186.
- CASCIARO, T. & PISKORSKI, M. J. 2005. Power imbalance, mutual dependence, and constraint absorption: A closer look at resource dependence theory. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 50, 167-199.
- CHIU, S.-C. & SHARFMAN, M. 2011. Legitimacy, visibility, and the antecedents of corporate social performance: An investigation of the instrumental perspective. *Journal of Management*, 37, 1558-1585.
- CILIBERTI, F., PONTRANDOLFO, P. & SCOZZI, B. 2008. Investigating corporate social responsibility in supply chains: A SME perspective. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16, 1579-1588.
- COUSINS, P. D., LAMMING, R. C. & BOWEN, F. E. 2004. The role of risk in environment-related supplier initiatives. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 24, 554-565.
- COUSINS, P. D. & MENGUC, B. 2006. The implications of socialization and integration in supply chain management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 24, 604-620.
- COX, A. 2004. The art of the possible: Relationship management in power regimes and supply chains. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 9, 346-356.

- COX, A., IRELAND, P., LONSDALE, C., SANDERSON, J. & WATSON, G. 2003. Supply Chain Management: A Guide to Best Practice, London, Financial Times/Prentice-Hall.
- CRAIGHEAD, C. W., BLACKHURST, J., RUNGTUSANATHAM, M. J. & HANDFIELD, R. B. 2007. The severity of supply chain disruptions: Design characteristics and mitigation capabilities. *Decision Sciences*, 38, 131-156.
- CRAMER, J. 2008. Organising corporate social responsibility in international product chains. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16, 395-400.
- DAVIS, J. H., SCHOORMAN, F. D. & DONALDSON, L. 1997. Toward a stewardship theory of management. Academy of Management Review, 22, 20-47.
- DEEPHOUSE, D. L. 2000. Media reputation as a strategic resource: An integration of mass communication and resource-based theories. *Journal of Management*, 26, 1091-1112.
- ECCLES, R. G., NEWQUIST, S. C. & SCHATZ, R. 2007. Reputation and its risks. *Harvard Business Review*, 85, 104-114.
- EHRGOTT, M., REIMANN, F., KAUFMANN, L. & CARTER, C. R. 2011. Social sustainability in selecting emerging economy suppliers. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 98, 99-119.
- EHRGOTT, M., REIMANN, F., KAUFMANN, L. & CARTER, C. R. 2013. Environmental development of emerging economy suppliers: Antecedents and outcomes. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 34, 131-147.
- EISENHARDT, K. M. 1989. Agency theory: An assessment and review. Academy of Management Review, 14, 57-74.
- ELLIS, S. C., HENRY, R. M. & SHOCKLEY, J. 2010. Buyer perceptions of supply disruption risk: A behavioral view and empirical assessment. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 34-46.
- ELLIS, S. C., SHOCKLEY, J. & HENRY, R. M. 2011. Making sense of supply disruption risk research: A conceptual framework grounded in enactment theory. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 47, 65-96.
- FELLOW, A. 2013. Nike boosts sustainability of textiles with new Swiss partner. Bloomberg.
- FOERSTL, K., REUTER, C., HARTMANN, E. & BLOME, C. 2010. Managing supplier sustainability risks in a dynamically changing environment—Sustainable supplier management in the chemical industry. *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 16, 118-130.
- FOMBRUN, C. J. & SHANLEY, M. 1990. What's in a name? Reputation building and corporate strategy. Academy of Management Journal, 33, 233-258.
- FRIEDMAN, L. 2013. EPA Recognizes IBM for Climate Change Leadership. The Wall Street Journal.
- GAP INC. 2013. Bangladesh Update [Online]. Available: http://www.gapinc.com/content/gapinc/html/social\_responsibility/bangladesh.html.
- GARDBERG, N. A. & FOMBRUN, C. J. 2006. Corporate citizenship: Creating intangible assets across institutional environments. *Academy of Management Review*, 31, 329-346.
- GEMI-EDF 2008. Guide to Successful Corporate-NGO Partnerships. Washington, DC: The Global Environmental Management Initiative (GEMI) and Environmental Defense Fund (EDF).
- GENCTURK, E. F. & AULAKH, P. S. 1995. The use of process and output controls in foreign markets. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 26, 755-786.
- GEORGE, G. 2005. Slack resources and the performance of privately held firms. *Academy of Management Journal*, 48, 661-676.
- GHEMAWAT, P. & NUENO, J. L. 2006. Zara: Fast Fashion, Harvard Business School.
- GIMENEZ, C., SIERRA, V. & RODON, J. 2012. Sustainable operations: Their impact on the triple bottom line. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 149-159.

- GOLICIC, S. L. & SMITH, C. D. 2013. A meta-analysis of environmentally sustainable supply chain management practices and firm performance. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49, 78-95.
- GRANT, J. & ANDO, R. 2008. Staples cuts ties with APP on environment worry. Reuters.
- GREEN, K. W., ZELBST, P. J., MEACHAM, J. & BHADAURIA, V. S. 2012. Green supply chain management practices: Impact on performance. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 17, 290-305.
- GULATI, R. & SYTCH, M. 2007. Dependence asymmetry and joint dependence in interorganizational relationships: Effects of embeddedness on a manufacturer's performance in procurement relationships. Administrative Science Quarterly, 52, 32-69.
- HANDFIELD, R. B. & BECHTEL, C. 2002. The role of trust and relationship structure in improving supply chain responsiveness. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 31, 367-382.
- HANDLEY, S. M. & BENTON, W. J. 2013. The influence of task- and location-specific complexity on the control and coordination costs in global outsourcing relationships. *Journal of Operations Management*, 31, 109-128.
- HARTLEY, J. L. & CHOI, T. Y. 1996. Supplier development: Customers as a catalyst of process change. *Business Horizons*, 39, 37-44.
- HEIDE, J. B. 1994. Interorganizational governance in marketing channels. *Journal of Marketing*, 58, 71-85.
- HILLMAN, A. J., WITHERS, M. C. & COLLINS, B. J. 2009. Resource dependence theory: A review. *Journal of Management*, 35, 1404-1427.
- HOEJMOSE, S. U., GROSVOLD, J. & MILLINGTON, A. 2013. Socially responsible supply chains: Power asymmetries and joint dependence. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 18, 277-291.
- HOFER, C., CANTOR, D. E. & DAI, J. 2012. The competitive determinants of a firm's environmental management activities: Evidence from US manufacturing industries. *Journal of Operations Management*, 30, 69-84.
- HOFMANN, H., BUSSE, C., BODE, C. & HENKE, M. 2014. Sustainability-related supply chain risks: Conceptualization and management. *Business Strategy & the Environment*, 23, 160-172.
- IKEA. 2012. IKEA Group Sustainability Report [Online]. Available: http://www.ikea.com/ms/en\_US/pdf/sustainability\_report/sustainability\_report\_2012.pdf.
- INDITEX. 2013. *Code of Conduct for Manufacturers and Suppliers* [Online]. Available: http://www.inditex.com/en/corporate\_responsibility/social\_dimension/.
- JENKINS, H. 2006. Small business champions for corporate social responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 67, 241-256.
- JIANG, B. 2009. The effects of interorganizational governance on supplier's compliance with SCC: An empirical examination of compliant and non-compliant suppliers. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27, 267-280.
- JOHNSTON, D. A., MCCUTCHEON, D. M., STUART, F. I. & KERWOOD, H. 2004. Effects of supplier trust on performance of cooperative supplier relationships. *Journal of Operations Management*, 22, 23-38.
- JÜTTNER, U., PECK, H. & CHRISTOPHER, M. 2003. Supply chain risk management: Outlining an agenda for future research. *International Journal of Logistics: Research & Applications*, 6, 197-210.
- KAHNEMAN, D., SLOVIC, P. & TVERSKY, A. 1982. Judgment under Uncertainty: Heuristics and Biases, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press.

- KETCHEN, D. J. & HULT, G. T. M. 2007. Bridging organization theory and supply chain management: The case of best value supply chains. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 573-580.
- KIM, S. K., YAMADA, T. & KIM, H. 2008. Search for alternatives and collaboration with incumbents: Two-sided sourcing behavior in business markets. *Decision Sciences*, 39, 85-114.
- KLASSEN, R. D. & VEREECKE, A. 2012. Social issues in supply chains: Capabilities link responsibility, risk (opportunity), and performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 103-115.
- KLEINDORFER, P. R. & SAAD, G. H. 2005. Managing disruption risks in supply chains. *Production & Operations Management*, 14, 53-68.
- KOCABASOGLU, C., PRAHINSKI, C. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2007. Linking forward and reverse supply chain investments: The role of business uncertainty. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 1141-1160.
- KRALJIC, P. 1983. Purchasing must become supply management. Harvard Business Review, 61, 109-117.
- KRAUSE, D. R., HANDFIELD, R. B. & TYLER, B. B. 2007. The relationship between supplier development, commitment, social capital accumulation and performance improvement. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 528-545.
- KRAUSE, D. R., VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2009. Special topic forum on sustainable supply chain management: Introduction and reflections on the role of purchasing management. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 45, 18-25.
- KRYSIAK, F. C. 2009. Risk management as a tool for sustainability. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85, 483-492.
- KWON, I. W. G. & SUH, T. 2004. Factors affecting the level of trust and commitment in supply chain relationships. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 40, 4-14.
- LANGE, D., LEE, P. M. & DAI, Y. 2011. Organizational reputation: A review. *Journal of Management*, 37, 153-184.
- LASSAR, W. M. & KERR, J. L. 1996. Strategy and control in supplier-distributor relationships: An agency perspective. *Strategic Management Journal*, 17, 613-632.
- LATHAM, S. F. & BRAUN, M. 2009. Managerial risk, innovation, and organizational decline. *Journal of Management*, 35, 258-281.
- LEFEVRE, C., PELLÉ, D., ABEDI, S., MARTINEZ, R. & THALER, P. F. 2010. Value of Sustainable Procurement Practices. PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited (PwC), EcoVadis, and INSEAD Social Innovation Centre (ISIC).
- LIM, S.-J. & PHILLIPS, J. 2008. Embedding CSR values: The global footwear industry's evolving governance structure. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 81, 143-156.
- LOCKE, R., AMENGUAL, M. & MANGLA, A. 2009. Virtue out of necessity? Compliance, commitment, and the improvement of labor conditions in global supply chains. *Politics & Society*, 37, 319-351.
- LOCKSTROEM, M., SCHADEL, J., HARRISON, N., MOSER, R. & MALHOTRA, M. K. 2010. Antecedents to supplier integration in the automotive industry: A multiple-case study of foreign subsidiaries in China. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 240-256.
- LUND-THOMSEN, P. & LINDGREEN, A. 2013. Corporate social responsibility in global value chains: Where are we now and where are we going? *Journal of Business Ethics*, 123, 11-22.
- MANUJ, I. & MENTZER, J. T. 2008. Global supply chain risk management strategies. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 38, 192-223.
- MARCH, J. G. & SHAPIRA, Z. 1987. Managerial perspectives on risk and risk taking. *Management Science*, 33, 1404-1418.

- MATOS, S. & HALL, J. 2007. Integrating sustainable development in the supply chain: The case of life cycle assessment in oil and gas and agricultural biotechnology. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 1083-1102.
- MCCARTER, M. W. & NORTHCRAFT, G. B. 2007. Happy together?: Insights and implications of viewing managed supply chains as a social dilemma. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 498-511.
- MCWILLIAMS, A., SIEGEL, D. S. & WRIGHT, P. M. 2006. Corporate social responsibility: Strategic implications. *Journal of Management Studies*, 43, 1-18.
- MENTZER, J. T., MIN, S. & ZACHARIA, Z. G. 2000. The nature of interfirm partnering in supply chain management. *Journal of Retailing*, 76, 549-568.
- MESZAROS, J. R. 1999. Preventive choices: Organizations' heuristics, decision processes and catastrophic risks. *Journal of Management Studies*, 36, 977-998.
- MILLINGTON, A. 2008. Responsible Supply Chain Management. In: CRANE, A., MCWILLIAMS, A., MATTEN, D., MOON, J. & SIEGEL, D. (eds.) Oxford Handbook of Corporate Social Responsibility. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- MITCHELL, R. K., AGLE, B. R. & WOOD, D. J. 1997. Toward a theory of stakeholder identification and salience: Defining the principle of who and what really counts. *Academy of Management Review*, 22, 853-886.
- MOORE, G. 2001. Corporate social and financial performance: An investigation in the UK supermarket industry. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 34, 299-315.
- MORALI, O. & SEARCY, C. 2013. A review of sustainable supply chain management practices in Canada. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 117, 635-658.
- NARASIMHAN, R., NAIR, A., GRIFFITH, D. A., ARLBJØRN, J. S. & BENDOLY, E. 2009. Lock-in situations in supply chains: A social exchange theoretic study of sourcing arrangements in buyer– supplier relationships. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27, 374-389.
- NARASIMHAN, R. & TALLURI, S. 2009. Perspectives on risk management in supply chains. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27, 114-118.
- NEEF, D. 2004. The Supply Chain Impetrative: How to Ensure Ethical Behavior in Your Global Suppliers, New York, American Management Association.
- NEW, S. J. 1996. A framework for analysing supply chain improvement. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 16, 19-34.
- NYAGA, G. N., WHIPPLE, J. M. & LYNCH, D. F. 2010. Examining supply chain relationships: Do buyer and supplier perspectives on collaborative relationships differ? *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 101-114.
- OGDEN, J. A., ROSSETTI, C. L. & HENDRICK, T. E. 2007. An exploratory cross-country comparison of strategic purchasing. *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 13, 2-16.
- OKE, A. & GOPALAKRISHNAN, M. 2009. Managing disruptions in supply chains: A case study of a retail supply chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 118, 168-174.
- OLIVER, C. 1990. Determinants of interorganizational relationships: Integration and future directions. Academy of Management Review, 15, 241-265.
- OUCHI, W. G. 1977. The relationship between organizational structure and organizational control. Administrative Science Quarterly, 22, 95-113.
- OUCHI, W. G. 1979. A conceptual framework for the design of organizational control mechanisms. *Management Science*, 25, 833-848.
- OUCHI, W. G. 1980. Markets, bureaucracies, and clans. Administrative Science Quarterly, 25, 129-141.

- ÖZER, Ö., ZHENG, Y. & REN, Y. 2014. Trust, trustworthiness, and information sharing in supply chains bridging China and the United States. *Management Science*, 60, 2435-2460.
- PABLO, A. L., SITKIN, S. B. & JEMISON, D. B. 1996. Acquisition decision-making processes: The central role of risk. *Journal of Management*, 22, 723-746.
- PAGELL, M. & GOBELI, D. 2009. How plant managers' experiences and attitudes toward sustainability relate to operational performance. *Production & Operations Management*, 18, 278-299.
- PAGELL, M. & WU, Z. 2009. Building a more complete theory of sustainable supply chain management using case studies of 10 exemplars. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 45, 37-56.
- PARMIGIANI, A., KLASSEN, R. D. & RUSSO, M. V. 2011. Efficiency meets accountability: Performance implications of supply chain configuration, control, and capabilities. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29, 212-223.
- PATZELT, H. & SHEPHERD, D. A. 2008. The decision to persist with underperforming alliances: The role of trust and control. *Journal of Management Studies*, 45, 1217-1243.
- PEDERSEN, E. R. 2009. The many and the few: Rounding up the SMEs that manage CSR in the supply chain. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 14, 109-116.
- PEDERSEN, E. R. & ANDERSEN, M. 2006. Safeguarding corporate social responsibility (CSR) in global supply chains: How codes of conduct are managed in buyer-supplier relationships. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 6, 228-240.
- PERRY, P. & TOWERS, N. 2009. Determining the antecedents for a strategy of corporate social responsibility by small-and medium-sized enterprises in the UK fashion apparel industry. *Journal* of Retailing & Consumer Services, 16, 377-385.
- PFARRER, M. D., POLLOCK, T. G. & RINDOVA, V. P. 2010. A tale of two assets: The effects of firm reputation and celebrity on earnings surprises and investors' reactions. Academy of Management Journal, 53, 1131-1152.
- PFEFFER, J. & SALANCIK, G. R. 2003. *The External Control of Organizations: A Resource Dependence Perspective*, Stanford, CA, Stanford University Press.
- PORTER, M. E. & KRAMER, M. R. 2006. The link between competitive advantage and corporate social responsibility. *Harvard Business Review*, 84, 78-92.
- PULLES, N. J., VELDMAN, J., SCHIELE, H. & SIERKSMA, H. 2014. Pressure or pamper? The effects of power and trust dimensions on supplier resource allocation. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 50, 16-36.
- RAO, P. & HOLT, D. 2005. Do green supply chains lead to competitiveness and economic performance? International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 25, 898-916.
- REUTER, C., FOERSTL, K., HARTMANN, E. & BLOME, C. 2010. Sustainable global supplier management: The role of dynamic capabilities in achieving competitive advantage. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 46, 45-63.
- RHEE, M. & VALDEZ, M. E. 2009. Contextual factors surrounding reputation damage with potential implications for reputation repair. *Academy of Management Review*, 34, 146-168.
- RITCHIE, B. & BRINDLEY, C. 2007. Supply chain risk management and performance: A guiding framework for future development. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 27, 303-322.
- ROBERTS, P. W. & DOWLING, G. R. 2002. Corporate reputation and sustained superior financial performance. *Strategic Management Journal*, 23, 1077-1093.
- ROEHRICH, J. K., GROSVOLD, J. & HOEJMOSE, S. U. 2014. Reputational risks and sustainable supply chain management: Decision making under bounded rationality. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 34, 695-719.

- ROTH, A. V., TSAY, A. A., PULLMAN, M. E. & GRAY, J. V. 2008. Unraveling the food supply chain: Strategic insights from china and the 2007 recalls. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 44, 22-39.
- ROWE, W. G., O'BRIEN, J., ROUSE, M. J. & NIXON, R. D. 2012. Navy stories behavior versus professional control. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 21, 61-77.
- SARKIS, J., ZHU, Q. & LAI, K. 2011. An organizational theoretic review of green supply chain management literature. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 130, 1-15.
- SAXTON, T. & DOLLINGER, M. 2004. Target reputation and appropriability: Picking and deploying resources in acquisitions. *Journal of Management*, 30, 123-147.
- SEURING, S. & MÜLLER, M. 2008. From a literature review to a conceptual framework for sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16, 1699-1710.
- SHARFMAN, M. P., WOLF, G., CHASE, R. B. & TANSIK, D. A. 1988. Antecedents of organizational slack. Academy of Management Review, 13, 601-614.
- SHARMA, S. 2000. Managerial interpretations and organizational context as predictors of corporate choice of environmental strategy. *Academy of Management Journal*, 43, 681-697.
- SIMON, H. A. 1979. Information processing models of cognition. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 30, 363-396.
- SINGH, J. V. 1986. Performance, slack, and risk taking in organizational decision making. Academy of Management Journal, 29, 562-585.
- SITKIN, S. B. & WEINGART, L. R. 1995. Determinants of risky decision-making behavior: A test of the mediating role of risk perceptions and propensity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 38, 1573-1592.
- SMITH, N. C., ANSETT, S. & EREZ, L. 2011. How Gap Inc. engaged with its stakeholders. MIT Sloan Management Review, 52, 69-76.
- SNELL, S. A. 1992. Control theory in strategic human resource management: The mediating effect of administrative information. Academy of Management Journal, 35, 292-327.
- SODHI, M. S., SON, B. G. & TANG, C. S. 2012. Researchers' perspectives on supply chain risk management. *Production & Operations Management*, 21, 1-13.
- SODHI, M. S. & TANG, C. S. 2012. Managing Supply Chain Risk. New York: Springer.
- SOUZA, G. C., ZHAO, Z. & CHEN, M. 2004. Coordinating sales and raw material discounts in a global supply chain. *Production & Operations Management*, 13, 34-45.
- SPENCE, L. & BOURLAKIS, M. 2009. The evolution from corporate social responsibility to supply chain responsibility: The case of Waitrose. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 14, 291-302.
- TAN, J. & PENG, M. W. 2003. Organizational slack and firm performance during economic transitions: Two studies from an emerging economy. *Strategic Management Journal*, 24, 1249-1263.
- TANNENBAUM, A. S. 1968. Control in Organizations, New York, McGraw-Hill.
- TAZELAAR, F. & SNIJDERS, C. 2013. Operational risk assessments by supply chain professionals: Process and performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 31, 37-51.
- TURBAN, D. B. & CABLE, D. M. 2003. Firm reputation and applicant pool characteristics. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 24, 733-751.
- VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2006. Extending green practices across the supply chain: The impact of upstream and downstream integration. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 26, 795-821.

- VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2008. Environmental management and manufacturing performance: The role of collaboration in the supply chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 111, 299-315.
- VAN TULDER, R., VAN WIJK, J. & KOLK, A. 2009. From chain liability to chain responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85, 399-412.
- VANHAMME, J. & GROBBEN, B. 2009. "Too Good to be True!". The effectiveness of CSR history in countering negative publicity. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85, 273-283.
- VEREECKE, A. & MUYLLE, S. 2006. Performance improvement through supply chain collaboration in Europe. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 26, 1176-1198.
- VOSS, G. B., SIRDESHMUKH, D. & VOSS, Z. G. 2008. The effects of slack resources and environmental threat on product exploration and exploitation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 51, 147-164.
- WAGNER, S. M. & BODE, C. 2008. An empirical examination of supply chain performance along several dimensions of risk. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 29, 307-325.
- WALKER, H., DI SISTO, L. & MCBAIN, D. 2008. Drivers and barriers to environmental supply chain management practices: Lessons from the public and private sectors. *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 14, 69-85.
- WALKER, H. & JONES, N. 2012. Sustainable supply chain management across the UK private sector. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 17, 15-28.
- WANG, Z. & SARKIS, J. 2013. Investigating the relationship of sustainable supply chain management with corporate financial performance. *International Journal of Productivity & Performance Management*, 62, 871-888.
- WILKINS, A. L. & OUCHI, W. G. 1983. Efficient cultures: Exploring the relationship between culture and organizational performance. Administrative Science Quarterly, 28, 468-481.
- WILLIAMSON, O. E. 1979. Transaction cost economic: The governance of contractual relations. Journal of Law & Economics, 22, 3-61.
- WILLIAMSON, O. E. 1983. Credible commitments: Using hostages to support exchange. American Economic Review, 73, 519-540.
- YATES, J. F. & STONE, E. R. 1992. The risk construct. In: YATES, J. F. (ed.) Risk Taking Behavior. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- YUN, M., PAKIAM, R. & LISTIYORINI, E. 2013. Wilmar to cut off palm suppliers caught burning in Indonesia. *Bloomberg*.
- ZACHARIA, Z. G., NIX, N. W. & LUSCH, R. F. 2011. Capabilities that enhance outcomes of an episodic supply chain collaboration. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29, 591-603.
- ZHAO, X., FLYNN, B. B. & ROTH, A. V. 2007. Decision sciences research in China: Current status, opportunities, and propositions for research in supply chain management, logistics, and quality management. *Decision Sciences*, 38, 39-80.
- ZHU, Q. & SARKIS, J. 2004. Relationships between operational practices and performance among early adopters of green supply chain management practices in Chinese manufacturing enterprises. *Journal of Operations Management*, 22, 265-289.
- ZHU, Q. & SARKIS, J. 2007. The moderating effects of institutional pressures on emergent green supply chain practices and performance. *International Journal of Production Research*, 45, 4333-4355.
- ZHU, Q., SARKIS, J. & LAI, K. 2007. Green supply chain management: Pressures, practices and performance within the Chinese automobile industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 15, 1041-1052.

- ZSIDISIN, G. A. & ELLRAM, L. M. 2003. An agency theory investigation of supply risk management. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 39, 15-27.
- ZSIDISIN, G. A. & SIFERD, S. P. 2001. Environmental purchasing: A framework for theory development. *European Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 7, 61-73.

# **Chapter IV**

### Chapter IV. Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk: The Interacting Effect of Supplier Dependence, Perceived Risk, and Slack Resources

#### 1. Introduction

A growing number of buying organizations<sup>1</sup> are suffering an increased exposure to different types of risk within their global supply chains which need to be proactively managed to protect them against financial loss and reputational damage (Sheffi, 2005). These risks may originate from a wide range of sources, such as disruptions in supplier operations, natural disasters, or supplier financial defaults (Kleindorfer and Saad, 2005, Bode et al., 2014). A particularly important topic is supplier sustainability risk, which originates from a negative sustainability-related<sup>2</sup> condition or potentially occurring event within the buyer's supply base (e.g., suppliers' unsafe or unhealthy work conditions or their environmentally unfriendly operations or products) that may provoke harmful stakeholder reactions (Foerstl et al., 2010, Hofmann et al., 2014). In such situations, buyers, such as Nike, Apple, and Nestle, may be held responsible by stakeholders (e.g., customers, NGOs, and regulators) for their suppliers' misconducts and, thereby, experience substantial market share loss, revenue reduction, adverse publicity, and reputational damage (Zhu and Sarkis, 2007, Parmigiani et al., 2011). A study by Lefevre et al. (2010) shows that these organizations face, on average, a 12% reduction in their market capitalization after a social or ecological problem is detected within their supply chains and publicized by concerned stakeholders.

Anecdotal evidence suggests that buyers manage this type of risk in four different ways: many of them, like BP in the 2010 oil spill case in the Gulf of Mexico (Herron, 2010), tend to accept the risk and practice damage control by addressing the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Throughout this paper, we use the term "buyer" to refer to the buying organization contracting work to a "supplier" organization. The term "supply manager" refers to a middle manager within the buying organization, who is responsible for managing the relationship with one or multiple groups of supplier organizations.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$  Throughout this paper, we use the term 'sustainability' to refer to ecological and social aspects of an organization's operations.

problem after its occurrence; others try to mitigate the risk either through monitoring their suppliers' activities (like Ford and GM) (Zhu et al., 2007) or through collaborative initiatives to enable them to improve their social or ecological performance (like IKEA) (IKEA, 2012); and a few of them, like Staples (Grant and Ando, 2008), take extreme measures and avoid the risk all together by phasing out the irresponsible suppliers. Such differences, however, have not been currently accounted for within supply chain risk management (SCRM) literature. Specifically, the questions as to "what underlying factors can shape these diverse responses and how" have remained unanswered.

In order to fill this gap and to respond to the ever-growing need for using established organizational theories to describe, explain, and predict supply chain phenomena (Ketchen and Hult, 2007a), we draw on agency and management control theories (Ouchi, 1979, Eisenhardt, 1989), as well as resource dependence theory (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003), to develop a contingent conceptual model of supplier sustainability risk management. In this model, we particularly concentrate on three contextual factors, i.e., perceived risk, supplier dependence, and slack resources, and their noticeable effects on the risk management strategies. Supplier sustainability risk is an inter-organizational phenomenon. Therefore, we take the exchange relationship between a buyer and a specific supplier as the context and the buyer–supplier transaction as the unit of analysis in our study. Given the crucial role of supply managers as the decision makers in the supply chain context (Ellis et al., 2010, Mantel et al., 2006, Tazelaar and Snijders, 2013), we focus on the strategies they undertake at the operational level (Pagell and Gobeli, 2009). Hence, the focal decision is the supply manager's choice among the four risk management strategies: acceptance, avoidance, monitoring-based mitigation, and collaboration-based mitigation. A vignette-based experiment methodology is then employed to empirically test the hypothesized relationships.

In addition to its major contribution to the SCRM literature, this study also contributes to the sustainable supply chain management (SSCM) literature. Prior studies have established that different supply chain characteristics affect the buyers' approach toward SSCM. For instance, Vachon and Klassen (2006a) conclude that the buyersupplier integration increases the buyers' use of monitoring and collaboration practices regarding environmental management issues. Based on their case study of five firms, Klassen & Vereecke (2012) also propose that implementing monitoring or collaborative initiatives with regard to social issues within supply chains is prompted by increased accountability to stakeholders and compared actual social performance with regulatory, customer, and community expectations. However, the extant literature remains somewhat silent about the mechanisms underlying such relationships. Our study, however, suggests that sustainable supplier development (SSD) including monitoring- and collaboration-based initiatives is employed as a risk mitigation strategy to reduce supplier sustainability risk, and explains the conditions under which each of these initiatives are more likely to be used.

Lastly, although the role of supply managers as the decision makers in the supply chain context has been recently recognised in a number of studies such as Ellis et al. (2010) and Tazelaar & Snijders (2013), this view has not been extended to the SSCM literature. However, a number of studies suggest that one of the prevalent drivers of the buyers' decision to diffuse sustainability throughout their supply chains is their managers' perception of the risks involved (Zhu and Sarkis, 2007, Walker and Jones, 2012). We attempt to address this issue by focusing on supply managers' decisions and, specifically, their choice of risk management strategy.

In Section 2, we discuss the concept of supplier sustainability risk and the strategies for managing it. Section 3 provides the theoretical underpinnings of the proposed conceptual model and its related hypotheses. After presenting the research methodology and data analysis results in Sections 4 and 5, we conclude the paper by discussing its theoretical and managerial implications in Sections 6 and 7.

#### 2. Supplier Sustainability Risk Management

A review of the supply chain risk management (SCRM) literature indicates that this literature is traditionally concerned with two types of risk: (i) coordination risks, originated from incoordination between supply and demand (Souza et al., 2004), and (ii) disruption risks, originated from unexpected internal or external process failures or disruptions (Kleindorfer and Saad, 2005). Although different in their source, both risk categories materialize through a disorder within the interconnected flows of material, information, and funds in supply chains (Sodhi et al., 2012). In this study, however, we focus on a recently emerging type of risk, namely "supplier sustainability risk"<sup>3</sup> (Foerstl et al., 2010) which materializes through adverse stakeholder reactions (Hofmann et al., 2014). More specifically, it may occur when buyers are held responsible and accountable by their salient stakeholders (Mitchell et al., 1997) for their suppliers' misconducts related to the natural environment or social communities (Amaeshi et al., 2008, Klassen and Vereecke, 2012, Parmigiani et al., 2011).

Supplier sustainability risk was first identified by Cousins et al. (2004) as the driver of environmentally-oriented supplier management initiatives to avoid reputational losses. However, Foerstl et al. (2010) were the first to coin the term "supplier sustainability risk", defining it as "the risk of corporate reputational damage to the buying firm, caused by supplier [sustainability-related] misconduct[s]" (p. 118). Focusing on suppliers' labor-related behaviors in global supply chains and, specifically, their associated reputational risks, Jiang et al. (2009) identified the root causes of job dissatisfaction leading to turnover at supplier facilities. Klassen & Vereecke (2012), further, focused on the social sustainability risks within supply chains and highlighted their adverse effects on buyers' costs and revenues. Only recently, however, a concise conceptualization of supplier sustainability risk based on a theory-driven approach was provided by Hofmann et al. (2014), which lays the basis for our study (p. 168):

"[a sustainability-related] condition or a potentially occurring event", located within a focal firm's supply base, that "may provoke harmful stakeholder reactions."

The supplier sustainability risk materialization process starts with a sustainability-related misconduct in buyer's supply base, followed by its detection by the concerned stakeholders. Once salient stakeholders regard the misconduct as illegitimate and hold the buyer responsible for supplier's misconduct, they might initiate some adverse reactions resulting in substantial financial and reputational losses for the buyer. As such, supplier sustainability risk is the cumulative likelihood of these events and their consequences (Roehrich et al., 2014). Hence, the level of supplier sustainability that buyers face depends not only on the probability and immediate consequences of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Throughout this paper, we maintain the term "supplier sustainability risk" as it has already been used within the SCRM literature. Alternatively, these risks could also be coined as reputational risks (Jiang et al., 2009; Roehrich et al., 2014) because of their detrimental direct effects on the buyer's reputation.

suppliers' misconducts, but also on other factors such as their size and visibility in the marketplace (Bowen, 2002), location of their supply base (Reuter et al., 2010), salience of concerned stakeholders (Parmigiani et al., 2011), and their industry (Neef, 2004).

#### 2.1. Risk management strategies

As with any other type of risk, buyers' ability in managing supplier sustainability risk is critical to their competitiveness and long-term success (Eccles et al., 2007). Although they may try to do it in a number of ways, their responses would fit into three generic categories of risk management strategies: avoidance, acceptance, and mitigation (Ritchie and Brindley, 2007, Blome and Schoenherr, 2011, Lemke and Petersen, 2013). The focus of this study is on operational-level strategies which supply managers undertake to manage the supplier sustainability risk within their supply base. Foerstl et al. (2010) suggest that such responses include supplier phase-out and sustainable supplier development (SSD). By implementing supplier phase-out, supply managers terminate the relationship with the incumbent risky supplier and switch to another alternative supplier with a clean sustainability record. Hence, supplier phase-out fits into the risk avoidance category (Jüttner et al., 2003), which entails the elimination of risk by withdrawing from the risky situations. For example, Wilmar International Ltd., the world's largest palm oil trader, decided in June 2013 to cut ties with all Indonesian suppliers who were found to clear land for cultivation with illegal fires (Yun et al., 2013).

Sustainable supplier development (SSD) initiatives, on the other hand, fit into risk mitigation category (Ritchie and Brindley, 2007). They are defined as the buyers' plans and strategies to integrate the ecological and social issues into supply management process to improve the ecological and social performance of the suppliers (Klassen and Vereecke, 2012, Krause et al., 2007). Therefore, they are the buyers' means for reducing the probability of supplier sustainability risk through enhancing suppliers' ecological and social performance. The initiatives that collectively define SSD are further classified in two categories: monitoring-based and collaboration-based initiatives (Vachon and Klassen, 2008, Zhao et al., 2007). Monitoring-based SSD initiatives focus on assessing the processes or actual performance of suppliers against specific characteristics or particular performance criteria to verify their compliance with the requirements. As part
of this approach, buyers usually gather and process suppliers' information, set proper criteria and assess the sustainability-related aspects of incoming goods and the suppliers that provide them through surveys and audits, and ask suppliers to report on different dimensions of their social and ecological performance (Seuring and Müller, 2008, Bowen et al., 2001). These are usually enforced through written social and ecological requirements within contracts (Ciliberti et al., 2008), requiring third-party certifications (Morali and Searcy, 2013), or imposing the buyers' codes of conducts on the suppliers (Andersen and Skjoett-Larsen, 2009). For instance, Bristol-Myers Squibb, IBM, and Xerox have encouraged their Chinese suppliers to develop environmental management systems consistent with ISO 14001 and Ford, GM, and Toyota have required their suppliers to obtain ISO 14000 certification (Zhu et al., 2007).

However, collaboration-based SSD initiatives aim at improving the suppliers' ecological and social performance through partnership, i.e., direct interaction with them and implementation of jointly-developed ecological and social solutions (Golicic and Smith, 2013). They encompass a broad range of activities such as providing training programs to suppliers, compensating them for the costs associated with their compliance (e.g., joint investments in environmental friendly equipment), and sponsoring ecological or social summits for suppliers to encourage the sharing of information and experience (Vereecke and Muylle, 2006). IKEA's strategy to provide its suppliers with technical as well as financial support regarding their sustainability endeavors is an example of this strategy (IKEA, 2012).

Finally, in addition to the proactive strategies suggested by Foerstl et al. (2010), we also include risk acceptance as a reactive strategy that buyers might use to manage supplier sustainability risk. Taking on this strategy, supply managers simply retain the risk by sufficing to comply with the regulations and taking no further actions and budgeting for dealing with the potential risk event should it happen at some point (Sodhi and Tang, 2012).

## 3. Hypotheses Development

In the previous section, four different strategies pertaining to the management of supplier sustainability risk were presented. In this section, the focus is on the contextual

factors that determine which strategy is more likely to be selected by the supply managers. Based on resource dependence (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003) and agency/management control (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979) theories, we focus on two major predictors of supply managers' strategy choice: supplier sustainability risk they perceive as well as supplier dependence on the buyer. We further suggest that selection of a risk management strategy that fits these contingencies depends on the availability of slack resources to implement the intended strategy.





In order to develop a series of hypotheses linked to our conceptual model (Fig. IV-1), an approach composed of a series of systematic steps is needed. First, the concept of perceived risk and supplier dependence are defined and presented. These two concepts are then pulled together to form a matrix demonstrating four possible scenarios from their different combinations. This matrix is then populated with different risk management strategies hypothesized to be selected by the supply managers for each scenario (Fig. IV-2). Finally, the section concludes by introducing the impact of availability of slack resources on the positioning of the strategies in Figure IV-2.

#### **3.1.** Theoretical foundations

#### 3.1.1. Agency and management control theories

Agency and management control theories (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979) generally provide a useful framework for understanding the buyers' responses to supply chain risks (Zsidisin and Ellram, 2003, Zsidisin et al., 2005, Ketchen and Hult, 2007a). In this framework, the buyer serves as the principal delegating work to the agent, i.e., the

supplier. These theories put forth three mechanisms that can be used by principals to control agents' opportunistic behaviors: output, behavior, and input control mechanisms (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979). Output control mechanisms focus on agents' performance, i.e., evaluating it against predetermined targets and giving agents' the authority to choose the means to achieve those goals (Ouchi, 1979). Behavior control mechanisms concentrate on the transformation process of agents' work, i.e., the processes, tasks, and activities that are expected to lead to their performance outcomes (Ouchi, 1977). Although output controls mainly motivate agents through the use of incentives and behavior controls ensure of their motivation through close supervision, both mechanisms are centred on evaluation and feedback processes (Gencturk and Aulakh, 1995). However, input control mechanisms emerge from a socialization process between principal and agent, which results in shared beliefs and values (Patzelt and Shepherd, 2008). It influences the agents' behaviour in a way that their commitment to the relationship is enhanced, and adjusts the antecedent conditions of their performance (i.e., their knowledge, skills, abilities, values, and motives) to ensure that they have the required ability to perform well (Snell, 1992, Ouchi, 1979).

In this study, suppliers' misconducts in terms of labor standards, ecological issues, or other sustainability-related concerns giving rise to supplier sustainability risk can be considered as their opportunistic behaviors which need to be controlled by the buyers (Moore, 2001, Jiang, 2009a). The more efficient these behaviors are controlled, the less supplier sustainability risk the buyers will face. Hence, control mechanisms perform as risk mitigation strategies. Output controls mitigate supplier sustainability risks by assessing suppliers' social and ecological performance against a set of pre-specified objectives, such as a code of conduct. Behavior controls, however, reduce the risk by close monitoring and evaluation of suppliers' actions over time and providing constructive feedbacks for correcting the deviations (Handley and Benton, 2013). Hence, in this study, the combination of output and behavior control mechanisms resembles the monitoring-based category of SSD initiatives (Vachon and Klassen, 2006a, Golicic and Smith, 2013). In contrast, when buyers use input controls, they decrease the probability of suppliers' misconducts by contributing to suppliers' awareness building, encouraging them to promote a socially and ecologically responsible culture, and helping them

develop related capabilities rather than a specific short-term outcome (Ciliberti et al., 2008). Therefore, in this study, the input control mechanisms are exemplified by the collaboration-based category of SSD initiatives (Golicic and Smith, 2013, Vachon and Klassen, 2008).

## 3.1.2. Resource dependence theory

The dependence concept in supply chains has been argued to be one of the key attributes influencing supply chain management issues, such as buyer-supplier relationship (Cox, 2004), supplier development (Carr et al., 2008), and supply chain performance (Gulati and Sytch, 2007). According to resource dependence theory, organizations are not self-sufficient and depend on each other for resources, and such interdependency introduces uncertainty into their decision-making environment (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003). As a result, they adjust their structure and behaviors to acquire and maintain their required resources and try to reduce their environmental uncertainties and dependencies by means of control mechanisms (Hillman et al., 2009). Resource dependence theory predicts that the type of such control mechanisms depends on the level and nature of dependence they develop, and the relative power of all players (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003). Consequently, in a supply chain context, we expect that the supplier sustainability risks would depend on the level of buyer and supplier dependence on each other.

Given that supplier dependence is one of the most influential factors affecting buyer-supplier relationships (Tangpong et al., 2008) as well as supplier development processes (Carr et al., 2008), this study focuses on situations where buyer dependence on supplier is low. By doing so, we examine the isolated effect of supplier dependence on the risk management strategies selected to deal with the supplier sustainability risk. More specifically, we investigate the risk management strategies used in two scenarios: high vs. low supplier dependence.

# 3.1.3. Supply managers' perception of risk

As discussed earlier, supplier sustainability risk is the cumulative likelihood and consequence of a series of events: occurrence of a sustainability-related misconduct in

buyer's supply base, stakeholders' detection of the misconduct and their attribution of the misconduct responsibility to the buyer. There is no doubt that buyer's response to this cumulative risk depends on many different factors, including (i) the events' characteristics, such as nature of the misconduct, supplier's size, and ownership (Klassen and Vereecke, 2012) or stakeholders' salience (Parmigiani et al., 2011), (ii) the decision making context, e.g. buyer's orientation toward sustainability (Pagell and Wu, 2009) or the relevant laws and regulations in place (Jiang, 2009a), and (iii) the individual attributes of the decision makers, such as their experience as well as their sustainability-related values (Ellis et al., 2011).

However, behavioral research on decision-making has shown that the effect of such factors on the decision outcome is mediated through the decision maker's perception of risk (Sitkin and Weingart, 1995, Pablo et al., 1996, March and Shapira, 1987). More specifically, management responses to supplier sustainability risks are essentially not motivated by completely objective evaluations of the risks but by their subjective risk perceptions (Yates and Stone, 1992, Ellis et al., 2010, Kocabasoglu et al., 2007), defined as their general assessment of the risk inherent in a situation (Sitkin and Weingart, 1995). In addition, there are studies suggesting that one of the prevalent drivers of implementation of SSD initiatives by buyers is their managers' perception of the risks involved (Walker and Jones, 2012). Particularly, supply managers have been found to play a critical role in developing management systems (Angell and Klassen, 1999b) and to be the most significant driving force of extending sustainability initiatives throughout the supply chains (Ehrgott et al., 2011, Carter and Jennings, 2004).

Therefore, in this study, we focus on the level of supplier sustainability risk (cumulative risk) perceived by supply managers as one of the major predictors of their choice amongst the four risk management strategies. In addition, since this study focuses on how the perceived supplier sustainability risk - rather than its determinants - influences the decision outcome, we do not differentiate between the risks associated with social and ecological aspects of sustainability.

# **3.2.** Supplier dependence and risk management strategy

Supplier dependence is shown to increase the buyer's relative power in the

buyer-supplier relationship, enabling it to significantly influence the actions and intentions of the supplier (Bastl et al., 2013, Lanier et al., 2010). Dependent suppliers are more likely to cooperate with buyers (Modi and Mabert, 2007) and to make changes to their processes and products to meet buyer requirements (Hallen et al., 1991). The presence of powerful buyers who reflect the market pressures onto their suppliers is suggested to be the main trigger for suppliers to pursue sustainability objectives (Hall, 2000). Particularly, supplier dependence enhances the buyers' ability to effectively implement monitoring-based or collaboration-based SSD initiatives because such initiatives usually include practices that take place at the supplier facilities which are out of buyers' direct control (Gulati and Sytch, 2007, Hoejmose et al., 2013).

In addition, buyers with a high level of bargaining power over their suppliers (i.e., high supplier dependence) are found to take two different paths to diffuse sustainability principles throughout their supply base (Vurro et al., 2009). They may either follow a "dictatorial" governance model through which they assume the role of a commander and impose their rules of the sustainability game (e.g., codes of conduct) on suppliers, or they pursue a "participative" governance model through which they remain open to interaction and involvement with their suppliers in the sustainability-related decision making and implementation process. These two mechanisms correspond to the monitoring-based and collaboration-based SSD initiatives. Hence, buyers will have the opportunity to influence suppliers' sustainability-related behaviors and mitigate supplier sustainability risk through collaboration-based or monitoring-based SSD initiatives only when suppliers are highly dependent on them (Parmigiani et al., 2011). Hence, supplier dependence is a precursor for employing either of the risk mitigation strategies.

H1: Supply managers are more likely to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk through either of the SSD initiatives when supplier dependence is high rather than low.

In contrast, when the supplier is not highly dependent on the buyer, neither one of the two risk mitigation strategies is an option for the buyer (Parmigiani et al., 2011). In other words, buyers can only enforce sustainability-related requirements at their suppliers' facilities when they are in a good bargaining position and their threat to terminate the relationship will ensure that the suppliers act according to their social/environmental expectations. When supplier dependence is at a low level, however, buyers perceiving any level of supplier sustainability risk can neither shape or alter the suppliers' behaviors nor can they use direct sanctions and threat of leaving to force the supplier to behave in a responsible manner (Pedersen and Andersen, 2006). This means that buyers will normally have to either continue the relationship with the suppliers without initiating any actions with regard to social or ecological issues at supplier facilities or to terminate the relationship with the supplier to avoid the supplier sustainability risk all together.

H2: Supply managers are more likely to avoid the supplier sustainability risk or accept it when supplier dependence is low rather than high.

## **3.3.** Perceived risk and risk management strategy (high supplier dependence)

As we proposed in Hypothesis 1, supply managers in high supplier dependence situations are more likely to decide to mitigate supplier sustainability risk either through monitoring-based or collaboration-based SSD initiatives. In this section, we draw on agency/management theories to explain the effect of their perceived risk on the choice between these two mitigation strategies.

Based on the agency theory, monitoring-based SSD initiatives (i.e., behavior and output control mechanisms) are used when suppliers' performance ambiguity and environmental uncertainties are at a low level and when there is not a substantial incongruence between the buyer and supplier goals (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1980, Rowe et al., 2012). These conditions reflect a situation where the supply managers perceive a low level of risk. For instance, the global fashion brand Zara faces a relatively low level of supplier sustainability risk because almost 70% of its suppliers are based in Europe (Ghemawat and Nueno, 2006) and hence, suffices to merely enforce its Code of Conduct for Manufacturers and Suppliers throughout its supply chain (Inditex, 2013). In contrast, its US-based competitor, Gap Inc., with the majority of its suppliers operating in Asia, has to take further steps, like pursuing a stakeholder engagement strategy (Smith et al., 2011) or providing a \$20 million of capital to support fire safety improvements at supplier facilities (Gap Inc., 2013). Therefore, we can conclude that:

H1-a: In high supplier dependence situations, supply managers are more likely to

# mitigate the supplier sustainability risk through monitoring-based SSD initiatives when their perceived risk is low rather than high.

On the other hand, when a supply manager's knowledge of supplier's processes and activities is incomplete or the standards of desirable performance are ambiguous, the level of perceived risk increases and neither behavior control nor output control is likely to be a viable option (Ouchi, 1977). Pursuing such control mechanisms requires the supply managers to formally specify their expectations and be able to determine whether these agreed-to expectations are being achieved or observed (Ouchi, 1979, Handley and Benton, 2013). Hence, they incur substantial costs of surveillance, which may limit their span of control (e.g., the number of audits they conduct at supplier sites might decrease) and increase the probability of supplier's unsustainable behavior (Eisenhardt, 1985). In addition, even with the monitoring initiatives, supplier deception may emerge and the overall reliance on this strategy may create a system in which a supplier's main objective is to pass the audits, rather than address the substantive issues that are the focus of the audit (Jiang, 2009a, Roth et al., 2008). Hence, monitoring-based SSD initiatives are not likely to be used by supply managers who face a high level of supplier sustainability risk.

Input control mechanisms, however, are shown to be used in situations where high levels of complexity and uncertainty create a high risk situation for the principal (Ouchi, 1980). When the need for goal congruence between the principal and agent is high, in other words when the probability of agent's opportunistic behavior is significant, employing input control mechanism is more appropriate (Rowe et al., 2012, Wilkins and Ouchi, 1983). In the same vein, other studies have shown that when the supply risk increases, buyers become more eager to develop closer relationships with their suppliers because such relationships increase their social capital, promote effective communications, enhance their trust in the relationship, and improve their suppliers' performance (Cheng et al., 2012, Zsidisin and Ellram, 2003). In addition, it has been found that buyers with a prior experience of reputational damage due to their suppliers' misconducts develop more cooperative relationships with their suppliers to coordinate the exchange of their values in the supply chain (Spence and Bourlakis, 2009). We suggest this is due to the fact that these buyers perceive a higher level of risk due to their previous negative experiences. A notable example is Nike's new approach toward supplier management: to improve suppliers' compliance with its code of conduct, Nike moved from a market relationship to a collaborative partnership where suppliers had a deeper and more secure association with Nike and internalized the sustainability-related values and practices (Lim and Phillips, 2008). For instance, it provided its suppliers with its own state-of-the-art screening tools, called bluesign technologies, that allows them to select more sustainable dyes, detergents, and chemicals for use in their textile manufacturing process (Fellow, 2013). Hence, we can conclude that:

H1-b: In high supplier dependence situations, supply managers are more likely to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk through collaboration-based SSD initiatives when their perceived risk is high rather than low.

## **3.4.** Perceived risk and risk management strategy (low supplier dependence)

As discussed in Section 3.2, buyers can proactively mitigate the supplier sustainability risk either by implementing monitoring-based or collaboration-based SSD initiatives if they are the dominant partner in the relationship. However, they can exert very limited influence over their suppliers if suppliers hold the dominant power because of their low dependence (Carr et al., 2008). Because source of the risk is external to their control, supply managers will not be able to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk they perceive either by monitoring the suppliers' processes and performance or by developing their sustainability-related capabilities. In such cases, they have to pursue risk management strategies other than risk mitigation (Kraljic, 1983).

We suggest that for low levels of perceived risk, supply managers are more likely to take the "why bother" strategy (Cousins et al., 2004, Van Tulder et al., 2009) and suffice to comply with relevant sustainability-related laws and regulations and maintain the status quo. In other words, they prefer to retain the relationship with suppliers despite the risk associated with them and suffer the negative impacts if the risk materializes (risk acceptance).

H2-a: In low supplier dependence situations, supply managers are more likely to accept the supplier sustainability risk when their perceived risk is low rather than high.

Conversely, the most ultimate risk management strategy, risk avoidance, is employed when supply managers perceive a high level of risk while their firm can exert low or no influence over the suppliers to mitigate it. In this situation, they will decide to exclude the risk all together by blacklisting the suppliers in their order placement system, breaking off the relationship with them, and switching to alternative suppliers (Reuter et al., 2010). For example, in January 2008, Staples Inc., the largest U.S. office supplies retailer, terminated an 11-year relationship with Asia Pulp and Paper (APP) company, as APP failed to improve its environmental performance and remained as one of the preferred targets for environmental activists' campaigns (Grant and Ando, 2008). Therefore, we can conclude that:

H2-b: In low supplier dependence situations, supply managers are more likely to avoid the risk and phase out the supplier when their perceived risk is high rather than low.





Level of Perceived Risk

### 3.5. Moderating effect of slack resources

As noted above, a low level of supplier dependence restrains the supply managers' ability to mitigate the risk and shifts their choice toward risk acceptance or avoidance strategies. In addition, the perceived supplier sustainability risk is the primary factor to differentiate between two risk mitigation strategies in high supplier dependence situations and between risk acceptance and avoidance strategies in low supplier dependence situations. In practice, however, buyers competing in the same industry with similar external dynamics, such as stakeholder salience, supply base, and buyer-supplier dependence structure appear to pursue different risk management strategies. One explanation for this is that, despite the similarities in their external environment, these organizations might differ in their resource endowments, especially the level of their organizational slack (Bowen et al., 2001, Voss et al., 2008).

Based on Bourgeois's (1981) seminal definition, organizational slack is the cushion of actual or potential resources which is not consumed by the necessity of the continued daily operations of the firm and allows it to successfully adapt to the internal or external pressures and to initiate changes in strategy with respect to the external environment. More specifically, it includes the resources available to the managers (in this case, supply managers) that enable them to pursue certain types of strategic actions (in this case, risk management strategies) to counter the external threats (in this case, the supplier sustainability risk) and to adjust to the required changes imposed by them (Sharma, 2000, Sharfman et al., 1988). Slack resources can take several forms including management time, excess skilled employees, discretionary budget, and unused capacity (Tan and Peng, 2003, Voss et al., 2008). They can ease the adoption of a proactive strategic behavior and influence managerial decision outcomes (Singh, 1986). Specifically, financial slack allows the managers to invest in initiatives with positive performance implications such as risk management strategies that do not have an immediate pay-off and require a longer investment horizon (George, 2005, Bowen, 2002).

To implement the proactive risk management strategies discussed in this paper (i.e., monitoring/collaboration-based SSD initiatives or supplier phase-out), supply managers may have to change the scope and/or volume of their supply management processes and activities. Thereby, carrying them out without a sizeable level of excess resources would be very challenging for them. In other words, the type of strategy they select may well be limited by the amount of resources at their disposal and the slack helps them afford their intended strategies in response to their perceived supplier sustainability risk (Latham and Braun, 2009). If the risk management strategy entails a significant cost and engagement of resources (e.g., risk mitigation through collaboration-based SSD initiatives), buyers with more slack are more capable of absorbing those costs and undertaking the required actions.

This argument is reinforced by a number of studies showing that existence of slack resources is a pre-requisite for the choices made by managers in favor of sustainability-related issues: initiating supplier development projects, exploring new supply markets, and training of the supply and purchasing personnel (Bowen, 2007, Chiu and Sharfman, 2011, Sharma, 2000, Hofer et al., 2012). Particularly, Cousins et al. (2004) propose that the stock of resources available to the purchasing functions for managing the environmental issues is a crucial enabler of their environment-related supplier management initiatives. Based on their framework, a high level of available resources is associated with performing basic supplier development initiatives and forming collaborative relationships with suppliers to improve their performance. However, lack of adequate resources makes the purchasing functions to either take a "why bother" strategy and suffice to comply with relevant laws and regulations or, at most, to do simple supplier monitoring activities.

Hence, we conclude that slack resources moderate the relationships between the predictors of supplier sustainability risk management strategies and the selected strategy. Specifically, the proposed relationships are all contingent upon availability of slack resources. Otherwise, the supply managers' choice of strategy will be shifted toward other available options requiring less budget and fewer resources if they are constrained by the resources available to them for implementing their intended strategy. It should be noted that since supplier dependence remains constant regardless of the level of organizational slack available to supply managers, they cannot choose more affordable strategies which require higher levels of supplier dependence for implementation.

H3: As the slack resources available to supply managers decrease, they are more likely to accept the supplier sustainability risk.

H4: As the slack resources available to supply managers decrease, they are less likely to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk or avoid it.

H4-a: As the slack resources available to supply managers decrease, they are more likely to accept the supplier sustainability risk rather than mitigate it through monitoring-based SSD initiatives in low risk-high dependence situations.

H4-b: As the slack resources available to supply managers decrease, they are more likely to use any risk management strategy other than collaboration-based mitigation in high risk-high dependence situations.

H4-c: As the slack resources available to supply managers decrease, they are more likely to accept the supplier sustainability risk rather than avoid it by phasing out the supplier in high risk-low dependence situations.

Figure IV-3 presents a summary of the shifts in supply managers' choice of risk management strategies when slack resources available to supply managers decrease.

Figure IV-3. Supply manager's choice among risk management strategies (low level of slack resources)



# 4. Methodology

We used the vignette-based experiment methodology to examine the contingencies affecting the supply managers' strategic choice for managing supplier sustainability risk (Thomas et al., 2013, Tangpong et al., 2010). Experiment methodology has a long tradition in decision sciences (Bazerman and Moore, 2008) and proved to be useful for the study of major strategic decisions. This is particularly true because the causal relationships between decision's predictors and outcomes under controlled conditions are investigated (Croson et al., 2007, Tjemkes and Furrer, 2010). By controlling for the confounding effects, experiments rule out the variety of contextual factors which influence the managerial behavior (Bateman and Zeithaml, 1989) and eliminate the endogeneity concerns by isolating the causality (Echambadi et al., 2006).

Vignettes are short scenarios presenting a case/situation to participants who are then asked to describe their possible actions given a series of pre-set circumstances (Alexander and Becker, 1978). Although the vignette-based experiment looks like a survey, it contains all the components of an experimental design (i.e., random assignment to the cells, manipulated independent variables, and measured dependent variables) and thus can be shown to eliminate the possibility of systematic differences in the participants or the environment that could affect the outcomes (Creswell, 2013). Therefore, the observed differences noted can be attributed to the experimental manipulations, thus allowing a step beyond correlation tests to actual tests of causality (Siemsen, 2011). It also reduces the biases from memory lapses, rationalization tendencies, and consistency factors (Grewal et al., 2008). In addition, there is evidence that when given information about a hypothetical situation (e.g., a scenario), people properly anticipate the situation that is similar to what actual participants would do (Angrist and Pischke, 2008).

In addition to these general advantages, this methodology helped us overcome two major challenges we faced for assessing our proposed framework with real world data. First, it would have been difficult, if not impossible, to account for the variety of factors colouring the supply managers' decisions, such as their firms' organizational structure and existing business processes. In other words, framing the scenario in vignettes minimized the need for respondents to impute their own contextual information, whereas direct-question-based techniques could stimulate unreliable and biased self-reports (Fredrickson, 1986). Second, it would have been difficult to find companies functioning in each condition of the hypothesized matrices. In other words, there might not have been adequate variance of proposed independent variables in the actual firms to capture their effects on the supply managers' decisions by other methodologies, such as survey or archival data. Experiment methodology allowed for consistent treatments to manipulate the independent variables among participants and made it possible to have more precise assessment of each study variable (Hyman and Steiner, 1996).

#### 4.1. Vignette development and experimental design

Drawing from real supplier sustainability risk events, we developed two basic scenarios about two fictitious mid-sized multinational companies — the first one operating in the apparel retail sector (the second one in food industry) — whose CEO recently extended their safety (environmental) policy to include the suppliers' operations.

No brand names were provided in the scenarios to eliminate any biases against particular companies. In each scenario, the participants were asked to assume the role of Procurement and Supply Management Director and review the profile of one supplier and indicate what actions, if any, they would take with regard to the safety (environmental) issues at the supplier facilities. The scenarios were carefully designed to allow the manipulation of all three independent variables (i.e., treatment factors) at two levels: supplier sustainability risk (high vs. low), supplier dependence (high vs. low), and slack resources (high vs. low). This resulted in a 2 x 2 x 2 full factorial design where all other elements of the scenarios were held constant. As a result, eight vignettes for each scenario were generated (Table IV-1) to examine not only the effects of each treatment factor separately, but also the effect of the three of them in combination (Montgomery, 2012). The scenarios including the manipulation of three factors are presented in Appendix IV-A.

Each participant was given an introductory cover letter and the questionnaire including two assigned vignettes (one from each scenario). The ordering of vignettes was S1+E8, S2+E7, S3+E6, S4+E5. After reading the first vignette, the participant responded to a set of items that captured the likelihood of pursuing each of the four risk management strategies (i.e., the dependent variables): acceptance, avoidance, monitoring-based, and collaboration-based mitigation. To operationalize the constructs of monitoring-based and collaboration-based risk mitigation strategies, we adapted and modified two sets of measures (each including five items) from earlier work on supply chain governance (Jiang, 2009a), sustainable supply management (Vachon and Klassen, 2006a), and supplier development (Gimenez and Sierra, 2013, Ehrgott et al., 2013, Krause et al., 2007). The risk avoidance strategy was also operationalized by a five-item measure adapted from similar measures available in the supplier switching literature (Hung et al., 2009, Bharadwaj and Matsuno, 2006). Finally, we used a single item measure to operationalize risk acceptance strategy (i.e., taking no actions). A discrete choice question was also included in the questionnaire asking the participants to choose only one strategy among the four options as their major and ultimate approach to manage the supplier in the vignette.

The first section of the questionnaire was then concluded by asking a series of

manipulation check questions regarding the treatment factors. This process was repeated with a second vignette. Finally, participants reported their basic demographic information: industry and size of their employer, age, gender, experience, educational degree, position, professional certification, risk propensity (Sitkin & Weingart (1995)), and sustainability-related knowledge. Dependent variable measures, as well as manipulation check items, are presented in Appendix IV-B.

Vignette ID	Perceived risk	Supplier dependence	Slack resources	Manipulation combination
S1 <sup>a</sup> /E1 <sup>b</sup>	High	High	High	HHH
S2/E2	High	High	Low	HHL
S3/E3	High	Low	High	HLH
S4/E4	High	Low	Low	HLL
S5/E5	Low	High	High	LHH
S6/E6	Low	High	Low	LHL
S7/E7	Low	Low	High	LLH
S8/E8	Low	Low	Low	LLL

 Table IV-1. Vignettes and their combination of treatment factors' manipulations

<sup>a</sup> S1 to S8 are the vignettes drawn from Scenario 1 (supplier with safety problem in apparel industry). <sup>b</sup> E1 to E8 are the vignettes drawn from Scenario 2 (supplier with environmental problem in food industry).

To build the internal validity and to control for any sequence effects, the vignettes were rotated so that each vignette version was equally likely to be in the first or second sequential position. One major concern in the experimental design is the issue of demand artifacts which refers to "all aspects of the experiment which cause a subject to perceive, interpret and act upon what he believes is expected or desired of him by the experimenter" (Sawyer, 1975). We reduced this bias and its potential confounding effects by (i) utilizing a between-subject design that is less prone to demand characteristics, (ii) instructing the participants that there were no "right" or "wrong" answers, and (iii) not explicitly mentioning the labels of the treatment factors (i.e., risk, dependence, and slack resources) within the vignettes (Sawyer, 1975).

## 4.1.1. Perceived risk manipulation

As mentioned in Section 2, supplier sustainability risk is the cumulative likelihood and consequence of a series of events: occurrence of a sustainability-related misconduct in buyer's supply base, stakeholders' detection of the misconduct, and

stakeholders' attribution of the misconduct responsibility to the buyer. The probability of occurrence of a supplier's misconducts increases if there is evidence of such events in supplier's past performance (Foerstl et al., 2010). Since such information is used as an indicator of the likelihood of unsatisfactory future performance, it can influence the perceived riskiness of the supplier (Pablo et al., 1996). Further, supplier's size is used as proxy for the visibility of the supplier's misconducts and hence, the perceived risk of being caught ignoring their behavior (Roberts, 1992). For example, small suppliers are not perceived to be visible enough to attract NGO's and other concerned stakeholders' attention (Klassen and Vereecke, 2012).

As a result, to manipulate the supply manager's perceived risk, two different vignettes were developed for each scenario. In the low risk vignette, the respondents dealt with a small supplier which had received one safety violation citation from the local government authorities because of the unsafe and unhealthy work conditions at their facilities (or had been found guilty by a local court and ordered to pay a fine for violating the environmental laws and clearing an area of protected peat forest). Conversely, in the high risk vignette, they were faced with a large supplier which was targeted by a reputable international human rights (or environmental) activist group and highlighted on their website because of the unsafe and unhealthy work conditions at their facilities (or for violating the environmental laws and clearing an area of protected peat forest).

#### 4.1.2. Supplier dependence manipulation

It is well-established in the supply chain literature that when a significant proportion of a supplier's sales are to a buyer, its dependence increases (Carr et al., 2008). Hence, inspired by Lanier et al.'s (2010) operationalization of this construct, supplier dependence was manipulated by describing a supplier which 90% of its total sales were to the buyer in the scenario (high dependence) versus a supplier which provided products to a number of other companies and only 10% of its total sales were allocated to the buyer in the scenario (low dependence).

#### 4.1.3. Slack resources manipulation

A series of changes in the supplier management strategies, including taking part in monitoring-based or collaborative-based SSD initiatives or switching to new suppliers requires human, technical, and financial resources to deploy (Sharma, 2000, Lee and Klassen, 2008). Financial slack represents the excess uncommitted financial resources which are unabsorbed and highly flexible and can be easily redeployed to a wide range of activities (e.g., investment in new technologies, recruitment of specialized staff). Thereby, it is well established as the most discretionary or unabsorbed and readily-available slack resources (Sharfman et al., 1988, George, 2005).

Hence, this study specifically focuses on this category of slack resources available to the supply mangers to allocate them to alternate uses other than their current operations and activities. To manipulate the financial slack resources, the participants assigned to the "high slack resources" vignette were informed that the CEO had allocated a special annual budget to their department for making the necessary changes to supplier management activities, whereas those assigned to the "low slack resources" vignette were informed that the CEO had asked them to make the necessary changes to supplier management activities within their department's current budget limits and stated that no budget adjustments would be approved.

# 4.2. Pre-test

A qualitative analysis of the vignettes' content validity was conducted among five purchasing and supply management academicians and professionals. After making appropriate adjustments to the scenarios and questionnaires, a pre-test using 141 MBA students at two major business schools in Canada was conducted to verify the scenarios' plausibility and the manipulations' validity (Rungtusanatham et al., 2011). Students were randomly assigned two of the sixteen vignettes (one from each scenario) and we received 54 complete responses (total of 108 vignettes). The plausibility of scenarios was assessed during the pre-test along three dimensions (Eckerd et al., 2013): realism (one item scale: "the presented case scenario is realistic"), believability (one item scale: "the presented case scenario is believable"), and role involvement (one item scale: "I took my assumed role seriously while filling out the questionnaire"), on scales from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). Results showed that all vignettes had a mean of at least 5.40 on all three scales.

As noted earlier, sixteen seven-point items (where 1=very unlikely to 7=very

likely) were used to measure the likelihood of pursuing each of the four risk management strategies by asking the respondents how likely they were to take those actions with regard to the supplier mentioned in the vignette. Based on the pre-test data, four items were dropped due to their low loadings or high cross-loadings to establish reliability and uni-dimensionality of all four constructs. These results were further re-confirmed using the main experiment data (Table IV-2).

Item	Risk acceptance	Risk avoidance	Risk mitigation: monitoring-based	Risk mitigation: collaboration-based
Q-1	0.972	-0.061	-0.146	-0.104
Q-3	-0.080	0.884	-0.034	-0.154
Q-6	0.019	0.907	-0.091	-0.079
Q-7	-0.164	-0.136	0.836	0.025
Q-8	-0.027	-0.042	0.829	0.158
Q-9	-0.040	0.067	0.721	0.318
Q-10	-0.094	-0.159	0.850	0.139
Q-11	0.027	0.040	0.761	-0.011
Q-13	-0.067	-0.065	0.190	0.862
Q-14	-0.125	-0.082	0.167	0.884
Q-15	-0.038	-0.082	0.053	0.859
Q-16	0.050	-0.103	0.080	0.861
Reliability (a)		0.79	0.87	0.90

Table IV-2. De	ependent variable items'	loadings and cross	loadings and	scale reliabilities

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization

The pre-test also assessed the validity of the manipulations to ensure that the perceived risk, supplier dependence, and slack resources varied significantly among vignettes as intended (Perdue and Summers, 1986). The mean responses for all three treatment factors were significantly different between their two levels for both scenarios, except for the perceived risk factor in Scenario 1. To address this shortcoming, modifications were made to the scenario and a second round of pre-test was conducted using 60 MBA students at another major Canadian business school (including only one vignette per participant). The results from 39 complete responses confirmed the validity of the perceived risk manipulation in Scenario 1.

# 4.3. Sample and data collection

Perception and experience play a major role in evaluating the risks associated with the complex supply chain relationships, and the "real" business people are the ideal sample for supply chain risk management research (Mantel et al., 2006, Hora and Klassen, 2013). Hence, for the purpose of increasing the internal validity as well as the generalizability of the research findings, a sample of experienced supply/purchasing managers was used in this study.

Panel A: Experimental cells and number of observations							
	<u>High slac</u>	<u>ek resources</u>	Low slack	resources			
	Low supplier dependence	High supplier dependence	Low supplier dependence	High supplier dependence	Total		
Low risk	50 vignettes	49 vignettes	50 vignettes	49 vignettes	198 vignettes		
High risk	49 vignettes	50 vignettes	49 vignettes	50 vignettes	198 vignettes		
Total	99 vignettes	99 vignettes	99 vignettes	99 vignettes	396 vignettes		
Panel B: A	ssignment of part	icipants					
Questionna	aire # Ver	sion of scenario 1 (safety)	Version o (enviro	f scenario 2 nmental)	Number of respondents		
Q1		HHH	L	LL	13		
Q2		HHL	L	LH	12		
Q3	HLH		L	12			
Q4	HLL		L	HH	12		
Q5		LHH	H	ILL	12		
Q6		LHL	Н	LH	12		
Q7		LLH	Н	IHL	13		
Q8		LLL	Н	ННН			
Q9		LLL	Н	ННН			
Q10		LLH	HHL		12		
Q11		LHL	HLH		13		
Q12		LHH	HLL		12		
Q13		HLL	LHH		13		
Q14		HLH	L	HL	12		
Q15		HHL	L	LH	13		
Q16		ННН	L	LL	12		
Total					198		

Table IV-3. Experimental cells and assignment of participants

We chose to administer the experiment electronically, since previous research has suggested that electronic data collection is comparable to (Boyer et al., 2002), and more efficient than (Klassen and Jacobs, 2001), paper data collection. In addition, it is more cost effective and convenient, enhances the researcher ability to reach subjects, and results in fewer missing responses (Klassen and Jacobs, 2001). Our sample was drawn from an internet panel administered by Qualtrics. The data was generated using Qualtrics software, Version 56686 of the Qualtrics Research Suite, Copyright © 2014 Qualtrics.

Size (no. of employees)	Percent of sample	Industry	Percent of sample
100-1,000	33.5%	Manufacturing	70.5%
1,001-5,000	35.0%	Retail	29.5%
5,001-10,000	15.0%		
More than 10,000	16.5%		
Education	Percent of sample	Age	Percent of sample
High School	6.0%	21-30	5.0%
College	23.5%	31-40	33.0%
Undergraduate degree	36.0%	41-50	30.5%
Master degree	30.5%	51-60	24.5%
Doctorate degree	4.0%	61 and over	7.0%
Total work experience	Percent of sample	Purchasing experience	Percent of sample
0-5 years	2.0%	0-5 years	7.5%
6-10 years	11.0%	6-10 years	30.5%
11-15 years	21.0%	11-15 years	23.5%
16-20 years	14.0%	16-20 years	14.5%
21-25 years	16.0%	21-25 years	12.0%
26 years or more	36.0%	26 years or more	12.0%
Gender	Percent of sample	<b>Purchasing certification</b>	Percent of sample
Male	62.5%	Yes	41.5%
Female	37.5%	No	58.5%
Title	Percent of sample	Other control variables	Mean (SD)
Purchasing/Supply Manage	er 54.5%	Sustainability knowledge	e 5.38 (1.11)
Purchasing/Supply Director	r 19.0%	Risk propensity	3.89 (1.34)
Purchasing/Supply VP	13.0%		
Other	13.5%		

Table IV-4. Demographic data of experiment participants

For reasons noted earlier, full-time supply managers currently working for U.Sbased medium or large size companies (with more than 100 employees) were targeted as our key respondents. Besides, drawing on the arguments by Amaeshi et al. (2008) and Seuring & Müller (2008), we limited the respondent pool to two socially- and environmentally-sensitive industries: manufacturing (including food; CIS code 31-33) and retail trade sectors (CIS code: 443,445,446,448,451). Based on the estimated response rate of 30-40% (according to Qualtrics records), an estimated time of 20 minutes to complete the survey, and the challenge of specifically targeting purchasing/supply managers and providing enough incentive to get them to participate in the survey, it was agreed that participants would receive a \$25 incentive.

Sixteen different versions of the questionnaire were loaded on Qualtrics platform and potential participants were asked a set of qualifying questions to make sure that they fit the target sample specifications. To increase the quality of the data, two attention questions were designed after each scenario to screen out the respondents who attempted to complete the survey without reading the scenarios. The data collection was stopped after two weeks, once our predetermined sample size of 200 complete quality responses (minimum 12 responses per each vignette) was achieved from the initial pool of 1,064 potential participants (19% response rate). Two of the responses were excluded because of their undesirable response pattern (straight-lining), reducing the sample size to 198 responses (total of 396 vignettes). The assignment of vignettes and respondents for each experimental treatment is reported in Table IV-3. A summary of the respondents' demographic information is provided in Table IV-4.

#### 5. Data Analysis

As with the pre-test, after each participant read and responded to a vignette, it was important to verify that he/she perceived differences in the treatment factors, as intended.

The manipulation check results reported in Table IV-5 indicate that the risk perceived by the respondents was significantly different between the low risk and high risk vignettes for both scenarios ( $t_1$ =5.34 and  $t_2$ =4.64, p<0.001). Similarly, the respondents' perceptions of supplier dependence and slack resources were significantly different at the two levels of each factor for both scenarios (SD:  $t_1$ =5.98 and  $t_2$ =6.56, p<0.001; SR:  $t_1$ =2.95, p<0.01 and  $t_2$ =4.89, p<0.001). To test our conceptual model and its associated hypotheses, we conducted two different set of data analysis: MANCOVA/ANCOVA, using the scale-type dependent variables, and logistic regression, using the discrete choice question for the dependent variable.

Scenario	<b>Treatment factor</b>	<b>Descriptive statistics</b>	Manipulation test results	
	Risk perception	High: N=100; Mean=5.40; SD=1.04	$t(df)=5.34(179)^{***}$	
	I I I I I I	Low: N=100; Mean=4.44; SD=1.46		
Safety, Apparel	Supplier	High: N=100; Mean=5.62; SD=1.40	$(df) = 5 08(180)^{***}$	
retail industry	dependence	Low: N=100; Mean=4.55; SD=1.13	l(u1) = 3.98(189)	
	Slack resources	High: N=104; Mean=5.26; SD=1.13	t(df)-2.95(169)**	
	Slack lesources	Low: N=96; Mean=4.68; SD=1.60	((u)-2.75(107)	
	Risk perception	High: N=100; Mean=5.55; SD=1.00	$t(df) = 4.64 (198)^{***}$	
	Risk perception	Low: N=100; Mean=4.88; SD=1.01	t(u1)=+.0+ (190)	
Environmental,	Supplier	High: N=100; Mean=5.47; SD=1.05	+(df)_6 56 (196)***	
Food industry	dependence	Low: N=100; Mean=4.37; SD=1.35	l(dI) = 0.50(100)	
	Slack resources	High: N=104; Mean=5.47; SD=0.98	$t(df) = 4.80 (165)^{***}$	
	Slack resources	Low: N=96; Mean=4.50; SD=1.74	$(u_1) - 4.09 (100)$	

Table IV-5. Independent variables' manipulation checks for both scenarios

\*\* p<0.01; \*\*\* p<0.001

## 5.1. MANCOVA/ANCOVA

Due to the categorical nature of the treatment factors, the hypothesized simple main effects and interaction effects were analyzed through MANCOVA/ANCOVA (Hair et al., 2010). While controlling for the respondents' demographics as well as the vignette versions and sequencing, a 2 x 2 x 2 MANCOVA was performed on the four dependent variables (risk management strategies): acceptance, avoidance, monitoring-based mitigation, and collaboration-based mitigation strategies. The results (Table IV-6) showed that all three treatment factors, including perceived risk, supplier dependence, and slack resources, as well as their interactions, significantly influenced the risk management strategies as a set. The partial eta squared values, interpreted as the amount of variance in dependent variables that is explained by the factors, show that 22.4% of difference in risk management strategies can be explained by supply managers' perceived risk, 10.8% by supplier dependence on the buyer, 6.5% by slack resources, 3.4% by the interaction of perceived risk and supplier dependence, and another 4.1% because of the interaction of all three factors.

After finding significant main and interaction effects in MANCOVA, a series of univariate ANCOVA's was conducted to investigate the effect of three treatment factors and their interactions on each risk management strategy separately to test the hypotheses. The ANCOVA results indicated that compared to low supplier dependence, high supplier dependence was associated with greater probability of using collaboration-based risk mitigation strategy (F=3.096, p<0.1). However, results found no difference in the probability of using monitoring-based risk mitigation strategy in high versus low supplier dependence situations. Thus, H1 is partially supported. We also found support for H2. Managers reported a greater probability of employing risk acceptance and risk avoidance strategies in low supplier dependence situations than in high supplier dependence situations (F=35.789, p<0.001; F=7.185, p<0.01, respectively).

H1-a/b and H2-a/b state that perceived risk moderates the effect of supplier dependence on monitoring-based/collaboration-based risk mitigation and risk acceptance/risk avoidance strategies, respectively. The results showed that the perceived risk had a significant direct effect on all four risk management strategies: high level of perceived risk was associated with greater use of collaboration-based risk mitigation (F=16.113, p<0.001) and risk avoidance strategies (F=21.256, p<0.001), whereas low level of perceived risk was associated with greater use of monitoring-based risk mitigation (F=4.157, p<0.05) and risk acceptance strategies (F=49.947, p<0.001). The interaction of the two predictors, however, only significantly affected the risk acceptance (F=3.277, p<0.1) and monitoring-based risk mitigation (F=7.831, p<0.01) strategies, and not the other two. A planned contrast analysis revealed that marginal mean of risk acceptance strategy when the supply manager perceived a low level of risk (rather than high) was significantly higher when supplier dependence was at a low level (MD<sub>HLLL</sub>=-1.649, p<0.001). Similarly, the marginal mean of monitoring-based risk mitigation strategy when the supply manager perceived a low level of risk (rather than high) was significantly higher when supplier was highly dependent on the buyer (MD<sub>HH-LH</sub>=-0.544, p < 0.001). Taken together, these findings provide strong support for H1-a and H2-a with partial support for H1-b and H2-b. The results also indicated that compared to the situations where the amount of slack resources was high, low amount of slack resources led to greater use of risk acceptance strategy (F=14.018, p<0.001) and less use of collaboration-based mitigation strategy (F=14.873, p<0.001). However, we found no difference in the extent to which risk avoidance or monitoring-based risk mitigation strategies were used in situations with low versus high amount of slack resources. These results provide support for H3, while H4 is only partially supported.

#### Table IV-6. MANCOVA/ANCOVA results

	MANG					ANCOVA				
	MANCO	JVA-	Risk acceptance		Risk avoidance	9	Risk mitigation-N	/	Risk mitigation-	С
	F-value	$\eta^2$	F-value	$\eta^2$	F-value	$\eta^2$	F-value	$\eta^2$	F-value	<b>Π</b> <sup>2</sup>
PR <sup>d</sup>	26.673***	0.224	49.947 <sup>***</sup> MD <sup>b</sup> <sub>H-L</sub> =-1.287 <sup>***</sup> (0.188)	0.112	21.256 <sup>***</sup> MD <sub>H-L</sub> =0.561 <sup>***</sup> (0.122)	0.054	$4.157^*$ MD <sub>H-L</sub> = -0.220 <sup>*</sup> (0.104)	0.011	16.113 <sup>***</sup> MD <sub>H-L</sub> =0.481 <sup>***</sup> (0.119)	0.041
$SD^d$	11.228***	0.108	35.789 <sup>***</sup> MD <sub>H-L</sub> =-1.123 <sup>***</sup> (0.188)	0.088	7.185 <sup>**</sup> MD <sub>H-L</sub> =-0.326 <sup>**</sup> (0.122)	0.019			$\begin{array}{c} 3.096^{\text{H}} \\ \text{MD}_{\text{H-L}} = 0.211^{\text{H}} (0.119) \end{array}$	0.008
SR <sup>d</sup>	6.394***	0.065	14.018 <sup>**</sup> MD <sub>H-L</sub> =-0.703 <sup>***</sup> (0.188)	0.037					14.873 <sup>***</sup> MD <sub>H-L</sub> =0.463 <sup>***</sup> (0.120)	0.039
PR x SD	3.268*	0.034	3.277 <sup>†</sup> MD <sub>LH-LL</sub> =-1.485 <sup>***</sup> MD <sub>HH-HL</sub> =-0.761 <sup>**</sup> MD <sub>HL-LL</sub> =-1.649 <sup>***</sup> MD <sub>HL-LL</sub> =-0.925 <sup>**</sup> (0.270)	0.009			7.831 <sup>**</sup> MD <sub>HH-LH</sub> =-0.544 <sup>***</sup> (0.155)	0.021		
PR x SD x SR	3.966***	0.041	3.118 <sup>*</sup> MD <sub>LHH-LHL</sub> =-0.934 <sup>*</sup> MD <sub>HLH-HLL</sub> =-1.523 <sup>***</sup> (0.392)	0.024			$\begin{array}{c} 12.065^{***} \\ \mathrm{MD}_{\mathrm{HHH-HHL}} = -0.886^{***} \\ (0.216) \end{array}$	0.088		
Company size <sup>e</sup>	2.684**	0.028	4.965**	0.038	3.412*	0.027				
Age <sup>f</sup>	2.891***	0.030	3.395*	0.035	4.368**	0.045				
Work experience <sup>g</sup>	2.014**	0.026	2.690*	0.035	3.267**	0.042				
Sustainability knowledge	2.731*	0.029	$3.895^*$ B= -0.174 <sup>*</sup> (0.088)	0.010	5.132 <sup>*</sup> B=0.129 <sup>*</sup> (0.057)	0.014				
Risk propensity	5.153***	0.053	6.780 <sup>*</sup> B=-0.208 <sup>*</sup> (0.080)	0.018					5.785 <sup>*</sup> B=0.123 <sup>*</sup> (0.051)	0.015

a. MANCOVA F and partial eta-squared values are based on Wilks' lambda approach.

b. MDs are marginal mean differences for the factors levels; standard deviations are shown in parentheses. For the interactions, MD<sub>ABC</sub> represents the marginal mean difference for level A of perceived risk, level B of supplier dependence, and level C of slack resources.

c. \*\*\*\* p-value<0.001; \*\* p-value<0.01; \* p-value<0.05; \* p-value<0.1

d. PR: Perceived risk (Low=0, High=1), SD: Supplier dependence (Low=0, High=1), SR: Slack resources (Low=0, High=1)

e. Base category: 100-1000 employees

f. Base category: 21-30 years old

g. Base category: 0-5 years

Finally, H4-a~c simply state that slack resources positively moderate the hypothesized relationships in H1-a,b and H2-b. According to Table IV-6, the interaction of the slack resources with the other two predictors significantly affected the risk acceptance (F=3.118, p<0.05) and monitoring-based risk mitigation (F=12.065, p<0.001) strategies. The results of a planned contrast analysis showed that when the amount of slack resources was low (rather than high), the marginal mean of risk acceptance strategy was significantly higher in low risk-high dependence (MD<sub>LHH-LHL</sub>=-0.934, p<0.05), as well as high risk-low dependence (MD<sub>HLH-HLL</sub>=-1.523, p<0.001) situations, providing support for H4-a and H4-c. Similarly, the marginal mean of monitoring-based risk mitigation strategy was significantly higher in high risk-high dependence situations (MD<sub>HHH-HHL</sub>=-0.886, p<0.001), providing support for H4-b.

The ANCOVA results for the covariates (i.e., the control variables) showed that the size of respondents' employer firm significantly affected their use of risk acceptance and avoidance strategies: those working for larger firms were more likely to accept, and less likely to avoid, the supplier sustainability risk. The findings also showed that managers with more experience and sustainability-related knowledge were more inclined to avoid the risk and less motivated to accept it. In addition, the respondents' risk propensity had a significant negative effect on use of risk acceptance strategy and a significant positive effect on the use of collaboration-based risk mitigation strategy. The results identified no relationship between respondents' industry, gender, purchasing work experience, education, and certification, and their use of any of the risk management strategies and, as such, we removed them for the ease of exhibition.

To examine the robustness of these results, we ran a set of other tests. Firstly, a Roy-Bargmann stepdown analysis was performed to avoid the potential biases in ANCOVA results due to the significant correlation between two of the dependent variables, i.e., monitoring-based and collaboration-based mitigation strategies (Pearson correlation = 0.299, p<0.01). The results confirmed our conclusions drawn from the univariate ANCOVA. Secondly, a Kruskal-Wallis test was conducted to relax the normality assumption, which further confirmed the same statistically significant main effects as the ANCOVA results. Finally, because every participant responded to two

vignettes, it was possible that the experience of responding to the first vignette may have influenced their responses to the second vignette. While we controlled for this order effect by balancing and reversing the order of treatments, we also reran a MANCOVA with only the first vignette. The results remained qualitatively similar to that reported earlier.

# 5.2. Logistic regression

Because of the categorical nature of the discrete choice question (strategy selection among four options), moderated logistic regression technique was used to supplement our MANCOVA analysis results and assess the effect of perceived risk, supplier dependence, and slack resources on supply managers' choice among four different risk management strategies. In this technique, the log odds of the outcome categories are modeled as a linear combination of the predictor variables. To reduce the complications associated with interpreting the multinomial logistic regression results involving an outcome variable with four categories, we split the outcome variable into four binary variables: selection of risk acceptance (yes or no), risk avoidance (yes or no), monitoring-based risk mitigation (yes or no), or collaboration-based risk mitigation strategy (yes or no). The three predictor variables were modeled as dummy variables, with the reference group being an independent supplier posing a low level of sustainability risk on a buyer which had a high amount of slack resources to deal with the situation. The interaction analysis in logistic regression uses a hierarchically wellformulated (HWF) model in which all lower-order components of a higher-order interaction term are included in the model. Hence, the typical strategy used to evaluate interactions is hierarchical analysis, i.e., if the higher-order interaction term was not significant, it was eliminated (Jaccard, 2001). The logistic regression model describing the relationship between  $logit(\pi_1)$  (i.e., the log odds that the strategy 1 is selected) and our set of predictors is:

$$logit(\pi_1) = B_0 + B_1 X_1 + B_2 X_2 + B_3 X_3 + B_4 X_1 X_2 + B_5 X_1 X_3 + B_6 X_2 X_3 + B_7 X_1 X_2 X_3$$
(Eq.1)

If the model includes only the main effects and not the interaction terms, the exponent of the logistic coefficient (i.e.,  $Exp(B_i)$ ) will be equal to the odds ratio in which the predicted odds for the group scored 1 on  $X_i$  is divided by the predicted odds for the

reference group, holding constant all other predictor variables in the equation. For an interactive logistic model including the product terms (i.e.,  $X_iX_j$ ), however, the logistic coefficient for  $X_i$  is conditioned to the reference group for  $X_j$ . In other words, the exponent of the logistic coefficient for  $X_i$  is the odds ratio that divides the predicted odds for the group scored 1 on  $X_i$  by the predicted odds for the reference group on  $X_i$ , for the case where the dummy variable on  $X_j$  equals zero. In addition, the exponent of the logistic coefficient for the product term is the ratio of predicted odds ratios: it focuses on the predicted odds for the group scored 1 on  $X_i$  for the case where  $X_j$  equals 1 and divides it by the corresponding odds ratio for the reference group on  $X_i$  for the case where  $X_j$  equals 1 and divides it by the corresponding odds ratio for the reference group on  $X_j$  (Jaccard, 2001). The results are presented in Table IV-7.

The main effect models (A to D) were used to test the hypotheses H1, H2, H3, and H4. The significant main effects of supplier dependence in models A and B indicated that it negatively influenced the likelihood of risk avoidance and risk acceptance strategies being selected regardless of the level of risk perceived or the slack resources available. Risk acceptance (avoidance) strategy was 4.76 (4.85) times more likely to be selected to manage supplier sustainability risk associated with an independent supplier (B=-1.561; B=-1.580, p<0.001).

Similarly, the significant main effects of supplier dependence in models C and D showed that supply managers were 4.40 (2.73) times more likely to choose monitoringbased (collaboration-based) risk mitigation strategy (B=1.481; B=1.007, p<0.001) to manage the supplier sustainability risks associated with highly dependent suppliers. These results provide strong support for H1 and H2. The results in these models also indicated that risk acceptance strategy was 3.40 times more likely to be selected when slack resources were not available to supply managers (B=1.225, p<0.001), whereas risk avoidance and collaboration-based risk mitigation strategies were significantly less likely to be used in this condition (B=-0.547, p<0.01; B=-1.157, p<0.001). Monitoring-based risk mitigation strategy, however, was found to be used equally likely in situations with high vs. low slack resources. Hence, H3 is strongly supported by the findings, whereas H4 is only partially supported.

# Chapter IV

	Risk acceptance		<b>Risk avoidance</b>		Risk mitigation-M			Risk mitigation-C				
Predictors	В	Wald	Exp(B)	В	Wald	Exp(B)	В	Wald	Exp(B)	В	Wald	Exp(B)
Main effect models		Model A			Model B			Model C			Model D	
PR <sup>b</sup>	-2.005	41.211***	0.135	1.035	14.568***	2.815	-0.564	5.967**	0.569	1.552	29.654***	4.723
SD <sup>b</sup>	-1.561	$28.018^{***}$	0.210	-1.580	30.059***	0.206	1.481	38.521***	4.398	1.007	13.824***	2.739
SR <sup>b</sup>	1.225	$18.188^{***}$	3.405	-0.547	4.277**	0.579	0.445	3.734	1.560	-1.157	17.855***	0.315
Constant	-0.498	4.112	0.608	-0.988	15.731	0.372	-1.523	38.218	0.218	-2.219	54.072	0.109
Complete models		Model A'			Model B'			Model C'			Model D'	
PR <sup>b</sup>	-3.791	13.055***	0.023	1.553	12.071**	4.727	-0.481	0.895	0.618	1.909	10.346**	6.744
SD <sup>b</sup>	-2.650	16.136***	0.071	-0.704	1.616	0.495	1.524	11.968**	4.592	1.799	9.140**	6.042
SR <sup>b</sup>	0.240	0.360	1.272	-0.121	0.060	0.886	-0.364	0.539	0.695	0.676	1.196	1.965
PR x SD	2.629	2.792	13.865	-1.576	$4.290^{*}$	0.207	-1.705	$5.707^{*}$	0.182	0.155	0.062	1.167
PR x SR	2.813	6.192*	16.652	-0.800	1.541	0.450	0.028	0.001	1.029	-0.919	2.230	0.399
SD x SR	2.033	$6.868^{**}$	7.636	-1.781	2.184	0.168	0.033	0.003	1.033	-2.087	13.538***	0.124
PR x SD x SR	-5.086	$6.880^{**}$	0.006	2.878	$4.182^{*}$	17.787	2.781	7.689**	16.135	<sup>a</sup>	<sup>a</sup>	<sup>a</sup>
Constant	-0.080	0.080	0.923	-1.266	13.744	0.282	-1.153	12.117	0.316	-2.973	28.334	0.051
Nagelkerke R <sup>2</sup>		0.370			0.210			0.252			0.279	

Table IV-7. Binary logis	tic regression me	odels for four	outcome	variables <sup>a</sup>
--------------------------	-------------------	----------------	---------	------------------------

a. The interaction analysis in logistic regression uses a hierarchically well-formulated (HWF) model in which all lower-order components of a higher-order interaction term are included in the model. Hence, the typical strategy used to evaluate interactions is hierarchical analysis, i.e., if the higher-order interaction term is not significant, it can be eliminated (Jaccard, 2001).

b. PR: Perceived risk (base category=low), SD: Supplier dependence (base category=low), SR: Slack resources (base category=high)
c. \*\*\*\* p-value<0.001; \*\* p-value<0.01; \*\* p-value<0.05</li>

To better appreciate the results of the interactive logistic models A'~D', we used Equation 1 and the coefficients reported in Table IV-7 to calculate the predicted *logit*( $\pi_1$ ) for each cell of the 2 X 2 X 2 factorial design for all four outcome variables. We then converted these log odds to odds by calculating the exponent of each. According to the results, if the amount of slack resources was high, supply managers were 8.89 times (i.e., 1.449/0.163) more likely to select monitoring-based strategy to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk associated with a dependent supplier if they perceived a low level of risk rather than a high level of risk (p<0.001). They were, however, 7.88 (i.e., 2.435/0.309) times more likely to select collaboration-based risk mitigation strategy if they perceived a high level of risk than a low level of risk (p<0.001). In contrast, supply managers were 4.72 (i.e., 1.330/0.282) times more likely to decide to avoid the risk associated with an independent supplier if they perceived a high level of risk versus a low level of risk (p<0.01) and about 44 times more likely to choose to take no actions and accept the risk if the risk they perceived was low (p<0.001). Taken together, these findings provide strong support for H1-a, H1-b, H2-a, and H2-b.

As the next step, we compared the odds values of high vs. low slack resources situations. The monitoring-based risk mitigation strategy was almost equally likely to be selected for low risk-high dependence cells in both situations (odds ratio=1.00/0.718, p>0.05). Although risk acceptance strategy was found to be 9.7 (i.e., 0.633/0.065) times more likely to be selected in this cell for the low slack resources situation, this effect was not found to be statistically significant because of its large standard error.

As a result, our findings do not support H4-a. Comparing the odds values for high risk-high dependence cells for high vs. low slack resources conditions, we found that supply managers were 0.097 (p<0.001) times less likely to decide to mitigate the supplier sustainability risk through collaboration-based initiatives and 11.917 (p<0.001) times more likely to choose to mitigate it through monitoring-based initiatives if the amount of slack resources was low. However, the likelihood of using risk acceptance or avoidance strategies were not significantly different in these two conditions. Taken together, these results provide partial support for H4-b. Finally, we found strong support for H4-c as the results showed that the supply managers were 21 (i.e., 0.441/0.021) times more likely to accept the risk and 0.398 (i.e., 0.530/1.33) times less likely to avoid the risk if the amount of discretionary slack resources was low in high risk-low dependence situations (p<0.01 and p<0.05, respectively).

Table IV-8 presents a summary of MANCOVA/ANCOVA and logistic regression results for each hypothesis.

Hypothesis	Description	M/ANCOVA	Logistic Regression
H1	High-SD $\rightarrow$ Mitigation	Partially Supported	Supported
H1-a	High-SD x Low-PR $\rightarrow$ Mitigation-M	Supported	Supported
H1-b	High-SD x High-PR $\rightarrow$ Mitigation-C	Partially Supported	Supported
H2	Low-SD $\rightarrow$ Acceptance/Avoidance	Supported	Supported
H2-a	Low-SD x Low-PR $\rightarrow$ Acceptance	Supported	Supported
H2-b	Low SD x High-PR $\rightarrow$ Avoidance	Partially Supported	Supported
H3	Low-SR $\rightarrow$ Acceptance	Supported	Supported
H4	High-SR $\rightarrow$ Avoidance/Mitigation	Partially Supported	Partially Supported
H4-a	Low-SR & (High-SD x Low-PR) → Acceptance (+), Mitigation-M (-)	Partially Supported	Not Supported
H4-b	Low-SR & (High-SD x High-PR) → Acceptance (+), Mitigation-M (+), Avoidance (+), Mitigation-C (-)	Partially Supported	Partially Supported
H4-c	Low-SR & (Low-SD x High-PR) → Acceptance (+), Avoidance (-)	Partially Supported	Supported

Table IV-8. Summary of M/ANCOVA and logistic regression results

Note: SD= Supplier Dependence; PR=Perceived Risk; SR: Slack Resources

### 6. Discussion

The purpose of this research was to test theoretically-derived hypotheses related to the different strategies pursued by supply managers for managing supplier sustainability risks. Since purchasing and supply management function has a boundaryspanning role in the buying organizations and is influential in extending their sustainability ambitions to the suppliers (Krause et al., 2009), we specifically focused on supply managers as the decision makers in this study. The effects of high and low levels of perceived supplier sustainability risk were assessed at two levels of supplier dependence (high vs. low) within two organizational contexts (where the amount of slack resources was either high or low). Overall, the results indicate that these multi-level contextual factors significantly impact supply managers' intended risk management strategy: whether to mitigate the risk by monitoring-based or collaboration-based SSD initiatives, to avoid the risk altogether by phasing out the supplier, or to accept the risk and decide to deal with the consequences should it materialize.

The empirical results of this paper extend the literature to date in four essential ways. First, prior studies built on resource dependence theory suggest that buyer dominant relationships enable the buyers to successfully implement their monitoringbased or collaboration-based SSD initiatives (Spence and Bourlakis, 2009, Pedersen, 2009, Hoejmose et al., 2013). Besides, supplier dependence on the buyer is considered as a major requirement for suppliers' compliance to buyers' specific social and environmental standards and requirements (Locke et al., 2009, Pedersen, 2009). The results of this study provide additional support for this premise from a risk management perspective. Collaboration-based and monitoring-based risk mitigation strategies were found more likely to be used in buyer dominant situations where the participants believed they had the power to enforce such initiatives to improve suppliers' safety or environmental performance. The likelihood of using risk avoidance and risk acceptance strategies, however, increased when supplier dependence on the buyer was low. These findings are in line with Kraljic's (1983) strategic recommendation to buying organizations to exploit their full bargaining power so as to minimize the supply risks if they are the dominant player in the supply chain, or to get defensive and start looking for substitute material and suppliers if the supplier has the upper hand in the game.

Second, this study provides empirical support for merging the agency and management control theories to explain the relationship between the risk inherent in an agent-principal relationship and the control mechanism used by the principal for managing the agent's opportunistic behavior. In line with these theories' predictions, in high supplier dependence situations, the likelihood of using collaboration-based risk mitigation strategy (parallel to input control mechanism) increased when the participants perceived a high level of risk threatening their organization. However, the likelihood of pursuing a monitoring-based risk mitigation strategy (parallel to behavior and output control mechanisms) was significantly higher when the participants perceived a low level of risk from the supplier's sustainability-related misconducts.

Third, our findings call for more scholarly attention to the crucial effect of slack resources on the strategic decisions made by middle managers, in this case, supply managers. The empirical results confirmed that the slack resources moderated the defined predictor-outcome relationships in risk management decision making: as the amount of available slack resources decreased, the participants became more inclined to (1) choose monitoring-based risk mitigation strategy over collaboration-based one to deal with high risk suppliers in high supplier dependence situations, (2) take no actions and accept the risk rather than to avoid it by terminating the relationship even when they perceived a high level of risk in low supplier dependence situations. This is in line with Meszaros's (1999) study conclusions showing that managers utilize a form of threshold-based heuristic, namely "affordability heuristic", in their decision making, picking options that are not perceived to deteriorate their organizations' profitability. Therefore, the decision outcome of "which risk management strategy to use" varies depending on the desired strategy to be affordable or not.

Fourth, our findings add depth to the literature on SSCM by extending it to a risk-based framework and empirically examining the concept of supplier sustainability risk management and its predictors. Particularly, while this literature is mainly concentrated on the effect of different supply management initiatives which could fit into monitoring or collaborative activities (Pagell and Wu, 2009, Awaysheh and Klassen, 2010, Vachon and Klassen, 2006a, Klassen and Vereecke, 2012), we provide new insights on why and under what conditions either of these initiatives are used by buying organizations. In addition, we examine why some buyers might take two other alternative strategies, i.e., supplier phase-out or accepting the risk, instead of using such initiatives.

Finally, from an empirical standpoint, the vignette-based experiment methodology allowed for more controlled examination of the causal relationships with a sample of real supply managers. While the work here investigated supply managers' decision making regarding supplier sustainability risk, the developed vignettes and their associated manipulations and scales can be used by other researchers in a variety of operational contexts involving risk, dependence, or slack resources constructs.

#### 7. Managerial Implications and Limitations

This study makes additional managerial contributions for buying organizations dealing with supplier sustainability risk. Besides, we found that supply managers' risk propensity (or their prior sustainability-related knowledge) can color their decision making process and make them favor collaboration-based risk mitigation (or risk avoidance) strategy over others regardless of the situation in hand. Hence, in supply chain staffing decisions, senior managers in buying organizations should consider the personal characteristics (e.g., risk propensity, sustainability-related training and knowledge) of key personnel who are in charge of buyer-supplier exchanges to ensure that they are aligned with their social and environmental policies. They also need to foster improved decision-making by supply managers via establishing sustainabilityoriented purchasing policies and procedures that facilitate the supply managers' translation of the information available to them into accurate risk assessments. Further, to create accurate views of the situation and to steer the risk management actions in the desired direction, they should also (i) employ appropriate training and information systems to promote the supply managers' knowledge regarding the sustainability-related issues, such as the salient stakeholder pressures in their external environment, and (ii) establish performance evaluation and reward systems that provide incentives for supply managers to closely interact with suppliers to have a fairly accurate perception of their sustainability-related intentions and behaviors. Finally, they should support their purchasing and supply chain management functions by providing them with adequate resources to deploy appropriate risk management strategy, particularly for cases which are perceived to be high risk.

This paper put forth and investigated a conceptual framework that can be deepened and broadened in a number of ways. First, we found that the supply managers' decisions were directly driven by their perceptions of the risks associated with suppliers. However, this perception can be biased (i.e., under-estimating or over-estimating the actual risk), and result in improper management of the risk or over-investments in unsuitable more-costly risk management strategies. Therefore, a possible future research topic is to investigate the approaches that buying organizations can take to improve the supply managers' estimation of risk such that their perceived risk aligns better with the

actual risk. Second, low buyer independence was one of the major premises of this study. More specifically, we focused on the buyer-supplier situations where the supplier dependence was either low or high, given that the buyer dependence on the supplier was always low. To extend this model, an avenue for future research would be to investigate how the supply managers' choice among the four risk management strategies would shift if this factor is included in the model. Third, although supply managers' risk perception is considered as one of the major factors in their choice among management strategies, the determinants of this construct, such as supplier's size and ownership (Klassen and Vereecke, 2012), the level of focal firm's accountability for social and environmental issues in their supply base (Parmigiani et al., 2011), or the supply managers' personal characteristics such as their risk propensity (Sitkin and Weingart, 1995) were not included in the model and can be explored in future studies. Fourth, this study considered a one-shot decision regarding one supplier. Future research may consider a step-wise decision making process where the information on the predictor factors are gradually provided to the participants or use conjoint analysis technique comparing multiple suppliers. Finally, the scope of inquiry in this study is limited to the supply managers in the United States. However, given the essential effect of organizational culture on supply chain management practices, including sustainable supply management decisions (Crum et al., 2011, Wu and Pagell, 2011), future studies are required to look beyond the North American context.

#### 8. References

- ALEXANDER, C. S. & BECKER, H. J. 1978. The use of vignettes in survey research. *Public Opinion Quarterly*, 42, 93-104.
- AMAESHI, K. M., OSUJI, O. K. & NNODIM, P. 2008. Corporate social responsibility in supply chains of global brands: A boundaryless responsibility? Clarifications, exceptions and implications. *Journal* of Business Ethics, 81, 223-234.
- ANDERSEN, M. & SKJOETT-LARSEN, T. 2009. Corporate social responsibility in global supply chains. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 14, 75-86.
- ANGELL, L. C. & KLASSEN, R. D. 1999. Integrating environmental issues into the mainstream: An agenda for research in operations management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 17, 575-598.
- ANGRIST, J. D. & PISCHKE, J. S. 2008. *Mostly harmless econometrics: An empiricist's companion*, Princeton, Princeton University Press.
- AWAYSHEH, A. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2010. The impact of supply chain structure on the use of supplier socially responsible practices. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 30, 1246-1268.

- BASTL, M., JOHNSON, M. & CHOI, T. Y. 2013. Who's seeking whom? Coalition behavior of a weaker player in buyer–supplier relationships. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49, 8-28.
- BATEMAN, T. S. & ZEITHAML, C. P. 1989. The psychological context of strategic decisions: A test of relevance to practitioners. *Strategic Management Journal*, 10, 587-592.
- BAZERMAN, M. H. & MOORE, D. A. 2008. Judgment in Managerial Decision Making, New York, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- BHARADWAJ, N. & MATSUNO, K. 2006. Investigating the antecedents and outcomes of customer firm transaction cost savings in a supply chain relationship. *Journal of Business Research*, 59, 62-72.
- BLOME, C. & SCHOENHERR, T. 2011. Supply chain risk management in financial crises—A multiple case-study approach. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 134, 43-57.
- BODE, C., HÜBNER, D. & WAGNER, S. M. 2014. Managing financially distressed suppliers: An exploratory study. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 50, 24-43.
- BOURGEOIS, L. J. 1981. On the measurement of organizational slack. *Academy of Management Review*, 6, 29-39.
- BOWEN, F. E. 2002. Does size matter? Organizational slack and visibility as alternative explanations for environmental responsiveness. *Business & Society*, 41, 118-124.
- BOWEN, F. E. 2007. Corporate social strategy: Competing views from two theories of the firm. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 75, 97-113.
- BOWEN, F. E., COUSINS, P. D., LAMMING, R. C. & FARUKT, A. C. 2001. The role of supply management capabilities in green supply. *Production & Operations Management*, 10, 174-189.
- BOYER, K. K., OLSON, J. R., CALANTONE, R. J. & JACKSON, E. C. 2002. Print versus electronic surveys: A comparison of two data collection methodologies. *Journal of Operations Management*, 20, 357-373.
- CARR, A. S., KAYNAK, H., HARTLEY, J. L. & ROSS, A. 2008. Supplier dependence: Impact on supplier's participation and performance. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 28, 899-916.
- CARTER, C. R. & JENNINGS, M. M. 2004. The role of purchasing in corporate social responsibility: A structural equation analysis. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 25, 145-186.
- CHENG, T., YIP, F. & YEUNG, A. 2012. Supply risk management via "guanxi" in the Chinese business context: The buyer's perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 139, 3-13.
- CHIU, S.-C. & SHARFMAN, M. 2011. Legitimacy, visibility, and the antecedents of corporate social performance: An investigation of the instrumental perspective. *Journal of Management*, 37, 1558-1585.
- CILIBERTI, F., PONTRANDOLFO, P. & SCOZZI, B. 2008. Investigating corporate social responsibility in supply chains: A SME perspective. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16, 1579-1588.
- COUSINS, P. D., LAMMING, R. C. & BOWEN, F. E. 2004. The role of risk in environment-related supplier initiatives. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 24, 554-565.
- COX, A. 2004. The art of the possible: Relationship management in power regimes and supply chains. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 9, 346-356.
- CRESWELL, J. W. 2013. Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches, London, Sage Publications, Inc.
- CROSON, R., ANAND, J. & AGARWAL, R. 2007. Using experiments in corporate strategy research. *European Management Review*, 4, 173-181.
- CRUM, M., POIST, R., CARTER, C. R. & LIANE EASTON, P. 2011. Sustainable supply chain management: Evolution and future directions. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*, 41, 46-62.
- ECCLES, R. G., NEWQUIST, S. C. & SCHATZ, R. 2007. Reputation and its risks. *Harvard Business Review*, 85, 104-114.
- ECHAMBADI, R., CAMPBELL, B. & AGARWAL, R. 2006. Encouraging best practice in quantitative management research: An incomplete list of opportunities. *Journal of Management Studies*, 43, 1801-1820.
- ECKERD, S., HILL, J., BOYER, K. K., DONOHUE, K. & WARD, P. T. 2013. The relative impact of attribute, severity, and timing of psychological contract breach on behavioral and attitudinal outcomes. *Journal of Operations Management*.
- EHRGOTT, M., REIMANN, F., KAUFMANN, L. & CARTER, C. R. 2011. Social sustainability in selecting emerging economy suppliers. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 98, 99-119.
- EHRGOTT, M., REIMANN, F., KAUFMANN, L. & CARTER, C. R. 2013. Environmental development of emerging economy suppliers: Antecedents and outcomes. *Journal of Business Logistics*, 34, 131-147.
- EISENHARDT, K. M. 1985. Control: Organizational and economic approaches. *Management Science*, 31, 134-149.
- EISENHARDT, K. M. 1989. Agency theory: An assessment and review. Academy of Management Review, 14, 57-74.
- ELLIS, S. C., HENRY, R. M. & SHOCKLEY, J. 2010. Buyer perceptions of supply disruption risk: A behavioral view and empirical assessment. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 34-46.
- ELLIS, S. C., SHOCKLEY, J. & HENRY, R. M. 2011. Making sense of supply disruption risk research: A conceptual framework grounded in enactment theory. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 47, 65-96.
- FELLOW, A. 2013. Nike boosts sustainability of textiles with new Swiss partner. Bloomberg.
- FOERSTL, K., REUTER, C., HARTMANN, E. & BLOME, C. 2010. Managing supplier sustainability risks in a dynamically changing environment—Sustainable supplier management in the chemical industry. *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 16, 118-130.
- FREDRICKSON, J. W. 1986. Research notes and communications: An exploratory approach to measuring perceptions of strategic decision process constructs. *Strategic Management Journal*, 7, 473-483.
- GAP INC. 2013. Bangladesh Update [Online]. Available: http://www.gapinc.com/content/gapinc/html/social responsibility/bangladesh.html.
- GENCTURK, E. F. & AULAKH, P. S. 1995. The use of process and output controls in foreign markets. *Journal of International Business Studies*, 26, 755-786.
- GEORGE, G. 2005. Slack resources and the performance of privately held firms. *Academy of Management Journal*, 48, 661-676.
- GHEMAWAT, P. & NUENO, J. L. 2006. Zara: Fast Fashion, Harvard Business School.
- GIMENEZ, C. & SIERRA, V. 2013. Sustainable supply chains: Governance mechanisms to greening suppliers. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 116, 189-203.
- GOLICIC, S. L. & SMITH, C. D. 2013. A meta-analysis of environmentally sustainable supply chain management practices and firm performance. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49, 78-95.
- GRANT, J. & ANDO, R. 2008. Staples cuts ties with APP on environment worry. Reuters.
- GREWAL, D., ROGGEVEEN, A. L. & TSIROS, M. 2008. The effect of compensation on repurchase intentions in service recovery. *Journal of Retailing*, 84, 424-434.

- GULATI, R. & SYTCH, M. 2007. Dependence asymmetry and joint dependence in interorganizational relationships: Effects of embeddedness on a manufacturer's performance in procurement relationships. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 52, 32-69.
- HAIR, J. F., BLACK, W. C., BABIN, B. J. & ANDERSON, R. E. 2010. *Multivariate Data Analysis* Upper Saddle River, NJ, Prentice Hall.
- HALL, J. 2000. Environmental supply chain dynamics. Journal of Cleaner Production, 8, 455-471.
- HALLEN, L., JOHANSON, J. & SEYED-MOHAMED, N. 1991. Interfirm adaptation in business relationships. *Journal of Marketing*, 55, 29-37.
- HANDLEY, S. M. & BENTON, W. J. 2013. The influence of task- and location-specific complexity on the control and coordination costs in global outsourcing relationships. *Journal of Operations Management*, 31, 109-128.
- HERRON, J. 2010. BP Slams Oil-Spill Critics. The Wall Street Journal.
- HILLMAN, A. J., WITHERS, M. C. & COLLINS, B. J. 2009. Resource dependence theory: A review. *Journal of Management*, 35, 1404-1427.
- HOEJMOSE, S. U., GROSVOLD, J. & MILLINGTON, A. 2013. Socially responsible supply chains: Power asymmetries and joint dependence. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 18, 277-291.
- HOFER, C., CANTOR, D. E. & DAI, J. 2012. The competitive determinants of a firm's environmental management activities: Evidence from US manufacturing industries. *Journal of Operations Management*, 30, 69-84.
- HOFMANN, H., BUSSE, C., BODE, C. & HENKE, M. 2014. Sustainability-related supply chain risks: Conceptualization and management. *Business Strategy & the Environment*, 23, 160-172.
- HORA, M. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2013. Learning from others' misfortune: Factors influencing knowledge acquisition to reduce operational risk. *Journal of Operations Management*, 31, 52-61.
- HUNG, K. T., RO, Y. K. & TANGPONG, C. 2009. Agent characteristics and compliance behavior in supply chain disruptions. *Journal of Business & Management*, 15, 51-71.
- HYMAN, M. R. & STEINER, S. D. 1996. The vignette method in business ethics research: current uses and recommendations. In: STUART, E. W., ORTINAU, D. J. & MOORE, E. M. (eds.) Marketing: Moving Toward the 21st Century. Winthrop University School of Business Administration.
- IKEA. 2012. IKEA Group Sustainability Report [Online]. Available: http://www.ikea.com/ms/en\_US/pdf/sustainability\_report/sustainability\_report\_2012.pdf.
- INDITEX. 2013. *Code of Conduct for Manufacturers and Suppliers* [Online]. Available: http://www.inditex.com/en/corporate\_responsibility/social\_dimension/.
- JACCARD, J. 2001. Interaction Effects in Logistic Regression, Thousand Oaks, CA, Sage Publications, Inc.
- JIANG, B. 2009. The effects of interorganizational governance on supplier's compliance with SCC: An empirical examination of compliant and non-compliant suppliers. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27, 267-280.
- JIANG, B., BAKER, R. C. & FRAZIER, G. V. 2009. An analysis of job dissatisfaction and turnover to reduce global supply chain risk: Evidence from China. *Journal of Operations Management*, 27, 169-184.
- JÜTTNER, U., PECK, H. & CHRISTOPHER, M. 2003. Supply chain risk management: Outlining an agenda for future research. *International Journal of Logistics: Research & Applications*, 6, 197-210.

- KETCHEN, D. J. & HULT, G. T. M. 2007. Bridging organization theory and supply chain management: The case of best value supply chains. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 573-580.
- KLASSEN, R. D. & JACOBS, J. 2001. Experimental comparison of web, electronic and mail survey technologies in operations management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 19, 713-728.
- KLASSEN, R. D. & VEREECKE, A. 2012. Social issues in supply chains: Capabilities link responsibility, risk (opportunity), and performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 103-115.
- KLEINDORFER, P. R. & SAAD, G. H. 2005. Managing disruption risks in supply chains. *Production & Operations Management*, 14, 53-68.
- KOCABASOGLU, C., PRAHINSKI, C. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2007. Linking forward and reverse supply chain investments: The role of business uncertainty. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 1141-1160.
- KRALJIC, P. 1983. Purchasing must become supply management. Harvard Business Review, 61, 109-117.
- KRAUSE, D. R., HANDFIELD, R. B. & TYLER, B. B. 2007. The relationship between supplier development, commitment, social capital accumulation and performance improvement. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 528-545.
- KRAUSE, D. R., VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2009. Special topic forum on sustainable supply chain management: Introduction and reflections on the role of purchasing management. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 45, 18-25.
- LANIER, D., WEMPE, W. F. & ZACHARIA, Z. G. 2010. Concentrated supply chain membership and financial performance: Chain- and firm-level perspectives. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 1-16.
- LANIER JR, D., WEMPE, W. F. & ZACHARIA, Z. G. 2010. Concentrated supply chain membership and financial performance: Chain-and firm-level perspectives. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 1-16.
- LATHAM, S. F. & BRAUN, M. 2009. Managerial risk, innovation, and organizational decline. *Journal of Management*, 35, 258-281.
- LEE, S. Y. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2008. Drivers and enablers that foster environmental management capabilities in small- and medium-sized suppliers in supply chains. *Production & Operations Management*, 17, 573-586.
- LEFEVRE, C., PELLÉ, D., ABEDI, S., MARTINEZ, R. & THALER, P. F. 2010. Value of Sustainable Procurement Practices. PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited (PwC), EcoVadis, and INSEAD Social Innovation Centre (ISIC).
- LEMKE, F. & PETERSEN, H. L. 2013. Teaching reputational risk management in the supply chain. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 18, 413-429.
- LIM, S.-J. & PHILLIPS, J. 2008. Embedding CSR values: The global footwear industry's evolving governance structure. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 81, 143-156.
- LOCKE, R., AMENGUAL, M. & MANGLA, A. 2009. Virtue out of necessity? Compliance, commitment, and the improvement of labor conditions in global supply chains. *Politics & Society*, 37, 319-351.
- MANTEL, S. P., TATIKONDA, M. V. & LIAO, Y. 2006. A behavioral study of supply manager decisionmaking: Factors influencing make versus buy evaluation. *Journal of Operations Management*, 24, 822-838.
- MARCH, J. G. & SHAPIRA, Z. 1987. Managerial perspectives on risk and risk taking. *Management Science*, 33, 1404-1418.
- MESZAROS, J. R. 1999. Preventive choices: Organizations' heuristics, decision processes and catastrophic risks. Journal of Management Studies, 36, 977-998.

- MITCHELL, R. K., AGLE, B. R. & WOOD, D. J. 1997. Toward a theory of stakeholder identification and salience: Defining the principle of who and what really counts. *Academy of Management Review*, 22, 853-886.
- MODI, S. B. & MABERT, V. A. 2007. Supplier development: Improving supplier performance through knowledge transfer. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 42-64.
- MONTGOMERY, D. C. 2012. Design and Analysis of Experiments, New York, John Wiley & Sons.
- MOORE, G. 2001. Corporate social and financial performance: An investigation in the UK supermarket industry. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 34, 299-315.
- MORALI, O. & SEARCY, C. 2013. A review of sustainable supply chain management practices in Canada. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 117, 635-658.
- NEEF, D. 2004. The Supply Chain Impetrative: How to Ensure Ethical Behavior in Your Global Suppliers, New York, American Management Association.
- OUCHI, W. G. 1977. The relationship between organizational structure and organizational control. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 22, 95-113.
- OUCHI, W. G. 1979. A conceptual framework for the design of organizational control mechanisms. *Management Science*, 25, 833-848.
- OUCHI, W. G. 1980. Markets, bureaucracies, and clans. Administrative Science Quarterly, 25, 129-141.
- PABLO, A. L., SITKIN, S. B. & JEMISON, D. B. 1996. Acquisition decision-making processes: The central role of risk. *Journal of Management*, 22, 723-746.
- PAGELL, M. & GOBELI, D. 2009. How plant managers' experiences and attitudes toward sustainability relate to operational performance. *Production & Operations Management*, 18, 278-299.
- PAGELL, M. & WU, Z. 2009. Building a more complete theory of sustainable supply chain management using case studies of 10 exemplars. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 45, 37-56.
- PARMIGIANI, A., KLASSEN, R. D. & RUSSO, M. V. 2011. Efficiency meets accountability: Performance implications of supply chain configuration, control, and capabilities. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29, 212-223.
- PATZELT, H. & SHEPHERD, D. A. 2008. The decision to persist with underperforming alliances: The role of trust and control. *Journal of Management Studies*, 45, 1217-1243.
- PEDERSEN, E. R. 2009. The many and the few: Rounding up the SMEs that manage CSR in the supply chain. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 14, 109-116.
- PEDERSEN, E. R. & ANDERSEN, M. 2006. Safeguarding corporate social responsibility (CSR) in global supply chains: How codes of conduct are managed in buyer-supplier relationships. *Journal of Public Affairs*, 6, 228-240.
- PERDUE, B. C. & SUMMERS, J. O. 1986. Checking the success of manipulations in marketing experiments. *Journal of marketing Research*, 23, 317-326.
- PFEFFER, J. & SALANCIK, G. R. 2003. *The External Control of Organizations: A Resource Dependence Perspective*, Stanford, CA, Stanford University Press.
- REUTER, C., FOERSTL, K., HARTMANN, E. & BLOME, C. 2010. Sustainable global supplier management: The role of dynamic capabilities in achieving competitive advantage. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 46, 45-63.
- RITCHIE, B. & BRINDLEY, C. 2007. Supply chain risk management and performance: A guiding framework for future development. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 27, 303-322.
- ROBERTS, R. W. 1992. Determinants of corporate social responsibility disclosure: An application of stakeholder theory. *Accounting, Organizations and Society,* 17, 595-612.

- ROEHRICH, J. K., GROSVOLD, J. & HOEJMOSE, S. U. 2014. Reputational risks and sustainable supply chain management: Decision making under bounded rationality. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 34, 695-719.
- ROTH, A. V., TSAY, A. A., PULLMAN, M. E. & GRAY, J. V. 2008. Unraveling the food supply chain: Strategic insights from china and the 2007 recalls. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 44, 22-39.
- ROWE, W. G., O'BRIEN, J., ROUSE, M. J. & NIXON, R. D. 2012. Navy stories behavior versus professional control. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 21, 61-77.
- RUNGTUSANATHAM, M., WALLIN, C. & ECKERD, S. 2011. The vignette in a scenario-based roleplaying experiment. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 47, 9-16.
- SAWYER, A. G. 1975. Demand artifacts in laboratory experiments in consumer research. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 1, 20-30.
- SEURING, S. & MÜLLER, M. 2008. From a literature review to a conceptual framework for sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16, 1699-1710.
- SHARFMAN, M. P., WOLF, G., CHASE, R. B. & TANSIK, D. A. 1988. Antecedents of organizational slack. *Academy of Management Review*, 13, 601-614.
- SHARMA, S. 2000. Managerial interpretations and organizational context as predictors of corporate choice of environmental strategy. *Academy of Management Journal*, 43, 681-697.
- SHEFFI, Y. 2005. The Resilient Enterprise: Overcoming Vulnerability for Competitive Advantage, Cambridge, MA, MIT Press.
- SIEMSEN, E. 2011. The usefulness of behavioral laboratory experiments in supply chain management research. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 47, 17-18.
- SINGH, J. V. 1986. Performance, slack, and risk taking in organizational decision making. Academy of Management Journal, 29, 562-585.
- SITKIN, S. B. & WEINGART, L. R. 1995. Determinants of risky decision-making behavior: A test of the mediating role of risk perceptions and propensity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 38, 1573-1592.
- SMITH, N. C., ANSETT, S. & EREZ, L. 2011. How Gap Inc. engaged with its stakeholders. MIT Sloan Management Review, 52, 69-76.
- SNELL, S. A. 1992. Control theory in strategic human resource management: The mediating effect of administrative information. *Academy of Management Journal*, 35, 292-327.
- SODHI, M. S., SON, B. G. & TANG, C. S. 2012. Researchers' perspectives on supply chain risk management. Production & Operations Management, 21, 1-13.
- SODHI, M. S. & TANG, C. S. 2012. Managing Supply Chain Risk. New York: Springer.
- SOUZA, G. C., ZHAO, Z. & CHEN, M. 2004. Coordinating sales and raw material discounts in a global supply chain. Production & Operations Management, 13, 34-45.
- SPENCE, L. & BOURLAKIS, M. 2009. The evolution from corporate social responsibility to supply chain responsibility: The case of Waitrose. *Supply Chain Management: An International Journal*, 14, 291-302.
- TAN, J. & PENG, M. W. 2003. Organizational slack and firm performance during economic transitions: Two studies from an emerging economy. *Strategic Management Journal*, 24, 1249-1263.
- TANGPONG, C., HUNG, K. T. & RO, Y. K. 2010. The interaction effect of relational norms and agent cooperativeness on opportunism in buyer-supplier relationships. *Journal of Operations Management*, 28, 398-414.

- TANGPONG, C., MICHALISIN, M. D. & MELCHER, A. J. 2008. Toward a typology of buyer–supplier relationships: A study of the computer industry. *Decision Sciences*, 39, 571-593.
- TAZELAAR, F. & SNIJDERS, C. 2013. Operational risk assessments by supply chain professionals: Process and performance. *Journal of Operations Management*, 31, 37-51.
- THOMAS, S. P., THOMAS, R. W., MANRODT, K. B. & RUTNER, S. M. 2013. An experimental test of negotiation strategy effects on knowledge sharing intentions in buyer–supplier relationships. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49, 96-113.
- TJEMKES, B. & FURRER, O. 2010. The antecedents of response strategies in strategic alliances. *Management Decision*, 48, 1103-1133.
- VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2006. Extending green practices across the supply chain: The impact of upstream and downstream integration. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 26, 795-821.
- VACHON, S. & KLASSEN, R. D. 2008. Environmental management and manufacturing performance: The role of collaboration in the supply chain. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 111, 299-315.
- VAN TULDER, R., VAN WIJK, J. & KOLK, A. 2009. From chain liability to chain responsibility. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 85, 399-412.
- VEREECKE, A. & MUYLLE, S. 2006. Performance improvement through supply chain collaboration in Europe. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 26, 1176-1198.
- VOSS, G. B., SIRDESHMUKH, D. & VOSS, Z. G. 2008. The effects of slack resources and environmental threat on product exploration and exploitation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 51, 147-164.
- VURRO, C., RUSSO, A. & PERRINI, F. 2009. Shaping sustainable value chains: Network determinants of supply chain governance models. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 90, 607-621.
- WALKER, H. & JONES, N. 2012. Sustainable supply chain management across the UK private sector. Supply Chain Management: An International Journal, 17, 15-28.
- WILKINS, A. L. & OUCHI, W. G. 1983. Efficient cultures: Exploring the relationship between culture and organizational performance. Administrative Science Quarterly, 28, 468-481.
- WU, Z. & PAGELL, M. 2011. Balancing priorities: Decision-making in sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29, 577-590.
- YATES, J. F. & STONE, E. R. 1992. The risk construct. *In:* YATES, J. F. (ed.) *Risk Taking Behavior*. New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- YUN, M., PAKIAM, R. & LISTIYORINI, E. 2013. Wilmar to cut off palm suppliers caught burning in Indonesia. *Bloomberg*.
- ZHAO, X., FLYNN, B. B. & ROTH, A. V. 2007. Decision sciences research in China: Current status, opportunities, and propositions for research in supply chain management, logistics, and quality management. *Decision Sciences*, 38, 39-80.
- ZHU, Q. & SARKIS, J. 2007. The moderating effects of institutional pressures on emergent green supply chain practices and performance. *International Journal of Production Research*, 45, 4333-4355.
- ZHU, Q., SARKIS, J. & LAI, K. 2007. Green supply chain management: Pressures, practices and performance within the Chinese automobile industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 15, 1041-1052.
- ZSIDISIN, G. A. & ELLRAM, L. M. 2003. An agency theory investigation of supply risk management. Journal of Supply Chain Management, 39, 15-27.

ZSIDISIN, G. A., MELNYK, S. A. & RAGATZ, G. L. 2005. An institutional theory perspective of business continuity planning for purchasing and supply management. *International Journal of Production Research*, 43, 3401-3420.

Appendix IV-A: Description of the scenarios and the manipulation of treatment factors

#### Scenario 1

Kojak Inc. is a mid-sized apparel retailer based in United States, offering stylish and affordable clothing and accessories for men and women. The Kojak brand is available online and in more than 400 stores across North America. With only 20% of its clothing made locally, the company has a large international supply base located in Asia (about 50%) and South America (about 30%). In 2013, Kojak spent about \$500 million on purchasing finished goods from suppliers. Sales in North America have been growing slowly with modest profitability in recent years. In the past few years, a number of companies operating in the apparel industry have experienced negative publicity and reputational damage due to the unsafe and unhealthy work conditions at their suppliers' facilities. To avoid similar problems, Kojak's CEO has recently extended Kojak's health and safety policy to include the suppliers' premises.

Currently, Kojak has no formal processes to monitor, manage, or improve health- and safety-related measures in place at its suppliers' facilities. The CEO has [allocated a special annual budget of \$5 million to your department for making the necessary changes to the supplier management activities vs. asked you to make the necessary changes to the supplier management activities within your department's current budget limits and stated that no budget adjustments will be approved]. To comply with Kojak's new policy, you plan to look into all supplier profiles from a workplace health and safety perspective and decide what action, if any, to take with each of them. One supplier has been brought to your attention by a junior staff person.

B.A.P. Ltd. is located in a developing country in Southeast Asia. During the past year, this company [received one safety violation citation from the local government authorities vs. was targeted by a reputable international human rights activist group and highlighted on their website] because of the unsafe and unhealthy work conditions at their facilities. Because of their [small size (120 employees) vs. large size (1100 employees)], it [is not vs. is] likely that they will draw [any vs. more] attention from the activist groups, non-government organizations (NGOs), or media in the future. Approximately [90% vs. 10%] of B.A.P. total sales are to Kojak, which accounts for nearly one tenth of Kojak's purchased goods.

# Scenario 2

ChocoYum Inc., headquartered in Chicago, is a mid-sized confectionery producer with over 700 employees. Established in 1995, the company now manufactures chocolates, snacks, and refreshment products at five plants spread across United States. These products are distributed and sold in North America. Palm oil is one of the major ingredients of ChocoYum chocolate products. Oil palms grow in equatorial conditions in Asia, Latin America, and Africa. ChocoYum's oil suppliers are mainly based in Asia. In 2013, ChocoYum spent about \$200 million for the imported palm oil. During the past few years, a number of companies operating in this industry have experienced negative publicity and reputational damage because one or more of their suppliers have sourced palm oil from regions of the world experiencing rainforest deforestation. Such deforestation has been linked to climate change and destruction of rainforest ecosystems. To avoid similar problems, ChocoYum's CEO has recently extended ChocoYum's environmental policy to include the suppliers' processes and activities.

Currently, ChocoYum has no formal processes to monitor, manage, or improve the environmental measures in place at its suppliers' facilities. The CEO has [allocated a special annual budget of \$2 million to your department for making the necessary changes to the supplier management activities vs. asked you to make the necessary changes to the supplier management activities within your department's current budget limits and stated that no budget adjustments will be approved]. To comply with ChocoYum's new policy, you plan to look into how suppliers source palm oil from an environmental sustainability perspective and decide what action, if any, to take with each of them. One supplier has been brought to your attention by a junior staff person.

P.O.P. Ltd., one of the palm oil suppliers, is an Indonesian firm. Last year, this company was [found guilty and ordered to pay a fine by an Indonesian court vs. targeted by a reputable environmental activist group and highlighted on their website] for violating the environmental laws and clearing an area of protected peat forest. Because of their [*small size (120 employees)* vs. *large size (1100 employees)*], it [*is not* vs. *is*] likely that they will draw [*any* vs. *more*] attention from the activist groups, non-government organizations (NGOs), or media in the future. Approximately [90% vs. 10%] of P.O.P. total sales are to ChocoYum, which accounts for nearly one tenth of ChocoYum's palm oil supply.

Appendix IV-B: Dependent variable and manipulation check scales (Scenario 1)

# **Scale-Type Dependent Variables**

Given the information provided in the scenario, to what extent are you likely to take the following actions with regard to B.A.P. Ltd.? (1=very unlikely, 7=very likely)

# **Risk Acceptance**

Q-1: Take no new actions regarding health & safety issues at their facilities.

# **Risk Avoidance**

Q-2: Continue the business with them for a long time. (Dropped)

Q-3: Look for another supplier to replace them.

<u>*Q-4:*</u> Imply in your negotiations with them that they are in danger of losing the business unless their health and safety issues are properly managed. (Dropped)</u>

*Q-5: Renew the relationship once the current contract expires.* (*Dropped*)

Q-6: Terminate the relationship.

# **Risk Mitigation- Monitoring Based**

Q-7: Include health and safety measures such as incident/ accident rates in evaluating their performance.

Q-8: Send out a questionnaire asking them to report on their health and safety measures such as incident/ accident rates or the use of overtime.

Q-9: Regularly send your staff to perform workplace health and safety audits at their facilities.

Q-10: Provide them with feedback about the results of audits and performance evaluations.

Q-11: Require them an international health and safety standard certification (e.g., OHSAS 18001).

# **Risk Mitigation- Collaboration Based**

Q-12: Allow an open two-way dialogue to jointly establish proper goals/targets regarding health and safety issues. (Dropped)

Q-13: Work closely with them to improve their health and safety performance (e.g., joint investment).

Q-14: Provide training/education to their personnel to improve their health and safety performance.

Q-15: Put incentives in place to improve their health and safety performance (e.g., financial rewards).

Q-16: Invest resources in developing their capabilities and improving their health and safety performance (e.g., financial aids).

# **Discrete Choice Dependent Variable**

Given the information provided in the scenario, which one of the following four strategies would you choose as your MAJOR and ULTIMATE approach in managing your supplier, B.A.P. Ltd.?

- a) You will terminate the relationship with them and switch to another supplier.
- b) You will start collaborating with them to improve their health & safety performance, e.g. through training and education of their personnel, providing financial aids, etc.
- c) You will start monitoring their health & safety performance, e.g. through self-evaluations, audits, third party certifications, etc.
- d) You will continue working with them without taking any new actions regarding health & safety issues at their facilities.

# Manipulation Check Scales

Given the information provided in the scenario, to what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements? (1=strongly disagree, 7= strongly agree)

Perceived Risk (Adapted from Wagner & Bode (2006), Ellis et al. (2010), and Tazelaar & Snijders (2013))

1. B.A.P.'s behavior will have negative impacts on Kojak's reputation.

2. The relationship with B.A.P. will be problematic for Kojak in the future.

3. The relationship with B.A.P. is risky for Kojak.

# Supplier Dependence (Adapted from Carr et al. (2008), Bode et al. (2011), He et al. (2012))

1. B.A.P. cannot afford to lose Kojak's business.

2. The relationship with Kojak is crucial to B.A.P.'s future performance.

3. B.A.P. is dependent on Kojak.

# Slack Resources (Adapted from Danneels (2008))

1. You have sufficient discretionary financial resources to implement your desired supply management strategy.

# **Chapter V**

# Chapter V. Conclusion

This dissertation aimed to study various approaches which organizations might undertake to manage the environmental and social risks originating from their internal operations or their supply chains, including environmental management, safety management, supplier development, and supplier phase-out initiatives. Specifically, the overarching research objective was to investigate the determinants of these initiatives and their subsequent effects on organizations' performance. In doing so, this dissertation presented three complementary essays, each one making a unique contribution to a deeper understanding of sustainable operations management (OM). This final chapter concludes the dissertation by outlining the broader contributions of the dissertation, describing its limitations, and discussing possibilities for future research.

# **1. Key Implications**

This dissertation made four major contributions to the sustainable operations management literature which, when taken together, sheds some light on different ways to manage sustainability-related risks within organizations or across their supply chains. First, this dissertation took a broad approach and adapted the Kleindorfer et al.'s internal-external perspective (2005) on sustainable operations. Specifically, it took the leap from investigating the intra-organizational environmental and social practices in the first essay to the examination of the strategies aimed at managing sustainability issues within the supply chain in the second and third essays. In addition, the three essays collectively contribute to the sustainable operations management literature by exploring it through two relatively new perspectives, i.e., "safety management" and "risk management".

Second, sustainable operations management literature has traditionally focused on the environmental issues and overlooked the social component of sustainability (Kleindorfer et al., 2005, Linton et al., 2007). Moreover, only a few recent studies have simultaneously looked at social, environmental, and economic aspects of sustainability (Thornton et al., 2013, Pagell et al., 2010, Pullman et al., 2009, Gimenez et al., 2012), whereas almost all other studies investigate these aspects in a standalone fashion (Seuring and Müller, 2008). The three essays in this dissertation, however, collectively considered all three elements of sustainability, i.e., people, planet, and profit (Elkington, 1998). For example, the first and third essays concentrated on the workplace safety as one of the most important social aspects of organization's operations, which has been predominantly ignored in the sustainable operations management literature (Pagell et al., 2014). Essay 1, further, empirically investigated the simultaneous effect of safety culture on organizations' financial, environmental, and safety performance through the mediating effect of environmental and safety management practices. Similarly, the vignette-based experiment presented in essay 3 explored how buying organizations manage safety- or environmentally-related risks within their supply chains. Finally, the second paper conceptually theorized about the relationship between managing supplier sustainability risks (environmental and social risks, as a whole) and organizations' financial performance.

Third, this dissertation responded to the ever-growing need for theoreticallygrounded studies to describe, explain, and predict operations and supply chain phenomena (Ketchen and Hult, 2007b, Sarkis et al., 2011). For example, the first essay built on the organizational support theory (Eisenberger et al., 1997) to explain how the organization's safety culture and the management commitment in improving workplace safety would motivate the employees to help their organization enhance its financial performance and effectively adopt environmental practices and improve its environmental performance. In the same vein, the second and third essays drew on the resource dependence (Pfeffer and Salancik, 2003) and the agency/management control (Eisenhardt, 1989, Ouchi, 1979) theories and identified two major factors as the determinants of different approaches toward managing supplier sustainability risks: level of perceived risk and the buyer-supplier dependence structure. Accordingly, collaboration-based sustainable supplier development (SSD) was suggested to be used in interdependent buyer-supplier relationships and high-risk buyer dominant situations. Monitoring-based SSD, however, was hypothesized to be employed to mitigate low levels of risk in buyer dominant situations. In addition, it was proposed that the intended strategy in high-risk independent buyer-supplier relationships would be to phase-out the supplier. Finally, organizations were suggested to accept the risk and take no actions in low-risk independent situations as well as in relationships with dominant suppliers.

Finally, top management intentions can be quite different from the decisions made by the operational managers when it comes to being more sustainable (Wheeler et al., 2002). Therefore, it is imperative to understand the sustainability-related strategies, initiatives, and decisions carried out at the operational level (Pagell and Gobeli, 2009). This dissertation addressed this issue in three different ways: (i) the first essay examined individual plants, and not companies, as the unit of analysis to be closer to day-to-day decisions at the operational level, (ii) the scope of the second essay was limited to the operational-level, and not corporate-level, strategies for managing the supplier sustainability risks such as monitoring-based or collaboration-based sustainable supplier development (SSD) initiatives, and (iii) the third essay targeted actual supply managers, and not top management, as the sample population assuming that they are the major decision makers in the supply chain context.

# 2. Limitations and Future Research

The contributions made in this dissertation must be viewed in light of the limitations associated with the three essays. First and foremost, the scope of all three studies was limited to strategies and initiatives carried out at the operational level and not the corporate level. For example, the risk management strategies in essays 2 and 3 are limited to the operations strategy level and do not transcend to the corporate-level strategies toward reputational risk or brand management. For instance, some buying organizations have recently employed "stakeholder bridging" strategy to deal with supplier sustainability risks: they have begun to actively approach and cooperate with critical NGO's and other salient stakeholders to reduce their pressure and enhance the legitimacy of their own sustainability-related initiatives (Foerstl et al., 2010, Matos and Hall, 2007). However, the scope of this dissertation does not cover such corporate-level strategies.

Three major limitations of this dissertation arise predominantly from the employed methodologies and the nature of the data in both empirical studies (i.e., essays 1 and 3). First, the data was collected from a limited range of industries in North America with moderate levels of safety and environmental risks in the first essay and high levels of supplier sustainability risks in the third essay. Therefore, the findings may not be

generalizable to organizations operating in other counties or other industries. Given the essential effect of industry and culture on operations and supply chain management practices (Wu and Pagell, 2011, Bates et al., 1995, Bortolotti et al., 2015, Baird et al., 2012), future studies are required to look beyond the context of these two studies.

Second, the collected data was from a cross-sectional snapshot; therefore, in the first essay, it was not possible to test and account for the lags between the development of the safety culture and the existence of practices and performance changes; similarly, the third essay investigated a one-shot decision regarding one supplier. To address this limitation in essay 1, a set of longitudinal studies can be conducted to measure the extent of safety-oriented culture and the implementation level of safety and environmental practices and their impact on organizational performance across a three to five year period, examining the relationships and their development through time. As for essay 3, future research may consider a step-wise decision making process where the information on the predictor factors are gradually provided to the participants or use conjoint analysis technique comparing multiple suppliers.

Third, both empirical studies used a single methodology (survey or experiment) and data source for empirical investigation. Specifically, the first essay relied on single-respondent perceptual data which could create grounds for bias. This shortcoming was partially addressed by validating the survey data on environmental performance with NPRI objective measure to show that there was no major bias in the single respondent self-reported data in this study (it was the only plant-level secondary data available). Changing the unit of analysis to the firm level, future studies can collect secondary panel data for companies whose performance information are available on databases such as Compustat and Environmental, Social and Governance factors (ESG) and triangulate it with a primary survey data collected from the same companies.

In addition, essay 2 put forth a conceptual framework that was only partially validated by the empirical data in essay 3. Specifically, essay 3 neither examined the effect of buyer dependence on the risk management strategies nor did it investigate the strategy-outcome relationships (i.e., the effect of risk management strategies on reputation and financial performance). An avenue for future research would be to design

and develop empirical studies to examine these missing elements.

From a conceptual standpoint, this dissertation provides several trajectories for future research. In essay 1, a positive relationship between safety culture and environmental practices was established. It was argued that this relationship was because the employees were motivated by the positive safety culture and changed their behaviors to contribute to organizations' plans and objectives, including green programmes. However, such mediating effects were not empirically examined. Hence, an interesting stream of future research could supplement this study by concentrating on the underlying mechanisms between organizations' safety and environmental endeavors. Similarly, in essays 2 and 3, supply managers' risk perception was considered as one of the major factors in their choice among management strategies. However, the determinants of this construct, such as suppliers' size and ownership (Klassen and Vereecke, 2012), the level of focal firm's accountability for social and environmental issues in their supply base (Parmigiani et al., 2011), or the supply managers' personal characteristics, such as their risk propensity (Sitkin and Weingart, 1995), were not included in the model and can be explored in future studies.

Finally, a very interesting stream for future scholarly attempts stems from bringing the two research streams of this dissertation together. Specifically, exploring the connections between the internal sustainability-related approaches of a buying organization and its external sustainability-related management strategies toward the suppliers would be a worthy pursuit.

As a final remark, it is noteworthy to mention that the sustainability discussions are based on the basic assumption that a true sustainable organization can continue to do business forever by performing well not only on the traditional short-term measures of profit and loss, but also on the broader triple-bottom-line concept, including the longterm ecological and social outcomes. Indeed, such an organization does not exist today (Pagell and Gobeli, 2009). However, to be more sustainable than the competitors and remain in business longer than them, an organization should avoid a pure profitmaximization approach. Instead, it is best to take a non-trade-off perspective and try to balance and align its non-economic sustainability objectives with its financial goals. By doing so, the sustainability issues are integrated into all aspects of organization's business processes, driving its growth and financial gains.

# 3. References

- BAIRD, P. L., GEYLANI, P. C. & ROBERTS, J. A. 2012. Corporate social and financial performance reexamined: Industry effects in a linear mixed model analysis. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 109, 367–388.
- BATES, K. A., AMUNDSON, S. D., SCHROEDER, R. G. & MORRIS, W. T. 1995. The crucial interrelationship between manufacturing strategy and organizational culture. *Management Science*, 41, 1565-1580.
- BORTOLOTTI, T., BOSCARI, S. & DANESE, P. 2015. Successful lean implementation: Organizational culture and soft lean practices. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 160, 182-201.
- EISENBERGER, R., CUMMINGS, J., ARMELI, S. & LYNCH, P. 1997. Perceived organizational support, discretionary treatment, and job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82, 812.
- EISENHARDT, K. M. 1989. Agency theory: An assessment and review. Academy of Management Review, 14, 57-74.
- ELKINGTON, J. 1998. Cannibals With Forks: The Triple Bottom Line of 21st Century Business, London, John Wiley and Sons.
- FOERSTL, K., REUTER, C., HARTMANN, E. & BLOME, C. 2010. Managing supplier sustainability risks in a dynamically changing environment—Sustainable supplier management in the chemical industry. *Journal of Purchasing & Supply Management*, 16, 118-130.
- GIMENEZ, C., SIERRA, V. & RODON, J. 2012. Sustainable operations: Their impact on the triple bottom line. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 149-159.
- KETCHEN, D. J. & HULT, G. T. M. 2007. Toward greater integration of insights from organization theory and supply chain management. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 455-458.
- KLASSEN, R. D. & VEREECKE, A. 2012. Social issues in supply chains: Capabilities link responsibility, risk (opportunity), and performance. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 140, 103-115.
- KLEINDORFER, P. R., SINGHAL, K. & VAN WASSENHOVE, L. N. 2005. Sustainable operations management. *Production & Operations Management*, 14, 482-492.
- LINTON, J. D., KLASSEN, R. D. & JAYARAMAN, V. 2007. Sustainable supply chains: An introduction. Journal of Operations Management, 25, 1075-1082.
- MATOS, S. & HALL, J. 2007. Integrating sustainable development in the supply chain: The case of life cycle assessment in oil and gas and agricultural biotechnology. *Journal of Operations Management*, 25, 1083-1102.
- OUCHI, W. G. 1979. A conceptual framework for the design of organizational control mechanisms. *Management Science*, 25, 833-848.
- PAGELL, M. & GOBELI, D. 2009. How plant managers' experiences and attitudes toward sustainability relate to operational performance. *Production & Operations Management*, 18, 278-299.
- PAGELL, M., JOHNSTON, D., VELTRI, A., KLASSEN, R. & BIEHL, M. 2014. Is safe production an oxymoron? *Production & Operations Management*, 23, 1161-1175.
- PAGELL, M., WU, Z. & WASSERMAN, M. E. 2010. Thinking differently about purchasing portfolios: An assessment of sustainable sourcing. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 46, 57-73.

- PARMIGIANI, A., KLASSEN, R. D. & RUSSO, M. V. 2011. Efficiency meets accountability: Performance implications of supply chain configuration, control, and capabilities. *Journal of Operations Management*, 29, 212-223.
- PFEFFER, J. & SALANCIK, G. R. 2003. *The External Control of Organizations: A Resource Dependence Perspective*, Stanford, CA, Stanford University Press.
- PULLMAN, M. E., MALONI, M. J. & CARTER, C. R. 2009. Food for thought: Social versus environmental sustainability practices and performance outcomes. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 44, 38-54.
- SARKIS, J., ZHU, Q. & LAI, K. 2011. An organizational theoretic review of green supply chain management literature. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 130, 1-15.
- SEURING, S. & MÜLLER, M. 2008. From a literature review to a conceptual framework for sustainable supply chain management. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 16, 1699-1710.
- SITKIN, S. B. & WEINGART, L. R. 1995. Determinants of risky decision-making behavior: A test of the mediating role of risk perceptions and propensity. *Academy of Management Journal*, 38, 1573-1592.
- THORNTON, L. M., AUTRY, C. W., GLIGOR, D. M. & BRIK, A. B. 2013. Does socially responsible supplier selection pay off for customer firms? A cross-cultural comparison. *Journal of Supply Chain Management*, 49, 66-89.
- WHEELER, D., FABIG, H. & BOELE, R. 2002. Paradoxes and dilemmas for stakeholder responsive firms in the extractive sector: Lessons from the case of Shell and the Ogoni. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 39, 297-318.
- WU, Z. & PAGELL, M. 2011. Balancing priorities: Decision-making in sustainable supply chain management. Journal of Operations Management, 29, 577-590.

# Appendices

# **Appendix A.** Letter of Information and Questionnaire (Essay 3)

# Sustainability Challenges across Supply Chains

## Dear Madam/Sir,

You are invited to participate in a research project by a team of Operations Management researchers at Ivey Business School, Western University. This study addresses the sustainability issues within the supply chains, from a risk management perspective. If you are a panel member of Qualtrics who is currently working in the United States as a purchasing/supply manager (or director) for a medium or large size company in the manufacturing or retail trade industries, you are qualified to participate.

The purpose of this letter is to provide the information required for you to make an informed decision regarding participation in this research. Through the collection of perspectives from informed respondents, this study aims to explore how the organizations (specifically, focal firms within supply chains) can strategically manage the reputational risks associated with the sustainability-related malpractices at their suppliers' facilities. The online survey will ask you to read two scenarios and then, describe your possible actions in those circumstances by answering a set of questions. There is no time limit for completing the survey, although the estimated time for its completion is about 25 minutes. Your participation will be compensated in accordance with your agreement with Qualtrics.

There are no known or anticipated risks or discomforts from participating in this study. Your identity will remain anonymous and will not be provided to the researchers along with your responses. Any information that could identify you will be removed from your questionnaire, and you will not be asked to include your name or other identifying information on your survey. Participation in this study is voluntary. You may refuse to participate or withdraw from the study at any time. The collected information will remain strictly confidential and will be used only to advance knowledge and for the dissemination of the overall results at academic or professional forums. In accordance with the American Psychological Association guidelines, the data will be kept on file for five years and then destroyed.

Please note that completion of the online survey is indication of your consent to participate in this research study. Should you have any questions or concerns regarding this study, please contact the researchers, Stephan Vachon or Sara Hajmohammad. If you have any questions about the conduct of this study or your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Office of Research Ethics at Western University.

Thank you for completing the survey. Your participation in this research project is greatly appreciated!

Sincerely,

Stephan Vachon and Sara Hajmohammad

Q1.1 In what state do you currently reside?

0

- **O** I do not reside in the United States
- Q1.2 In which industry are you currently employed?
  - O Manufacturing (NAICS 31-33)
  - **O** Retail Trade- Electronics and Appliance (NAICS 443)
  - **O** Retail Trade- Food and Beverage (NAICS 445)
  - O Retail Trade- Health and Personal Care (NAICS 446)
  - Retail Trade- Clothing and Clothing Accessories (NAICS 448)
  - O Retail Trade- Sporting Goods, Hobby, Book and Music (NAICS 451)
  - O Other (7) \_\_\_\_\_

Q1.3 Approximately, how many employees work for your company?

- **O** < 100
- **O** 100 1,000
- **O** 1,001 5,000
- **O** 5,001 10,000
- **O** 10,001 and more

Q1.4 Do you consider yourself to be part of purchasing/supply chain team in your organization?

O Yes O No

Q1.5 Are you knowledgeable about purchasing/supply chain issues within your organization?

- O Yes
- O No

Q1.6 Please rate your level of agreement with the following statements.

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat Disagree (3)	Neither Agree nor Disagree (4)	Somewhat Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
A significant percentage of my time & effort is devoted to negotiating prices with suppliers.	O	О	o	О	0	О	o
A significant percentage of my time & effort is devoted to handling delivery of raw material and/or supplied items.	О	О	О	О	0	О	o
A significant percentage of my time & effort is devoted to taking care of supplier problems.	О	0	О	0	0	0	ο

# Scenario 1

Rather than focusing on your current employer, please imagine yourself in the position of Director of Procurement and Supply Chain Management at Kojak Inc., described below.

Kojak Inc. is a mid-sized apparel retailer based in the United States, offering stylish and affordable clothing and accessories for men and women. The Kojak brand is available online and in more than 400 stores across North America. With only 20% of its clothing made locally, the company has a large international supply base located in Asia (about 50%) and South America (about 30%). In 2013, Kojak spent about \$500 million on purchasing finished goods from suppliers. Sales in North America have been growing slowly with modest profitability in recent years.

In the past few years, a number of companies operating in the apparel industry have experienced negative publicity and reputational damage due to the unsafe and unhealthy work conditions at their suppliers' facilities. To avoid similar problems, Kojak's CEO has recently extended Kojak's health and safety policy to include the suppliers' premises.

Currently, Kojak has no formal processes to monitor, manage, or improve health- and safety-related measures in place at its suppliers' facilities. The CEO has allocated a special annual budget of \$5 million to your department for making the necessary changes to the supplier management activities.

To comply with Kojak's new policy, you plan to look into all supplier profiles from a workplace health and safety perspective and decide what action, if any, to take with each of them. One supplier has been brought to your attention by a junior staff person.

B.A.P. Ltd. is located in a developing country in Southeast Asia. During the past five years, this company has been targeted by a reputable international human rights activist group and highlighted on their website because of the unsafe and unhealthy work conditions at their facilities. Because of their large size (1100 employees), it is very likely that they will draw more attention from the activist groups, non-government organizations (NGOs), or media in the future. Approximately 90% of B.A.P. total sales are to Kojak, which accounts for nearly 5% of Kojak's purchased goods.

Before answering the questions, please consider how you might react in your position of Director of Procurement and Supply Management at Kojak Inc.

Q2.1 Given the information provided in the scenario, to what extent are you likely to take the following actions with regard to B.A.P. Ltd.?

	Very Unlikely (1)	Unlikely (2)	Somewhat Unlikely (3)	50/50 Chance (4)	Somewhat Likely (5)	Likely (6)	Very Likely (7)
Take no new actions regarding health & safety issues at their facilities.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Continue the business with them for a long time.	О	О	О	О	О	О	o
Look for another supplier to replace them.	О	О	О	О	О	0	0
Renew the relationship once the current contract expires.		0	О	0	0	0	О
Terminate the relationship.	О	О	О	О	О	О	o
Include health & safety measures such as incident/accident rates in evaluating their performance.		О	о	О	О	О	o
Send out a questionnaire asking them to report on their health & safety measures such as incident/accident rates or the use of overtime.		0	0	О	0	0	o
Regularly send your staff to perform workplace health & safety audits at their facilities.	о	О	о	О	О	О	o
Provide them with feedback about the results of audits and performance evaluations.	о	О	о	О	О	О	o
Require them an international health & safety standard certification (e.g., OHSAS 18001).	О	О	О	О	О	О	0
Work closely with them to improve their health & safety performance (e.g., joint investment).	О	О	О	О	О	О	0
Provide training/education to their personnel to improve their health & safety performance.	О	О	О	О	О	О	o
Put incentives in place to improve their health & safety performance (e.g., financial rewards).	о	О	о	О	О	О	o
Invest resources in developing their capabilities and improving their health & safety performance (e.g., financial aids)	О	0	О	0	0	0	o

Q2.2 Given the information provided in the scenario, which one of the following four strategies would you choose as your MAJOR and ULTIMATE approach in managing your supplier, B.A.P. Ltd.?

- **O** You will terminate the relationship with them and switch to another supplier.
- **O** You will start collaborating with them to improve their health & safety performance, e.g. through training and education of their personnel, providing financial aids, etc.
- **O** You will start monitoring their health & safety performance, e.g. through self-evaluations, audits, third party certifications, etc.
- You will continue working with them without taking any new actions regarding health & safety issues at their facilities.

following statements?							
	y Disagree	sagree	at Disagree	Agree nor	hat Agree	gree	ly Agree
	(1)	(2)	(3)	gree (4)	(5)	(6)	(7)

lgl

Dis Dis

her

Jew

O2.3 Given the information provided in the scenario, to what extent do you agree or disagree with the

	Stro		Som	Ne.	So		St
B.A.P.'s behavior will have negative impacts on Kojak's reputation.	О	О	О	О	О	О	О
The relationship with B.A.P. will be problematic for Kojak in the future.	0	О	0	О	0	О	о
The relationship with B.A.P. is risky for Kojak.	0	0	0	0	0	0	О
B.A.P. cannot afford to lose Kojak's business.	О	О	О	О	О	О	О
The relationship with Kojak is crucial to B.A.P.'s future performance.	О	О	О	О	О	О	о
B.A.P. is dependent on Kojak.	0	0	О	0	О	0	О
You have sufficient discretionary financial resources to implement your desired supply management strategy.	О	o	О	o	О	o	o

# Scenario 2

As before, rather than focusing on your current employer, please imagine that you are the Director of Procurement and Supply Chain Management at another firm, ChocoYum Inc., described below.

ChocoYum Inc., headquartered in Chicago, is a mid-sized confectionery producer with over 700 employees. Established in 1995, the company now manufactures chocolates, snacks, and refreshment products at five plants spread across United States. These products are distributed and sold in North America. Palm oil is one of the major ingredients of ChocoYum chocolate products. Oil palms grow in equatorial conditions in Asia, Latin America, and Africa. ChocoYum's oil suppliers are mainly based in Asia. In 2013, ChocoYum spent about \$200 million for the imported palm oil.

During the past few years, a number of companies operating in this industry have experienced negative publicity and reputational damage because one or more of their suppliers have sourced palm oil from regions of the world experiencing rain-forest deforestation. Such deforestation has been linked to climate change and destruction of rain-forest ecosystems. To avoid similar problems, ChocoYum's CEO has recently extended ChocoYum's environmental policy to include the suppliers' processes and activities.

Currently, ChocoYum has no formal processes to monitor, manage, or improve the environmental measures in place at its suppliers' facilities. The CEO has asked you to make the necessary changes to the supplier management activities within your department's current budget limits and stated that no budget adjustments will be approved.

To comply with ChocoYum's new policy, you plan to look into how suppliers source palm oil from an environmental sustainability perspective and decide what action, if any, to take with each of them. One supplier has been brought to your attention by a junior staff person.

P.O.P. Ltd., one of the palm oil suppliers, is an Indonesian firm. Last year, this company was found guilty and ordered to pay a fine by an Indonesian court for violating the environmental laws and clearing an area of protected peat forest. Because of their small size (120 employees), it is not likely that they will draw any attention from the activist groups, non-government organizations (NGOs), or media in the future. Approximately 10% of P.O.P. total sales are to ChocoYum, which accounts for nearly 5% of ChocoYum's palm oil supply.

Before answering the questions, please consider how you might react in your position of Director of Procurement and Supply Management at ChocoYum Inc.

Q3.1 Given the information provided in the scenario, to what extent are you likely to take the following actions with regard to P.O.P. Ltd.?

	Very Unlikely (1)	Unlikely (2)	Somewhat Unlikely (3)	50/50 Chance (4)	Somewhat Likely (5)	Likely (6)	Very Likely (7)
Take no new actions regarding environmental issues at their facilities.	о	0	0	0	0	0	0
Continue the business with them for a long time.	0	О	О	О	О	О	О
Look for another supplier to replace them.	o	0	0	0	0	0	О
Renew the relationship once the current contract expires.	o	0	О	0	О	О	О
Terminate the relationship.		О	О	О	О	О	О
Include environmental measures in evaluating their performance.		0	0	0	0	0	О
Send out a questionnaire asking them to report on the environmental aspects of their operations such as sources of their palm oil.		0	0	0	0	0	0
Regularly send your staff to perform environmental audits at their facilities.	о	О	О	О	О	О	О
Provide them with feedback about the results of audits and performance evaluations.	o	О	О	О	О	О	О
Require them an international environmental standard certification (e.g., ISO 14001).	•	О	О	О	О	О	О
Work closely with them to improve their environmental performance (e.g., joint investment).	o	О	О	О	О	О	О
Provide them with training / education to improve their environmental performance.	•	О	О	О	О	О	о
Put incentives in place to improve their environmental performance (e.g., financial rewards).	О	О	О	О	О	О	О
Invest resources in developing their capabilities and improving their environmental performance (e.g., financial aids)	о	О	0	О	0	0	0

Q3.2 Given the information provided in the scenario, which one of the following four strategies would you choose as your MAJOR and ULTIMATE approach in managing your supplier, P.O.P. Ltd.?

- **O** You will terminate the relationship with them and switch to another supplier.
- You will start collaborating with them to improve their environmental performance, e.g. through providing training and education, financial aids, etc.
- You will start monitoring their environmental performance, e.g. through self-evaluations, audits, third party certifications, etc.
- **O** You will continue working with them without taking any new actions regarding environmental issues at their facilities.

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat Disagree (3)	Neither Agree nor Disagree (4)	Somewhat Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
P.O.P.'s behavior will have negative impacts on ChocoYum's reputation.	0	0	0	О	О	0	o
The relationship with P.O.P. will be problematic for ChocoYum in the future.	О	О	О	О	о	О	о
The relationship with P.O.P. is risky for ChocoYum.	О	О	О	О	О	0	o
P.O.P. cannot afford to lose ChocoYum's business.	О	О	О	О	О	О	о
The relationship with ChocoYum is crucial to P.O.P.'s future performance.		О	О	О	О	О	О
P.O.P. is dependent on ChocoYum.	О	О	О	О	О	О	О
You have sufficient discretionary financial resources to implement your desired supply management strategy.	ο	ο	ο	о	о	О	ο

Q3.3 Given the information provided in the scenario, to what extent do you agree or disagree with the following statements?

# **Demographic Questions**

Please answer the following questions as they describe you:

Q4.1 Your gender:

- O Male
- **O** Female

Q4.2 Your age:

- **O** 21 30
- **O** 31 40
- **O** 41 50
- **O** 51 60
- $\mathbf{O}$  61 and over

Q4.3 Your highest level of education completed:

- **O** High School
- O College
- **O** Undergraduate Degree
- O Master Degree
- **O** Doctoral Degree

Q4.4 Your work experience (total years):

- **O** 0 5
- **O** 6 10
- **O** 11 15
- **O** 16 20
- **O** 21 25
- **O** 26 or more

Q4.5 Your current position (Job title):

- O Manager- Purchasing/Supply Chain/Procurement
- O Director- Purchasing/Supply Chain/Procurement
- **O** VP- Purchasing/Supply Chain/Procurement
- O Other \_

Q4.6 Your work experience in purchasing (years):

- **O** 0 5
- **O** 6 10
- **O** 11 15
- **O** 16 20
- **O** 21 25
- **O** 26 or more

Q4.7 Do you have any purchasing professional certification such as CPM, APP, or SCMP?

- O Yes
- O No

# APPENDICES

	Not Familiar At All (1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(9)	Well-Versed (7)
Environmental Management	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Safety Management	0	О	О	ο	o	0	o
Corporate Social Responsibility	o	0	0	o	o	o	o
Waste Management	o	0	0	o	o	o	o
Product Life Cycle Assessment	o	О	О	o	ο	o	ο

Q4.8 On a scale of 1 to 7, how do you evaluate your knowledge on the following issues?

Q4.9 Assume that in the context of your responsibilities within your current organization, you face a decision that may affect your organization's reputation. Given this circumstance, please rate your level of agreement with the following statements.

	Strongly Disagree (1)	Disagree (2)	Somewhat Disagree (3)	Neither Agree nor Disagree (4)	Somewhat Agree (5)	Agree (6)	Strongly Agree (7)
I choose more risky alternatives based on the assessment of others on whom I must rely.	О	О	О	О	О	О	О
I choose more risky alternatives which rely upon complex technical analyses.		О	О	О	0	О	О
I choose more risky alternatives which can have a major impact on the strategic direction of my organization.	о	О	О	О	0	О	О
I initiate a strategic action which has the potential to backfire.	о	О	О	О	О	о	О
I support a decision when I am aware that relevant analyses were done while missing several pieces of information.	o	0	О	0	о	о	0

# Appendix B. Ethics Approvals (Essay 3)



. /

**Research Ethics** 

Use of Human Participants - Initial Ethics Approval Notice

Principal Investigator: Dr. Stephan Vachon File Number:105176 Review Level: Delegated Protocol Title: Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk: Strategies and Predictors Department & Institution: Richard Ivey School of Business,Western University Sponsor: Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council

Ethics Approval Date: April 21, 2014 Expiry Date: December 31, 2014

#### Documents Reviewed & Approved & Documents Received for Information:

Document Name	Comments	Date
Instruments	Pre Test- Instrument	2014/03/24
Instruments	Phases 1 and 2- Instrument	2014/03/24
Revised Letter of Information & Consent	Revised Pretest LOI- Clean Copy- 09 04 2014	2014/04/09
Revised Letter of Information & Consent	Revised Phase 2 LOI- Clean Copy- 09 04 2014	2014/04/09
Revised Letter of Information & Consent	Revised Phase 1 LOI- Clean Copy- 09 04 2014	2014/04/09
Revised Western University Protocol	Revised Western Protocol- Clean Copy - 09 04 2014	2014/04/09
Response to Board Recommendations	Response Letter to NMREB Board Recommendations (#105176)- 09 04 2014	2014/04/09

This is to notify you that The University of Western Ontario Research Ethics Board for Non-Medical Research Involving Human Subjects (NMREB) which is organized and operates according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct of Research Involving Humans and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario has granted approval to the above named research study on the approval date noted above.

This approval shall remain valid until the expiry date noted above assuming timely and acceptable responses to the NMREB's periodic requests for surveillance and monitoring information.

Members of the NMREB who are named as investigators in research studies, or declare a conflict of interest, do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on, such studies when they are presented to the NMREB.

The Chair of the NMREB is Dr. Riley Hinson. The NMREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000941.

Ethics Officer to Contact for Further Information

Grace Kelly	Vikki Tran	Mina Mekhail	Erika Basile
	* • • •		

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.

Western University, Research, Support Services Bldg., Rm. 5150 London, ON, Canada N6A 3K7 t. 519.661.3036 f. 519.850.2466 www.uwo.ca/research/services/ethics



#### **Research Ethics**

#### Western University Health Science Research Ethics Board NMREB Delegated Initial Approval Notice

Principal Investigator: Dr. Stephan Vachon Department & Institution: Richard Ivey School of Business, Western University

# NMREB File Number: 105547

Study Title: Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk: Strategies and Predictors Sponsor:

#### NMREB Initial Approval Date: August 22, 2014 NMREB Expiry Date: March 31, 2015

#### Documents Approved and/or Received for Information:

Document Name	Comments	Date
Instruments	Instrument (Vignettes + Questionnaire)	2014/07/14
Revised Letter of Information & Consent	Letter of Information (PDF file)revised as per board recommendations	2014/08/08
Revised Western University Protocol	Application Form (PDF file) revised as per board recommendations	2014/08/08

The Western University Non-Medical Research Ethics Board (NMREB) has reviewed and approved the above named study, as of the HSREB Initial Approval Date noted above.

NMREB approval for this study remains valid until the NMREB Expiry Date noted above, conditional to timely submission and acceptance of HSREB Continuing Ethics Review.

The Western University NMREB operates in compliance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans (TCPS2), the Ontario Personal Health Information Protection Act (PHIPA, 2004), and the applicable laws and regulations of Ontario.

Members of the NMREB who are named as Investigators in research studies do not participate in discussions related to, nor vote on such studies when they are presented to the REB.

The NMREB is registered with the U.S. Department of Health & Human Services under the IRB registration number IRB 00000941.

Ethics Officer to Contact for Further Information

	/			
Erika Basile	Grace Kelly	Mina Mekhail	Vikki Tran	
•		• M		

This is an official document. Please retain the original in your files.

Western University, Research, Support Services Bldg., Rm. 5150 London, ON, Canada N6A 3K7 t. 519.661.3036 f. 519.850.2466 www.uwo.ca/research/services/ethics

# Appendix C. Copyright Releases (Essay 1)

**Rightslink Printable License** 

#### SPRINGER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 14, 2015

Page 1 of 4

This is a License Agreement between Sara Hajmohammad ("You") and Springer ("Springer") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Springer, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3607790883505
License date	Apr 14, 2015
Licensed content publisher	Springer
Licensed content publication	Journal of Business Ethics
Licensed content title	Safety Culture: A Catalyst for Sustainable Development
Licensed content author	Sara Hajmohammad
Licensed content date	Jan 1, 2013
Volume number	123
Issue number	2
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Portion	Full text
Number of copies	6
Author of this Springer article	Yes and you are the sole author of the new work
Order reference number	None
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Three Essays on Sustainable Operations Management
Expected completion date	Jul 2015
Estimated size(pages)	200
Total	0.00 CAD
Terms and Conditions	

## Introduction

The publisher for this copyrighted material is Springer Science + Business Media. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you

## APPENDICES

# Rightslink Printable License

# Page 2 of 4

opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

Limited License

With reference to your request to reprint in your thesis material on which Springer Science and Business Media control the copyright, permission is granted, free of charge, for the use indicated in your enquiry.

Licenses are for one-time use only with a maximum distribution equal to the number that you identified in the licensing process.

This License includes use in an electronic form, provided its password protected or on the university's intranet or repository, including UMI (according to the definition at the Sherpa website: http://www.sherpa.ac.uk/romeo/). For any other electronic use, please contact Springer at (permissions.dordrecht@springer.com or permissions.heidelberg@springer.com).

The material can only be used for the purpose of defending your thesis limited to university-use only. If the thesis is going to be published, permission needs to be re-obtained (selecting "book/textbook" as the type of use).

Although Springer holds copyright to the material and is entitled to negotiate on rights, this license is only valid, subject to a courtesy information to the author (address is given with the article/chapter) and provided it concerns original material which does not carry references to other sources (if material in question appears with credit to another source, authorization from that source is required as well).

Permission free of charge on this occasion does not prejudice any rights we might have to charge for reproduction of our copyrighted material in the future.

# Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted

You may not alter or modify the material in any manner. Abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of the author(s) and/or Springer Science + Business Media. (Please contact Springer at (permissions.dordrecht@springer.com or permissions.heidelberg@springer.com)

#### Reservation of Rights

Springer Science + Business Media reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the

# APPENDICES

Rightslink Printable License

# Page 3 of 4

course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

# Copyright Notice:Disclaimer

You must include the following copyright and permission notice in connection with any reproduction of the licensed material: "Springer and the original publisher /journal title, volume, year of publication, page, chapter/article title, name(s) of author(s), figure number(s), original copyright notice) is given to the publication in which the material was originally published, by adding; with kind permission from Springer Science and Business Media"

### Warranties: None

Example 1: Springer Science + Business Media makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

Example 2: Springer Science + Business Media makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material and adopts on its own behalf the limitations and disclaimers established by CCC on its behalf in its Billing and Payment terms and conditions for this licensing transaction.

## Indemnity

You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Springer Science + Business Media and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

# No Transfer of License

This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without Springer Science + Business Media's written permission.

## No Amendment Except in Writing

This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of Springer Science + Business Media, by CCC on Springer Science + Business Media's behalf).

#### Objection to Contrary Terms

Springer Science + Business Media hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions

Rightslink Printable License

Page 4 of 4

(which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and Springer Science + Business Media (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

Jurisdiction

All disputes that may arise in connection with this present License, or the breach thereof, shall be settled exclusively by arbitration, to be held in The Netherlands, in accordance with Dutch law, and to be conducted under the Rules of the 'Netherlands Arbitrage Instituut' (Netherlands Institute of Arbitration).*OR:* 

All disputes that may arise in connection with this present License, or the breach thereof, shall be settled exclusively by arbitration, to be held in the Federal Republic of Germany, in accordance with German law.

Other terms and conditions:

v1.3

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

Rightslink Printable License

# Page | 163

Page 1 of 4

#### SPRINGER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Apr 14, 2015

This is a License Agreement between Sara Hajmohammad ("You") and Springer ("Springer") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Springer, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3607800577019
License date	Apr 14, 2015
Licensed content publisher	Springer
Licensed content publication	Journal of Business Ethics
Licensed content title	Safety Culture: A Catalyst for Sustainable Development
Licensed content author	Sara Hajmohammad
Licensed content date	Jan 1, 2013
Volume number	123
Issue number	2
Type of Use	Book/Textbook
Requestor type	Publisher
Publisher	University of Western Ontario
Portion	Full text
Format	Electronic
Will you be translating?	No
Print run	1
Author of this Springer article	Yes and you are the sole author of the new work
Order reference number	None
Title of new book	Three Essays on Sustainable Operations Management
Author of new book	Sara Hajmohammad
Expected publication date of new book	Aug 2015
Estimated size of new book (pages)	200
Total	0.00 CAD
Terms and Conditions	

# Page 2 of 4

## Introduction

The publisher for this copyrighted material is Springer Science + Business Media. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

### Limited License

Springer Science + Business Media hereby grants to you a non-exclusive license to use this material, for the use as indicated in your inquiry. Licenses are for one-time use only with a maximum distribution equal to the number that you identified in the licensing process.

This License includes use in an electronic form, provided it's password protected, on intranet, or CD-Rom/E-book. For any other electronic use, please contact Springer at permissions.dordrecht@springer.com or permissions.heidelberg@springer.com

Although Springer holds copyright to the material and is entitled to negotiate on rights, this license is only valid, provided permission is also obtained from the author (address is given with the article/chapter) and provided it concerns original material which does not carry references to other sources (if material in question appears with credit to another source, authorization from that source is required as well).

Geographic Rights: Scope Licenses may be exercised anywhere in the world.

#### Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted

However figures and illustrations may be altered minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of the author(s) and/or Springer Science + Business Media. (Please contact Springer at permissions.dordrecht@springer.com or permissions.heidelberg@springer.com)

# Reservation of Rights

Springer Science + Business Media reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
### Rightslink Printable License

Page 3 of 4

License Contingent on Payment

While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by Springer Science + Business Media or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received by Due Date, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and Springer Science + Business Media reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

#### Copyright Notice:

Please include the following copyright citation referencing the publication in which the material was originally published. Where wording is within brackets, please include verbatim.

"With kind permission from Springer Science+Business Media: <br/><br/>book/journal title, chapter/article title, volume, year of publication, page, name(s) of author (s), figure number(s), and any original (first) copyright notice displayed with material>."

### Warranties

Springer Science + Business Media makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

#### Indemnity

You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Springer Science + Business Media and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

### No Transfer of License

This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without Springer Science + Business Media's written permission.

### No Amendment Except in Writing

This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or,

https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherID=6... 14/04/2015

### APPENDICES

Page 4 of 4

in the case of Springer Science + Business Media, by CCC on Springer Science + Business Media's behalf).

### Objection to Contrary Terms

Springer Science + Business Media hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and Springer Science + Business Media (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

### Jurisdiction

All disputes that may arise in connection with this present License, or the breach thereof, shall be settled exclusively by the country's law in which the work was originally published.

Other terms and conditions:

v1.3

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

Gratis licenses (referencing \$0 in the Total field) are free. Please retain this printable license for your reference. No payment is required.

https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherID=6... 14/04/2015

# Appendix D. Curriculum Vitae

# SARA HAJMOHAMMAD, PMP

# **EDUCATION**

Sep. 2011 – June 2015	Ph.D., Business Administration- Operations Management Ivey Business School, Western University, London, ON, Canada GPA: 87 over 100
Sep. 2009 - Aug. 2011	Ph.D., Business Administration- Operations Management HEC Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada ( <i>Transferred to Western University</i> ) GPA: 4.00 over 4.3
Sep. 2000 – Apr. 2003	M.A., Industrial Management Shahid Beheshti University, Tehran, Iran GPA: 17.87 over 20
Sep. 1995 – Feb. 2000	B.Sc., Chemical Engineering Sharif University of Technology, Tehran, Iran GPA: 15.16 over 20

# **PRIMARY RESEARCH INTERESTS**

- Sustainable Operations Management
- Supply Chain Management
- Risk Management
- Behavioral Operations
- Project Management

# **REFEREED PUBLICATIONS**

- [1] Hajmohammad, S. and Vachon, S. (2014). Safety culture: A catalyst for sustainable development. *Journal of Business Ethics*. 123 (2), 263-281.
- [2] Vachon, S., Hajmohammad, S., and Patry, K. (2013). Returns management in a business-tobusiness context: Its impact on customer satisfaction. *International Journal of Integrated Supply Management*. 8(4), 173-192.
- [3] Hajmohammad, S., Vachon, S., Klassen, R. D., and Gavronski, I. (2013). Lean management and supply management: Their role in green practices and performance. *Journal of Cleaner Production*. 39(1), 312-320.

# MANUSCRIPTS UNDER REVIEW/WORKING PAPERS

[1] Hajmohammad, S. and Vachon, S. Managing supplier sustainability risk: Strategies and

predictors.

[2] Hajmohammad, S. and Vachon, S. Managing Supplier Sustainability Risk: The Interacting Effect of Supplier Dependence, Perceived Risk, and Slack Resources.

# **CONFERENCE PRESENTATIONS AND PROCEEDINGS**

- [1] Hajmohammad, S. and Vachon, S. (November 2014). Managing supplier sustainability risk: The interacting effect of supplier dependence, perceived risk, and availability of slack resources. 2014 Decision Sciences Institute (DSI) Annual Meeting, Tampa, USA.
- [2] Hajmohammad, S. and Vachon S. (August 2014). Managing supplier sustainability risk: Strategies and predictors. 2014 Academy of Management (AOM) Annual Meeting, Philadelphia, USA.
- [3] Hajmohammad, S. (May 2014). Switching barriers in nonstrategic buyer-supplier relationships. 2014 Administrative Sciences Association of Canada (ASAC) Conference, Muskoka, Canada.
- [4] Hajmohammad, S. and Vachon S. (May 2014). Managing supplier sustainability risk. 2014 Administrative Sciences Association of Canada (ASAC) Conference, Muskoka, Canada.
- [5] Vachon, S. and Hajmohammad, S. (November 2013). Production stability and sustainable development. 2013 Decision Sciences Institute (DSI) Annual Meeting, Baltimore, USA.
- [6] Hajmohammad, S. and Vachon, S. (November 2012). Does it pay to care for safety? The impact of safety culture on organizational performance. 2012 Decision Sciences Institute (DSI) Annual Meeting, San Francisco, USA.
- [7] Hajmohammad, S., Vachon, S., Klassen, R. D., and Gavronski, I. (April 2011). Lean management and supply management: Their role in green practices and performance. 2011 Northeast Decision Sciences Institute (NEDSI) Annual Meeting, Montreal, Canada.

### HONORS/SCHOLARSHIPS/AWARDS

- [1] OM Division's PhD Student Travel Grant- AOM Conference Grant Competition, Academy of Management (2014).
- [2] Al Mikalachki PhD Research Fund- Conference Grant Competition, Ivey Business School, Western University (2014).
- [3] C.B. (Bud) Johnston Ontario Graduate Scholarship, Ivey Business School, Western University (2013-14 and 2014-15).
- [4] Ontario Graduate Scholarship, Province of Ontario, Canada (2013-14 and 2014-15).
- [5] PhD Research Stipend, Building Sustainable Value Research Centre (BSV), Western University (Sep. 2012).
- [6] Plan for Excellence Doctoral Fellowship, Ivey Business School, Western University (2011-14).
- [7] Phase II Completion Scholarship, HEC Montreal (Fall 2010).
- [8] "Bourse VIP" for Academic Excellence, HEC Montreal (Winter 2010).
- [9] Tuition Exemption Scholarship, HEC Montreal (2009–11).

- [10] Admission Scholarship, HEC Montreal (Fall 2009).
- [11] Graduate with honors (1st rank), Management and Accounting (Administrative Science) Department, Shahid Beheshti University.

# **TEACHING EXPERIENCE**

Winter 2014	Sessional Lecturer
	HEC Montreal
	MBA Elective Course: Project Management Principles and Tools

Winter 2013 **Teaching Assistant** Ivey Business School, Western University *HBA Elective Course: Operations (2 Sections)* 

# PRIMARY TEACHING INTERESTS

- Operations Management
- Sustainable Development
- Supply Chain Management
- Project Management
- Quality Management

# SCHOLARLY AND PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

# AD-HOC REVIEWS

- Administrative Sciences Association of Canada Conference (2014)
- Academy of Management Annual Meeting (2013; 2014)
- International Journal of Production Economics (2012; 2013)
- Journal of Cleaner Production (2012)
- Decision Sciences Institute Annual Meeting (2012)
- Journal of Operations and Supply Chain Management (2011)

# GRADUATE RESEARCH ASSISTANT

- Ivey Business School (Stephan Vachon; Robert Mitchell; Robert Klassen)
- HEC Montreal (Stephan Vachon)

# GRADUATE TEACHING ASSISTANT

- Ivey Business School (Robert D. Klassen; David Sparling; Stephan Vachon)
- HEC Montreal (Rajesh Kumar Tyagi)

# ASSOCIATION MEMBERSHIP

- Project Management Institute (2008-Present)
- Production and Operations Management Society (2010-Present)
- Academy of Management (2010-Present)
- Decision Sciences Institute (2012-Present)
- Administrative Sciences Association of Canada (2014-Present)

# CERTIFICATIONS

- Certified Project Management Professional (PMP) by PMI (May 2009)
- Certified European Excellence Assessor by EFQM (May 2006)
- Certified Lead Auditor of ISO 9001, OHSAS 18001, ISO 14001 by DNV
- Certified Auditor of ISO/TS 29001 by DNV

### **Relevant Employment**

Nov. 2002 – Dec. 2008	Quality Manager / Specialist
	Sazeh Consultants, Tehran, Iran

The company was a leading Iranian EPC (Engineering, Procurement and Construction) Contractor in Oil, Gas and Petrochemical Industries (<u>www.sazeh.com</u>).

Reporting to the Managing Director and Management Representative, I directed a team of 10 qualified quality management specialists.

### Main achievements / responsibilities:

- Establishment, documentation, implementation, maintaining, updating and auditing Company Quality and HSE Management System, based on ISO 9001, ISO/TS 29001, ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001
- Managing quality issues within company projects and proposals/tenders
- Preparation of Company Project Management Manual based on PMBOK (Project Management Body of Knowledge)
- Conducting Self-Assessment (1- Questionnaire Method 2- Workshop Method 3-Award Simulation Method) based on EFQM (European Foundation for Quality Management) Excellence Model: 2003
- Participation in Value Management activities and establishing Human Resource Management Systems, such as Employee Recognition, Training Management, Suggestion System, Employee Satisfaction Evaluation, etc.

Aug. 2000 – Oct. 2002

**Process Engineer** Sazeh Consultants, Tehran, Iran